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AGENDA 
 

FLORIDA GULF COAST UNIVERSITY BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 

Audit and Compliance Committee 
(Date TBD) 

 
Executive Session – (Time TBD) 

Edwards Hall, Room #319G 
Florida Gulf Coast University 

 
Committee Meeting – (Time TBD) 

Edwards Hall, Room #309 
Florida Gulf Coast University 

 
 

 
Indicated times within the agenda are approximate and are subject to change.  
Agenda items may be taken out of order at the call of the Chair and with the 
concurrence of the Committee. 
 
Committee Members: 
Trustee Joseph Fogg III – Chair 
Trustee Darleen Cors 
Trustee Leo Montgomery 
Trustee Stephen Smith 

 
  

EXECUTIVE SESSION: 
 

(Time TBD)    Executive Session pursuant to 1004.055, Florida Statutes  
(30 minutes) 

 

 
COMMITTEE MEETING: 

 
(Time TBD)    Call to Order, Roll Call, and Opening Remarks – Chair Joseph  

Fogg III 
 
   Information (Includes Public Comment): 

• Internal Management and Accounting Control and 
Business Process Assessment for Florida Gulf Coast 
University – Director of Internal Audit William Foster (TAB 
#1) 
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Action (Includes Public Comment): 

• Compliance and Ethics Program Plan – Director of Equity, 
Ethics and Compliance, and Title IX Coordinator Precious 
Gunter (TAB #2) 

• 2019 Annual Compliance Report – Director of Equity, 
Ethics and Compliance, and Title IX Coordinator Precious 
Gunter (TAB #3) 

• Florida Gulf Coast University Operational Audit Report 
for January 2018 through December 2018 – Director of 
Internal Audit William Foster (TAB #4) 

• Florida Gulf Coast University Student Loan Information 
Audit Report – Director of Internal Audit William Foster 
(TAB #5) 

• Florida Gulf Coast University Athletics National 
Collegiate Athletics Association (NCAA) Report for Year 
ended June 30, 2019 – Director of Internal Audit William 
Foster (TAB #6) 

• WGCU Public Media Audit Report for Years ended June 
30, 2019 and June 30, 2018 – Director of Internal Audit 
William Foster (TAB #7) 

• Florida Gulf Coast University Information Technology 
Security Audit Report – Director of Internal Audit William 
Foster (NOTE: This document is exempt from disclosure 
pursuant to 1004.055, Florida Statutes.) (TAB #8) 

 
 
(Time TBD)    Old Business – Chair Joseph Fogg III 
 
 
(Time TBD)    New Business – Chair Joseph Fogg III 
 
 
(Time TBD)    Closing Remarks, and Adjournment – Chair Joseph Fogg  

III 
 
   
 
(END) 
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AGENDA INDEX

FGCU Board of Trustees

Audit and Compliance Committee 

TBA

Tab # Item Action/Information

1
Internal Management and Accounting Control and Business Process 

Assessment for Florida Gulf Coast University 
Information Only

2 Compliance and Ethics Program Plan Committee Action

3 2019 Annual Compliance Report Committee Action

4
Florida Gulf Coast University Operational Audit Report for January 2018 through 

December 2018 
Committee Action

5 Florida Gulf Coast University Student Loan Information Audit Report Committee Action

6
Florida Gulf Coast University Athletics National Collegiate Athletics Association 

(NCAA) Report for Year ended June 30, 2019 
Committee Action

7
WGCU Public Media Audit Report for Years ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 

2018 
Committee Action

8 Florida Gulf Coast University Information Technology Security Audit Report  Committee Action
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      ITEM: __1__  

 
 

Florida Gulf Coast University Board of Trustees                        
Audit and Compliance Committee 

TBA 
 
 
 
SUBJECT:   Internal Management and Accounting Control and Business 

Process Assessment for Florida Gulf Coast University   
 

 
PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
Information only 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
The Board of Governors (BOG) engaged Crowe, LLP to perform a System-wide  
assessment of accounting controls and business processes at the 12 institutions 
of the State University System of Florida to identify any areas of risk. 
 
Director of Internal Audit William Foster will present the University's actions in 
response to the Assessment's recommendations. 
 
 
 

 
Supporting Documentation Included: Internal Management and Accounting 
Control and Business Process Assessment Report for Florida Gulf Coast 
University dated November 2019 
 
Prepared by: Crowe, LLP    
 
Legal Review:  N/A   
 
Submitted by: Director of Internal Audit William Foster 
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Florida Gulf Coast University 
Internal Management and Accounting Control and Business 
Process Assessment  
 
November 2019 
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Florida Board of Governors State University System 
Florida Gulf Coast University (FGCU) Internal Management and Accounting Control and Business Process Assessment                             
November 2019 
 
 

 

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ...................................................................................................................................................................................................1 
FGCU Observations Summary ....................................................................................................................................................................................2 

II. ASSESSMENT OVERVIEW ...............................................................................................................................................................................................3 
Inherent Risk Assessment ...........................................................................................................................................................................................3 
Conclusion .................................................................................................................................................................................................................7 

III. OBJECTIVES AND SCOPE................................................................................................................................................................................................8 
IV. PROCEDURES PERFORMED ............................................................................................................................................................................................9 
V. OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS ....................................................................................................................................................................... 10 
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VI. APPENDIX - LIST OF INTERVIEWEES AT FGCU ................................................................................................................................................................. 13 
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© 2020 Crowe LLP 
 

www.crowe.com 
 
This report is furnished solely for the information and use of Florida Gulf Coast University and the Florida Board of Governors. The report is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties or 
entities. 

I. Executive Summary 
The Board of Governors (the “Board” or “BOG”) of the Florida State University System (SUS) engaged Crowe LLP to perform a system-wide “Internal Management 
and Accounting Control and Business Process Assessment”. The purpose of this assessment was to evaluate the existing internal controls and review business 
processes to identify any areas of risk for the SUS.  
The scope of our assessment was focused on financial and operational risks, and regulatory compliance risks among the twelve universities within the SUS. 
We have presented the results of our assessment of Florida Gulf Coast (FGCU) in this report. We used our risk rating methodology to evaluate and score sixty-two 
(62) risks statements grouped into twelve categories. Our conclusions were based on the level of residual risk and any control gaps or weaknesses noted during 
our assessment. Residual risk refers to the level of risk after considering the internal controls in place and other activities implemented to mitigate that risk. An in-
depth discussion of our approach and rating methodology can be found in the Assessment Overview section of this report.  
Conclusion 
While the scope of our procedures precludes us from issuing an opinion on FGCU’s system of internal controls, based on our procedures we noted no risk 
categories with a high level of residual risk, or significant control gaps or weaknesses in FGCU’s control structure.  

We concluded that six of the twelve risk categories we evaluated had a minor residual risk rating, and six categories had a low residual risk rating.  We also found 
opportunities for FGCU to strengthen internal controls, identified as “observations” in the table below. We have highlighted these observations as specific 
opportunities to improve controls or risk mitigation activities. The risk rating for each observation is indicative of the risk to university objectives posed by this gap in 
internal controls and is separate and distinct from the residual risk ratings in each category.  Additional information on these observations, our recommendations to 
address them, and FGCU management’s responses can be found in the Observations and Recommendations section of this report. 
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© 2020 Crowe LLP 
 

www.crowe.com 
 
This report is furnished solely for the information and use of Florida Gulf Coast University and the Florida Board of Governors. The report is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties or 
entities. 

FGCU Observations Summary 

Risk Category Description Risk Rating 

Grant Management 

1.  Segregation of Duties - Grant Drawdown Process. When reviewing FGCU's grant drawdown process, 
Crowe identified a segregation of duties issue. The office of RSP has sole custody of the grant drawdown 
process, including drawing down the funds from the funding entities into the general account, transferring the 
funds from the general account to the grant specific account, and performing the reconciliation.   

Moderate 

Information Technology 
2.  Employee Management – Employee Security Awareness Training. Although FGCU provides annual 
security awareness training, the training is not conducted for newly hired employees prior to accessing FGCU 
information systems. 

Low 
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© 2020 Crowe LLP 
 

www.crowe.com 
 
This report is furnished solely for the information and use of Florida Gulf Coast University and the Florida Board of Governors. The report is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties or 
entities. 

II. Assessment Overview 
The Board of Governors (the “Board” or “BOG”) of the Florida State University System (SUS) engaged Crowe LLP to perform a system-wide “Internal Management 
and Accounting Control and Business Process Assessment”. The purpose of this assessment was to evaluate the existing internal controls and review business 
processes to identify any areas of risk for the SUS. We performed these consulting services in accordance with the Standards for Consulting Services established 
by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. These services do not constitute an audit, review, or examination in accordance with standards 
established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and therefore, Crowe did not express an opinion on the accuracy or efficacy of the material 
reviewed during the performance of these services.  
The scope of our assessment was focused primarily on financial and operational risks, and secondarily on regulatory compliance risks. It included the twelve 
universities within the SUS as follows:  

• Florida Agricultural and Mechanical University (FAMU) 
• Florida Atlantic University (FAU) 
• Florida Gulf Coast University (FGCU) 
• Florida International University (FIU) 
• Florida Polytechnic University (FPU) 
• Florida State University (FSU) 
• New College of Florida (NCF) 
• University of Central Florida (UCF) 
• University of Florida (UF) 
• University of North Florida (UNF) 
• University of South Florida (USF) 
• University of West Florida (UWF) 

This report represents the results of our assessment of FGCU. As part of our assessment, we obtained an understanding of BOG regulations, university policies, 
procedures, processes and business requirements. In addition, we sent surveys and conducted interviews with various members of FGCU management. Based on 
this information, we developed a risk and control assessment, summarized below.   
Inherent Risk Assessment  
We developed an inherent risk assessment for each university in the SUS. The inherent risk assessments consisted of a list of risk factors which, based on our 
research and experience, are relevant, impactful, and likely to occur in a university environment. We rated some inherent risks differently across universities due to 
environmental or organizational variables (e.g. research-based universities, student enrollment, campus location(s), age of infrastructure, student housing, etc.). At 
this point in the assessment we did not yet consider the specific risk management and controls that each university had in place to mitigate these risks. It was 
designed to provide a baseline upon which to measure control effectiveness at the university level.  

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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Risk Rating Scale  

Impact Score  Likelihood Score  Risk Rating  Score 

Low 1  Remote 1  Low 1 

Minor 2  Improbable 2  Minor 2 

Moderate 3  Possible 3  Moderate 3 

High 4  Probable 4  High 4 

Severe 5  Almost Certain 5  Severe 5 

 
We established a risk rating methodology to assign a score to each risk factor in the assessment as illustrated above. Our risk rating methodology considered two 
criteria, “Impact” and “Likelihood”. The “Risk Rating” represents the average of those two scores. The impact criterion addressed the effect on financial, 
operational, or compliance objectives if the risk factor were to occur. The likelihood criterion addressed the probability that the risk would occur in the current 
environment. Our scores were based on a five-point rating scale with one (1) representing the lowest, and five (5) representing the highest risk score. We labeled 
the risk rating in the same manner as the impact criterion for the purpose of simplicity and consistency. 
Control Ratings 
We also rated the internal controls in place according to the three criteria below. The percentage assigned to each rating represents the reduction in perceived 
levels of risk and was used to calculate the residual risk score.  

• No Observations Noted (30% reduction to the inherent risk rating), 
• Needs Improvement (15% reduction to the inherent risk rating), or 
• Inadequate (0%, no reduction to the inherent risk rating) 

We based the control ratings on the results of our research, discussions with management, and the supporting documentation they provided to help us analyze 
FGCU’s control structure.  

Residual Risk Assessment 
We assigned a control effectiveness rating to each control to arrive at a residual risk rating in a consistent manner. The residual risk assessment was intended to 
provide an overview of the university’s risk management and system of internal control. We recognized that each control and its related risk had unique 
components that would not be fully represented by the control or residual risk rating. Therefore, we developed an observation and recommendation for controls 
rated as “Needs Improvement” or “Inadequate” in order to provide additional insight into that specific matter.  

We established the threshold for 
reportable risk levels at a residual 

risk score of 4 or higher. 
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We used the risk category ratings, as illustrated in Exhibit 1 below, to summarize the sixty-two (62) risk statements which we evaluated and scored during this 
assessment. We assessed the risk factors from the perspective of “inherent risk” (i.e. prior to considering implementation of controls) and “residual risk” (i.e. after 
consideration of controls in place to mitigate the risk). In total we grouped risks into twelve categories and deemed six categories to have a minor level of residual 
risk and six categories to have a low level of residual risk. FGCU’s three highest categories of residual risk were Procurement, Cash Management, and Grant 
Management. However, based on our methodology, all risk categories were below our threshold for a reportable observation.  
The bar graph illustrates the difference between the average inherent and residual risk scores for each risk category. Please note that if an individual risk factor 
exceeded the threshold, we would have reported an observation and recommendation for those factors. However, we did not note any individual risk factors that 
exceeded the threshold, and these key functions/risk categories also have average residual risk scores below our threshold. This is an indicator that our 
observations identified were not systemic to the functional area.  
Exhibit 1: FGCU Inherent vs. Residual Risk by Category 
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Exhibit 2 highlights similar information but uses different visualizations to illustrate how the control rating reduced the level of inherent risk (i.e. resulting in the 
residual risk score).  The inherent risk represents the baseline score in each category prior to considering the internal controls. The control mitigation score 
represents our assessment of the controls in each category. The residual risk score is the net result of the two scores and is used to indicate whether the control 
structure was adequately designed to mitigate the associated risks to a reasonable level. Again, this exhibit indicates that all risk categories had average residual 
risks below our threshold for reportable observations. 

Exhibit 2: FGCU Inherent vs. Residual Risk with Control Rating 
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Conclusion 
Based on our procedures, we noted no individual risk factors which arose to the level of a reportable observation (i.e. a residual risk score of 4 or greater). 
However, our risk and control assessment enabled us to identify areas to improve risk management and control practices. Additional detail on these observations, 
our recommendations on how FGCU can address these observations, and FGCU management’s responses to our recommendations have been provided in the 
Observations and Recommendations section of this report.   
We believe that FGCU would benefit from improved segregation of duties within the grant drawdown process, as errors in this process could damage FGCU 
financially, reputationally, and also result in non-compliance with grant agreements. In addition, with new cyber-security and technology threats emerging every 
day, it is critical that FGCU require information security training upon hire, so new users of the FGCU systems are aware of all potential risks. We believe that 
making these changes will provide an added level of assurance to its Board of Trustees and to the Board of Governors that the university has taken reasonable 
measures to manage the risks it faces in the course of pursuing its mission.   
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III. Objectives and Scope 
The purpose of this assessment was to evaluate the existing internal controls and review business processes to identify any areas of risk for the SUS. We 
accomplished this by completing a risk and control assessment for each university within the SUS, which enabled us to identify gaps or weaknesses in internal 
controls and make recommendations to the university and the BOG for improvement. In summary, our objectives were to evaluate the risks, controls, and business 
processes related to financial accounting and operations at FGCU, and to provide observations and recommendations to the FGCU Board of Trustees, FGCU 
leadership, and the BOG on improving the risk management, controls, and business processes within the university.  

The scope of our assessment included the following activities and processes at FGCU: 
1. Internal Management and Accounting Controls over:  

a. Accounting Operations (e.g. Accounts Payable, Accounts Receivable, Payroll) 
b. Financial Statement Preparation and Issuance  
c. Grant Management  

2. Business Processes and Operations, including: 

a. Procurement 
b. Budget Management and Oversight (Capital and Operating) 
c. Capital Program and Asset Management 
d. Information Systems Management  
e. Cyber Security  
f. Contract Management 

3. Compliance matters, including:  
a. Data Privacy rules and regulations 
b. Federal and State Grant reporting requirements 
c. Financial Aid regulations 
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IV. Procedures Performed 
It should be recognized that internal controls are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that errors and irregularities will not occur, and that 
procedures are performed in accordance with management’s intentions.  There are inherent limitations that should be recognized in considering the potential 
effectiveness of any system of internal controls.  In the performance of most control procedures, errors can result from misunderstanding of instructions, mistakes 
in judgment, carelessness, or other factors.  Internal control procedures can be circumvented intentionally by management with respect to the execution and 
recording of transactions, or with respect to the estimates and judgments required in the processing of data.  Controls may become ineffective due to newly 
identified business or technology exposures.  Further, the projection of any evaluation of internal control to future periods is subject to the risk that the procedures 
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, and that the degree of compliance with procedures may deteriorate A summary of the procedures we 
completed during our assessment of FGCU have been summarized in the table below. 

Summary of Procedures 

1. We reviewed BOG regulations, university policies, procedures, processes and business requirements. 

2. We prepared an inherent risk assessment, which includes risks arising from our assessment of the above, as well as our experience in common risks within 
higher education, specific to financial and operational issues. 

3. We analyzed risk/control questionnaires completed by university management and identified key controls in place to manage the risks identified above. 

4. We conducted interviews onsite with university management for insight into risk management and control perspectives and activities. 

5. We evaluated FGCU’s risk management and control structure based on the information gathered above. 

6. We have identified gaps in controls and process improvement opportunities. These have been documented in this report as observations and 
recommendations. 

7. We have confirmed with FGCU management the factual basis for our observations and recommendations. Management’s written responses are included 
for each recommendation in this report. 

 
  

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA

15



Florida Board of Governors State University System 
Florida Gulf Coast University (FGCU) Internal Management and Accounting Control and Business Process Assessment                             
November 2019 

 10 
 
 

 

© 2020 Crowe LLP 
 

www.crowe.com 
 
This report is furnished solely for the information and use of Florida Gulf Coast University and the Florida Board of Governors. The report is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties or 
entities. 

V. Observations and Recommendations 
Our procedures yielded two (2) observations which are summarized in the table below. These observations represent areas where we determined that controls 
were absent or were not adequate to mitigate the associated risk to an acceptable level. In the following section we have provided details and recommendations to 
address each of these observations. Management’s responses to each of our recommendations are also included in this section.  
 

Risk Category Description Risk Rating 

Grant Management 1.  Segregation of Duties - Grant Drawdown Process   Moderate 

Information Technology 2.  Employee Management - Employee Security Awareness Training Low 
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Observations and Recommendations 

Observation 1 Process Area Priority Rating 

Segregation of Duties - Grant Drawdown Process   Grant Management Moderate 

Condition: When reviewing FGCU's grant drawdown process, Crowe identified a segregation of duties issue. The Office of Research and Sponsored Programs 
(ORSP) has sole custody of the grant drawdown process, including drawing down the funds from the funding entities into the general account, transferring the 
funds from the general account to the grant specific account, and performing the grant fund reconciliation. 
Criteria: It is best practice to have more than one person complete a key process as an internal control to prevent fraud and error. 
Root Cause: The condition was due to a relatively limited number of personnel in the ORSP among which to delegate tasks. 
Implication:  By segregating the steps of the grant drawdown process and having the Controller’s office execute the drawdown, this will help mitigate fraud and 
ensure there is oversight and review to catch errors. 
Recommendation: Crowe recommends that the drawing down of funds be performed by the Controller’s office, while the transferring of the funds and the 
reconciliation of the grant drawdowns remains in the custody of the ORSP. 
 
Management Response: 
We concur with the observation and beginning November 1, 2019, the Bursar’s Office, which is part of the Controller’s Office, will draw down the funds from the 
funding entities and record the funds in the grant specific account. 
Planned for Implementation by November 2019. 
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Observation 2 Process Area Priority Rating 

Employee Management - Employee Security Awareness Training Information Technology Low 

Condition: Although FGCU provides annual security awareness training, the training is not conducted for newly hired employees prior to granting them access to 
FGCU information systems. 

Criteria: We relied on the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) SP 800-53 r5 AT-3 as the criteria upon which to evaluate these controls. 
Root Cause: FGCU has not prioritized resources to provide security training to new employees as part of the on-boarding process. 
Implication: If users are not trained prior to working within FGCU systems, they may not be prepared to identify emerging threats and tactics. This may expose 
the university to an increased risk of a breach. 
Recommendation: FGCU should require all newly hired employees complete a security training, prior to accessing any FGCU system. This training should be 
updated at least annually to cover current cybersecurity risks and threats. Users should be required to sign an acknowledgement of this training and these 
acknowledgements should be tracked. 
Management Response:  
We concur with the observation and beginning January 1, 2020, new employees will receive employee security awareness training as part of their orientation. We 
will continue to provide our annual security awareness training as well. 
Planned for implementation by January 2020. 
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VI. Appendix - List of Interviewees at FGCU  
The following individuals were interviewed during our onsite visit to FGCU the week of September 8, 2019. The name, title, and interview subject are included 
below. 
1. Accounts Payable & Procurement: 

a. June Gutknecht – Controller 
b. Maryan Egan – Director of Procurement 

c. Renee Garcia – Senior Associate Controller 
d. Amanda Jobes – Assistant Controller 

2.  Cash and Investment Management:  
a. June Gutknecht – Controller 
b. Renee Garcia – Senior Associate Controller 
c. Amanda Jobes – Assistant Controller 

3. Budget:  
a. David Vazquez – AVP of Budget 
b. Megan Clipse, Assistant Director of Budget 

4. Financial Operations and Reporting  
a. June Gutknecht – Controller 
b. Dee Waigand - Associate Controller 

c. Amanda Jobes – Assistant Controller 
5. Capital Asset Management:  

a. June Gutknecht – Controller 
b. Jina Hernandez – Assistant Controller 

6. Grants Management 
a. June Gutknecht – Controller 

b. Donna Gilmore - Director of Research and Sponsored Programs 
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7. Internal Audit and Compliance 
a. June Gutknecht – Controller 
b. Bill Foster – Director of Internal Audit 

8. Information Technology 

a. Mary Banks – AVP, Business Technology Services and CIO 
b. Sven Hahues – Senior Director of Infrastructure and Operations 

9. Revenue: 
a. June Gutknecht – Controller 
b. David Vazquez – AVP of Budget 
c. Mark Rusnak - University Bursar 

10. Payroll 
a. June Gutknecht – Controller 
b. Jina Hernandez – Assistant Controller 
c. Sara Wood – Payroll Manager 

11. Board of Trustees 
a. Dr. Ken Smith – Board of Trustees Member 
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      ITEM: __2__  

 
 

Florida Gulf Coast University Board of Trustees                        
Audit and Compliance Committee 

TBA 
 
 
 
SUBJECT:  Compliance and Ethics Program Plan    
 

 
PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
Review the Compliance and Ethics Program Plan, and approve a recommended 
version for approval by the FGCU Board of Trustees 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
Board of Governors Regulation 4.003 (State University System Compliance and 
Ethics Programs) requires the FGCU Board of Trustees to implement and 
approve a comprehensive Compliance and Ethics Program Plan.  On February 
20, 2018, the FGCU Board of Trustees approved the University's first Program 
Plan. The applicable Regulation also requires the Chief Compliance Officer to 
review and monitor the Program Plan and make recommendations for changes 
when necessary to the Audit and Compliance Committee and the Board for 
approval.   
 
The Program Plan has been amended to align with recent Audit and Compliance 
Committee and Board approved revisions to the Compliance Office Charter.  
 
Upon approval of this Plan by the FGCU Audit and Compliance Committee, it will 
be recommended for approval to the FGCU Board of Trustees. 
 

 
Supporting Documentation Included: (1) Redlined Updated Compliance and 
Ethics Program Plan, (2) Clean Updated Compliance and Ethics Program Plan 
and (3) FGCU Code of Conduct  
 
Prepared by: Director of Equity, Ethics and Compliance, and Title IX Coordinator 
Precious Gunter    
 
Legal Review:  Vice President and General Counsel Vee Leonard  (March 12, 
2020) 
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A. INTRODUCTION 
This document serves as a blueprint of an effective compliance and ethics program plan as 

contained in the Federal Sentencing Guidelines Manual (Chapter 8 §B2.1) and the Board of 

Governors (BOG) Regulation 4.003, State University System Compliance and Ethics Programs. 

In accordance with the Manual and the BOG Regulation, FGCU’s Compliance and Ethics 
Program Plan (hereinafter referred to as Compliance Plan) outlines the seven elements of an 
effective compliance and ethics program.  The Compliance Plan demonstrates due diligence in 
preventing and detecting criminal conduct, unethical behavior, and noncompliance with rules; 
and promoting an organizational culture that encourages ethical conduct and a commitment to 
compliance.  Specifically, the Compliance Plan: 

▪ Implements written standards in the form of a Code of Conduct to promote 
responsibility and accountability for ethical conduct, as well as the University’s 
commitment to compliance with applicable laws, regulations, rules, policies, and 
procedures. 

▪ Establishes an administrative governance framework, including the designation of a 
Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer, for conducting an effective and diligent 
compliance program. 

▪ Outlines a commitment to educate University personnel regarding compliance 
requirements and ethics initiatives. 

▪ Develops effective lines of communication to encourage reporting allegations of 
wrongdoing without fear of retaliation and to receive and respond to deficiencies 
and breaches in an efficient and timely manner. 

▪ Implements monitoring and auditing functions to measure the effectiveness of the 
University’s compliance initiatives. 

▪ Outlines performance incentives and disciplinary measures to promote and enforce 
the compliance and ethics program. 

▪ Outlines a process to timely review credible allegations of wrongdoing, take 
corrective actions, and implement appropriate and effective internal controls to 
prevent further similar misconduct from occurring.  
 

B. THE SEVEN ELEMENTS 
1. CODE OF CONDUCT  

The University’s Code of Conduct promotes ethical principles derived from federal 
and state laws and regulations, University regulations and policies, contract and 
grant requirements, and generally accepted principles of ethical conduct.  The Code 
applies to the FGCU Board of Trustees; President, Cabinet, and University faculty and 
staff; and volunteers, contractors, vendors and other representatives providing 
services to or acting on behalf of the University, including the University’s direct 
support organizations. Deans are responsible for assuring that faculty under their 
supervision abide by the Code; managers of University administrative functions are 
responsible for assuring that staff and other representatives under their supervision 
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abide by the Code.  The Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer is responsible for 
promoting, monitoring, and enforcing the Code. 
 
The Code of Conduct supplements the University’s regulations and policies, and in 
particular, complements the University’s Regulation on Ethics as well as the FGCU 
Board of Trustees Ethics Policy, both of which reaffirm the University’s commitment 
to comply with the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees codified at Title 
X, Chapter 112, Part III of the Florida Statutes. 
 
A copy of the Code of Conduct is provided as an attachment to the Compliance Plan.   

 
2. COMPLIANCE PROGRAM GOVERNANCE    

FGCU displays an appropriate governance structure by ensuring that the FGCU Board 
of Trustees, through its Audit and Compliance Committee, is knowledgeable about 
the content and operation of the compliance and ethics program and exercises 
reasonable oversight over its implementation and effectiveness.  A Chief Compliance 
and Ethics Officer is assigned responsibility for the day-to-day operations of the 
program and is afforded direct access to the Chair of the Audit and Compliance 
Committee of the FGCU Board of Trustees, as well as to the President and Cabinet, 
University employees with compliance responsibilities, and University employees 
responsible for investigations as follows: 

 

a. Audit and Compliance Committee of the FGCU Board of Trustees   
The Audit and Compliance Committee of the FGCU Board of Trustees is 
responsible for overseeing the compliance and ethics program and approving of 
the roles and responsibilities of the Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer.  As 
required by BOG Regulation 4.002(2), the Charter for the Audit and Compliance 
Committee of the FGCU Board of Trustees describes the Committee’s 
governance oversight for FGCU’s compliance and ethics program.  

 
b. President of FGCU 

In collaboration with the Chair of the Audit and Compliance Committee of the 
FGCU Board of Trustees, the President designates a senior-level administrator as 
the Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer and ensures that the individual selected 
for the position maintains his/her independence and has adequate resources 
and authority to perform the responsibilities of the position.  
 

c. Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer   
The Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer is responsible for the day-to-day 
operations of the compliance and ethics program.  To ensure the impartial and 
unbiased judgment essential to the proper conduct of the compliance and ethics 
function, the Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer is organizationally independent 
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of the employees and managers who seek the advice and assistance of the 
Office.  The Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer reports functionally to the Chair 
of the Audit and Compliance Committee of the FGCU Board of Trustees and 
administratively to the President; and is afforded unrestricted access to 
University information, documents, records, and personnel necessary to carry 
out the duties and responsibilities of the Office.  The Charter for the Office of the 
Compliance Office and Ethics outlines the purpose, authority, mission, scope of 
work, and responsibilities of the Office.   

 
d. Vice Presidents (Cabinet)  

The President’s Cabinet, comprised of the University’s Vice Presidents, is 
responsible for advising and supporting the Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer 
in the implementation and oversight of the compliance and ethics program.  The 
Vice Presidents set an “appropriate tone at the top” by fostering a culture of 
ethical conduct and performing their duties in compliance with all applicable 
laws, regulations, rules, policies, and procedures.  In addition, the Vice 
Presidents ensure that compliance programs under their responsibility have 
adequate resources to effectively conduct operations.  

 
e. Compliance Liaisons   

The Compliance Liaisons are University employees designated with carrying out 
compliance-related responsibilities for a specific program or function within the 
University, including, but not limited to the following: 
 

Topic University Unit 
Academic Integrity Dean of Students 

ADA Adaptive Services 

Athletics and NCAA Rules Assistant Athletic Director for Compliance 

Biohazardous Waste, Biosafety, and 
Bloodborne Pathogens 

Environmental Health and Safety 

Clery Act University Police Department 

Compliance with Regulations and Policies General Counsel or Compliance and Ethics  

Conflicts of Interest Compliance and Ethics Institutional Equity and 
Compliance/Title IX 

Contracts General Counsel 

Controlled Substances Environmental Health and Safety 

Counseling and Wellness Counseling and Wellness Services 

Donations/Endowment University Advancement 

Export Controls Research and Graduate Studies 

Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act 
(FERPA) 

Registrar 

Financial Aid Financial Aid and Scholarships 

Financial Disclosure Compliance and Ethics Institutional Equity and 
Compliance/Title IX 

Fraud, Waste, and Abuse Internal Audit 
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Harassment, Intimidation, Retaliation, 
Discrimination 

Institutional Equity and Compliance/Title IX 

Information Security Business and Technology Services 

Institutional Review Board Research and Graduate Studies 

Insurance (Risk Management) Environmental Health and Safety 

Intellectual Property Research and Graduate Studies 

Misconduct in Research Research and Graduate Studies 

Outside Activities Compliance and Ethics Institutional Equity and 
Compliance/Title IX 

Procurement Procurement 

Records Management Records Management 

Sponsored Programs Research and Graduate Studies 

Taxation Controller 

Whistleblower Protection Internal Audit 

 
The Compliance Liaisons provide the Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer with 
immediate notification of suspected or detected non-compliant behavior, 
unethical behavior, or criminal conduct; and on an annual basis, a summary of 
compliance initiatives. In addition, University personnel with compliance 
responsibilities meet on a quarterly basis to discuss program activities and new 
and supplemental changes to laws, regulations, rules, policies and procedures in 
order to stay abreast of best practices in the compliance sector.  The Chief 
Compliance and Ethics Officer chairs these meetings. 
 

f. Investigations Working Group 
The Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer, Director of Institutional Equity and 
Compliance, and University Ombuds/Assistant to the President, or their 
designees, meet on a monthly basis.  The Group triages employee concerns in 
order to refer concerns to an appropriate University entity for review, ensures 
timely review of concerns, and provides a consistent, institutional response to 
concerns.  The Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer chairs these meetings.   

 

3. EDUCATION/TRAINING 
The Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer provides ethics training on a biennial basis 
to members of the FGCU Board of Trustees. Ethics training is provided annually to , 
Presidentthe President, Cabinet, faculty, and staff regarding the responsibility and 
accountability for ethical conduct and compliance with applicable federal and state 
laws and regulations as well as University policies and regulations.  The Chief 
Compliance and Ethics OfficerNew employees also provides receive an initial ethics 
training overview to new hire employees within the first 90 days of employment at 
New Employee Orientation to introduce FGCU’s compliance and ethics program, 
including the Hotline, Code of Ethics contained in Florida Statutes, the University’s 
Code of Conduct, and other relevant regulations and policies. They are also required 
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to review and acknowledge receipt of the University’s Code of Conduct within the 
first 90 days of employment.  
 

 
 
 

 
 

4. COMMUNICATION 
FGCU displays a proactive commitment to compliance by encouraging open 
communication of compliance and ethics issues, and the reporting of good-faith 
concerns of alleged wrongdoing, without fear of retaliation. 
 
a. Communication to Employees 

The Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer disseminates information about FGCU’s 
compliance and ethics program and FGCU’s Hotline.  Compliance Liaisons 
disseminate information about new legislation and updates to current legislation 
affecting the programs for which they are responsible.  Communication takes the 
following forms: 
(i) “Ask the Ethics Officer” columns highlighting questions brought forward by 

University employees and responded to by the Chief Compliance and Ethics 
Officer that may be of interest or have institutional impact to the University. 

(ii)(i) Correspondence from Compliance Liaisons concerning new or amended 
legislation regarding NCAA compliance, Clery Act, Title IX, compensation and 
benefits, sponsored programs, financial aid, whistleblowing, or 
environmental health and safety, for example. 

(iii)(ii) Posters and emails promoting the FGCU Hotline. 
(iv)(iii) Training initiatives sponsored by the the Chief Compliance and Ethics 

Office; Office of Institutional Equity and Compliance; or Office of 
Environmental, Health and Safety, for example. 
 

b. Communication from Employees 
FGCU promotes collaboration by encouraging faculty and staff to bring forward 
questions or seek clarification on any federal or state law or regulation or FGCU 
policy or regulation before taking action on a University matter.  Employees can 
ask their supervisor or manager, Vice President and General Counsel, or the 
Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer for advice and assistance. 

 
c. Communication to President and FGCU Board of Trustees 

The Chief Compliance Officer shall meet regularly and in no event less than four 
times a year either in person or telephonically with the Chair of the Audit and 
Compliance Committee to review all compliance and ethics-related matters of 
import and all credible evidence of alleged misconduct, including criminal 
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misconduct. Other senior members of the administration including the President 
are welcome to attend any such session. The Chief Compliance Officer shall also 
promptly inform the Chair of the Audit and Compliance Committee of any 
serious matters under the purview of the Compliance Office arising between 
meetings. 
The Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer reports at least quarterly to the Chair of 
the Audit and Compliance Committee of the FGCU Board of Trustees on reports 
of allegations, results of investigations, and any subsequent discipline or 
remedial actions taken, training efforts undertaken, compliance monitoring 
efforts undertaken, and statistical and trending information.   
 
The Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer provides the FGCU Board of Trustees 
with an annual report on the effectiveness of the compliance and ethics 
program.  Upon approval, a copy of the annual report is provided to the Board of 
Governors.   
 
The Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer meets with the President on a biweekly 
basis and Cabinet on an as-needed basis, but no less than once each semester.  

 
d. How to Report Concerns 

FGCU’s Hotline is an anonymous reporting system that facilitates reporting of 
alleged illegal, unethical, or improper conduct when the normal channels of 
communication have proven ineffective, or are impractical under the 
circumstances.  The Hotline is available to employees and students, as well as 
contractors, vendors, and members of the southwest Florida community.  If an 
individual is unsure of how to bring forward a concern, he/she they can always 
contact FGCU’s Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer for assistance, but if an 
individual is uncomfortable reporting through normal channels of 
communication, or wishes to raise an issue anonymously, they he/she should 
access the Hotline.  

 
The Hotline is available 24 hours a day, 365 days a year, and is run by an 
independent, third-party provider.  The Hotline provides a toll-free telephone 
number as well as web-based reporting.   

 
An individual can contact the Hotline by: 

 
▪ Calling the Hotline at (844) 300-1073; or 
▪ Completing an on-line form at the following link:  www.fgcu.ethicspoint.com.   

 
Hotline concerns remain confidential to the extent permitted by law and are only 
shared with certain University stakeholders and external entities on a need to 
know basis.  The Hotline has no caller identification and does not track IP 
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addresses.  FGCU prohibits retaliation, and will take no adverse action, against 
an individual who uses the Hotline in good faith to report allegations of 
wrongdoing.  

 
In addition to the Hotline, employees can bring good-faith concerns to: 
▪ Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer for violations of University policiesy or 

regulations. 
 

▪ The Office of Institutional Equity and Compliance, for harassment, 
discrimination, retaliation, and sexual misconduct allegations  

▪ University Ombuds for informal, impartial and non-adversarial alternatives 
concerning conflict management; 

▪ Director of Institutional Equity and Compliance, for harassment, 
discrimination, retaliation, and sexual misconduct allegations; 

▪ Their supervisor or manager; 
▪ Assistant Athletic Director for Compliance for NCAA compliance concerns; 
▪ Associate Vice President of Research and Dean of Graduate Studies for 

research misconduct concerns; 
▪ Dean of Students for student Code of Conduct and academic integrity 

concerns; 
▪ Director of Internal Audit for fraud, waste, and financial mismanagement 

allegations; or 
▪ Director of Environmental Health and Safety for environmental health and 

safety concerns.; or 
 

5. MONITORING/AUDITING 
FGCU implements a self-assessment program to monitor and evaluate compliance 
functions throughout the University.  Through its Compliance Liaisons and Director 
of Internal Audit, FGCU conducts ongoing efforts to assess, evaluate, monitor, and 
audit compliance with regulatory requirements and University regulations and 
policies.   
 

a. Compliance Liaisons 
Compliance Liaisons conduct periodic risk assessments to evaluate and prioritize 
compliance related risks.  This assessment entails evaluating factors such as 
audit results, recent litigation and settlements, compliance concerns, University 
best business practices, and the existence and sufficiency of regulations and 
policies covering an area.  Based on the risk assessments, Compliance Liaisons 
monitor high-risk areas under their responsibility.  The Chief Compliance and 
Ethics Officer assists Compliance Liaisons with the implementation of proper and 
effective internal controls to reduce the risk of noncompliance, and refers high 
risk areas to Internal Audit for consideration of inclusion in the Annual Audit 
Plan. 
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b. Director of Internal Audit 

The Director of Internal Audit oversees the performance of value-added, risk-
based audits, designed to independently review, test, and evaluate financial, 
electronic, and operational controls throughout the University in order to 
examine and assess: 

▪ Business risks facing University leadership; 
▪ Safeguarding and use of University assets; 
▪ Accuracy, reliability, and integrity of University records and reports; 
▪ Suspected fraud, waste, and financial mismanagement; and 
▪ Adequacy of internal controls. 

 
c. Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer 

The Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer assesses whether the compliance and 
ethics program maintains organizational independence, has appropriate access 
to University records and personnel, disseminates standards and other 
communication, conducts training, responds appropriately to detected offenses, 
and  implements effective corrective action plans to preclude future similar 
offenses from occurring.   
 
 
 

d. Background Checks 
FGCU uses reasonable efforts not to include within the University and its 
affiliated organizations individuals who have engaged in unethical conduct or 
inappropriate behavior.  FGCU’s procurement function reviews state and federal 
lists of debarred contractors and vendors to prevent them from conducting work 
or providing services to the University.  FGCU’s police department conducts 
background checks on prospective employees. 
 

6. INCENTIVES AND DISCIPLINE 
FGCU demonstrates a commitment to compliance by including in job descriptions a 
requirement to conform to all University policies and regulations as well as the 
University’s Code of Conduct.  In addition, the University incentivizes supervisors 
who encourage employees to take ethics training and speak openly about concerns 
in the workplace; and supports employees who act with integrity and make sound 
decisions in the best interest of the University. 
 
FGCU promotes a speak-up culture by encouraging its employees to use the 
University’s reporting systems to bring forward good-faith concerns of wrongdoing. 
 
FGCU takes appropriate disciplinary action based on progressive and cumulative 
discipline as outlined in the University Regulation on Disciplinary Actions, against 
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members of its workforce who violate the University’s Code of Conduct or 
Regulation on Ethics and who fail to correct their behavior.   
 
In addition, managers and supervisors can be disciplined for failing to adequately 
instruct subordinate employees or failing to detect non-compliance with applicable 
policies and legal requirements, where reasonable diligence on the part of the 
manager or supervisor would have led to the discovery of problems or violations and 
given the University the opportunity to timely correct the issue(s).   
 
Disciplinary action may include oral or written reprimand, suspension, or separation 
from employment.  Violations may also result in notification to law enforcement 
officials, BOG Inspector General, regulatory bodies, and accrediting and licensing 
organizations, as appropriate.   

 

7. RESPONDING TO DETECTED OFFENSES 
The Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer serves as the administrator for all 
allegations of potential wrongdoing reported through the University’s Hotline.  In 
collaboration with Compliance Liaisons, members of the Investigations Working 
Group, the Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer determines the appropriate 
resources required to conduct an investigation commensurate with the gravity of 
the allegation and refers certain matters to an appropriate investigatory body for 
review and disposition. The Director of Internal Audit is responsible for conducting 
reviews pertaining to credible allegations of fraud, waste, and financial 
mismanagement; and the Director Office of Institutional Equity and Compliance is 
responsible for conducting reviews pertaining to harassment, retaliation, and 
discrimination concerns.    
 
Investigation records will contain: 

▪ Documentation of the alleged violation, 
▪ Documentation of referral to an internal or external investigatory body, 
▪ Description of the investigative process, 
▪ Interview notes and copies of key documents, 
▪ A log of witnesses interviewed and documents reviewed, and 
▪ Results of the investigation. 

 
If the investigation indicates that a violation has occurred, FGCU will take 
appropriate corrective action, as necessary, including: 

▪ Prompt restitution of any overpayments, 
▪ Notification to a grantor agency, 
▪ Review of FGCU regulations and policies to determine if clarification is 

needed, 
▪ System modifications, 
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▪ Staff training, 
▪ Notification to BOG Inspector General, and 
▪ Disciplinary action of involved employees.  

 
BOG Regulation 4.001(5), University System Processes for Complaints of Waste, 
Fraud, or Financial Mismanagement, requires timely notification to the BOG 
Inspector General of any significant and credible allegations of fraud, waste, 
mismanagement, misconduct and other abuses made against the President or a 
member of the FGCU Board of Trustees.  
 
BOG Regulation 4.001(6) requires that FGCU develop a Regulation that articulates 
how the University will address any significant and credible allegations of fraud, 
waste, mismanagement, misconduct, and other abuses made against the Director of 
Internal Audit and the Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer. 

 

Board of Governors (BOG) Regulation 4.001, University System Processes for Complaints of 

Waste, Fraud, or Financial Mismanagement, requires the Florida Gulf Coast University (FGCU) 

Board of Trustees (BOT) to adopt a regulation to address complaints of waste, fraud, or financial 

mismanagement, which requires timely notification to the BOG, through the Inspector General 

and Director of Compliance (OIGC), of any significant and Credible Allegations of Waste, Fraud, 

Mismanagement, Misconduct, or other Abuses made against the President, a member of the 

FGCU BOT, the Chief Audit Executive, and the Chief Compliance Officer.  

 

On January 14, 2020, the FGCU BOT adopted Regulation 1.008 – Complaints of Waste, Fraud, or 

Financial Mismanagement to address and investigate credible allegations of the aforementioned 

behavior by the President, a member of the FGCU BOT, the Chief Audit Executive, and the Chief 

Compliance Officer.  
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A. INTRODUCTION 
This document serves as a blueprint of an effective compliance and ethics program plan as 

contained in the Federal Sentencing Guidelines Manual (Chapter 8 §B2.1) and the Board of 

Governors (BOG) Regulation 4.003, State University System Compliance and Ethics Programs. 

In accordance with the Manual and the BOG Regulation, FGCU’s Compliance and Ethics Program 
Plan (hereinafter referred to as Compliance Plan) outlines the seven elements of an effective 
compliance and ethics program.  The Compliance Plan demonstrates due diligence in preventing 
and detecting criminal conduct, unethical behavior, and noncompliance with rules; and 
promoting an organizational culture that encourages ethical conduct and a commitment to 
compliance.  Specifically, the Compliance Plan: 

▪ Implements written standards in the form of a Code of Conduct to promote 
responsibility and accountability for ethical conduct, as well as the University’s 
commitment to compliance with applicable laws, regulations, rules, policies, and 
procedures. 

▪ Establishes an administrative governance framework, including the designation of a 
Chief Compliance Officer, for conducting an effective and diligent compliance 
program. 

▪ Outlines a commitment to educate University personnel regarding compliance 
requirements and ethics initiatives. 

▪ Develops effective lines of communication to encourage reporting allegations of 
wrongdoing without fear of retaliation and to receive and respond to deficiencies 
and breaches in an efficient and timely manner. 

▪ Implements monitoring and auditing functions to measure the effectiveness of the 
University’s compliance initiatives. 

▪ Outlines performance incentives and disciplinary measures to promote and enforce 
the compliance and ethics program. 

▪ Outlines a process to timely review credible allegations of wrongdoing, take 
corrective actions, and implement appropriate and effective internal controls to 
prevent further similar misconduct from occurring.  
 

B. THE SEVEN ELEMENTS 
1. CODE OF CONDUCT  

The University’s Code of Conduct promotes ethical principles derived from federal and 
state laws and regulations, University regulations and policies, contract and grant 
requirements, and generally accepted principles of ethical conduct.  The Code applies 
to the FGCU Board of Trustees; President, Cabinet, and University faculty and staff; 
and volunteers, contractors, vendors and other representatives providing services to 
or acting on behalf of the University, including the University’s direct support 
organizations. Deans are responsible for assuring that faculty under their supervision 
abide by the Code; managers of University administrative functions are responsible 
for assuring that staff and other representatives under their supervision  
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abide by the Code.  The Chief Compliance Officer is responsible for promoting, 
monitoring, and enforcing the Code. 
 
The Code of Conduct supplements the University’s regulations and policies, and in 
particular, complements the University’s Regulation on Ethics as well as the FGCU 
Board of Trustees Ethics Policy, both of which reaffirm the University’s commitment 
to comply with the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees codified at Title 
X, Chapter 112, Part III of the Florida Statutes. 
 
A copy of the Code of Conduct is provided as an attachment to the Compliance Plan.   

 
2. COMPLIANCE PROGRAM GOVERNANCE    

FGCU displays an appropriate governance structure by ensuring that the FGCU Board 
of Trustees, through its Audit and Compliance Committee, is knowledgeable about 
the content and operation of the compliance and ethics program and exercises 
reasonable oversight over its implementation and effectiveness.  A Chief Compliance 
Officer is assigned responsibility for the day-to-day operations of the program and is 
afforded direct access to the Chair of the Audit and Compliance Committee of the 
FGCU Board of Trustees, as well as to the President and Cabinet, University employees 
with compliance responsibilities, and University employees responsible for 
investigations as follows: 

 

a. Audit and Compliance Committee of the FGCU Board of Trustees   
The Audit and Compliance Committee of the FGCU Board of Trustees is 
responsible for overseeing the compliance and ethics program and approving of 
the roles and responsibilities of the Chief Compliance Officer.  As required by BOG 
Regulation 4.002(2), the Charter for the Audit and Compliance Committee of the 
FGCU Board of Trustees describes the Committee’s governance oversight for 
FGCU’s compliance and ethics program.  

 
b. President of FGCU 

In collaboration with the Chair of the Audit and Compliance Committee of the 
FGCU Board of Trustees, the President designates a senior-level administrator as 
the Chief Compliance Officer and ensures that the individual selected for the 
position maintains his/her independence and has adequate resources and 
authority to perform the responsibilities of the position.  
 

c. Chief Compliance Officer   
The Chief Compliance Officer is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the 
compliance and ethics program.  To ensure the impartial and unbiased judgment 
essential to the proper conduct of the compliance and ethics function, the Chief 
Compliance Officer is organizationally independent of the employees and  
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managers who seek the advice and assistance of the Office.  The Chief Compliance 
Officer reports functionally to the Chair of the Audit and Compliance Committee 
of the FGCU Board of Trustees and administratively to the President; and is 
afforded unrestricted access to University information, documents, records, and 
personnel necessary to carry out the duties and responsibilities of the Office. The 
Charter for the Compliance Office outlines the purpose, authority, mission, scope 
of work, and responsibilities of the Office.   

 
d. Vice Presidents (Cabinet)  

The President’s Cabinet, comprised of the University’s Vice Presidents, is 
responsible for advising and supporting the Chief Compliance Officer in the 
implementation and oversight of the compliance and ethics program.  The Vice 
Presidents set an “appropriate tone at the top” by fostering a culture of ethical 
conduct and performing their duties in compliance with all applicable laws, 
regulations, rules, policies, and procedures.  In addition, the Vice Presidents 
ensure that compliance programs under their responsibility have adequate 
resources to effectively conduct operations.  

 
e. Compliance Liaisons   

The Compliance Liaisons are University employees designated with carrying out 
compliance-related responsibilities for a specific program or function within the 
University, including, but not limited to the following: 
 

Topic University Unit 
Academic Integrity Dean of Students 

ADA Adaptive Services 

Athletics and NCAA Rules Assistant Athletic Director for Compliance 

Biohazardous Waste, Biosafety, and 
Bloodborne Pathogens 

Environmental Health and Safety 

Clery Act University Police Department 

Compliance with Regulations and Policies General Counsel or Compliance and Ethics  

Conflicts of Interest Institutional Equity and Compliance/Title IX 

Contracts General Counsel 

Controlled Substances Environmental Health and Safety 

Counseling and Wellness Counseling and Wellness Services 

Donations/Endowment University Advancement 

Export Controls Research and Graduate Studies 

Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act 
(FERPA) 

Registrar 

Financial Aid Financial Aid and Scholarships 

Financial Disclosure  Institutional Equity and Compliance/Title IX 

Fraud, Waste, and Abuse Internal Audit 

Harassment, Intimidation, Retaliation, 
Discrimination 

Institutional Equity and Compliance/Title IX 

Information Security Business and Technology Services 

Institutional Review Board Research and Graduate Studies 
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Insurance (Risk Management) Environmental Health and Safety 

Intellectual Property Research and Graduate Studies 

Misconduct in Research Research and Graduate Studies 

Outside Activities  Institutional Equity and Compliance/Title IX 

Procurement Procurement 

Records Management Records Management 

Sponsored Programs Research and Graduate Studies 

Taxation Controller 

Whistleblower Protection Internal Audit 

 
The Compliance Liaisons provide the Chief Compliance Officer with immediate 
notification of suspected or detected non-compliant behavior, unethical behavior, 
or criminal conduct; and on an annual basis, a summary of compliance initiatives. 
In addition, University personnel with compliance responsibilities meet on a 
quarterly basis to discuss program activities and new and supplemental changes 
to laws, regulations, rules, policies and procedures in order to stay abreast of best 
practices in the compliance sector. The Chief Compliance Officer chairs these 
meetings. 

 
3. EDUCATION/TRAINING 

The Chief Compliance Officer provides ethics training on a biennial basis to members 
of the FGCU Board of Trustees. Ethics training is provided annually to the President, 
Cabinet, faculty, and staff regarding the responsibility and accountability for ethical 
conduct and compliance with applicable federal and state laws and regulations as well 
as University policies and regulations. New employees also receive an initial ethics 
overview at New Employee Orientation to introduce FGCU’s compliance and ethics 
program, including the Hotline, Code of Ethics contained in Florida Statutes, the 
University’s Code of Conduct, and other relevant regulations and policies. They are 
also required to review and acknowledge receipt of the University’s Code of Conduct 
within the first 90 days of employment.  

 
4. COMMUNICATION 

FGCU displays a proactive commitment to compliance by encouraging open 
communication of compliance and ethics issues, and the reporting of good-faith 
concerns of alleged wrongdoing, without fear of retaliation. 
 
a. Communication to Employees 

The Chief Compliance Officer disseminates information about FGCU’s compliance 
and ethics program and FGCU’s Hotline.  Compliance Liaisons disseminate 
information about new legislation and updates to current legislation  
 
 
 
 

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA

37



Florida Gulf Coast University 
Compliance and Ethics Program Plan 

Page 5 of 10 
 

affecting the programs for which they are responsible.  Communication takes the 
following forms: 

 
(i) Correspondence from Compliance Liaisons concerning new or amended 

legislation regarding NCAA compliance, Clery Act, Title IX, compensation and 
benefits, sponsored programs, financial aid, whistleblowing, or 
environmental health and safety, for example. 

(ii) Posters and emails promoting the FGCU Hotline. 
(iii) Training initiatives sponsored by the Office of Institutional Equity and 

Compliance; or Office of Environmental, Health and Safety, for example. 
 

b. Communication from Employees 
FGCU promotes collaboration by encouraging faculty and staff to bring forward 
questions or seek clarification on any federal or state law or regulation or FGCU 
policy or regulation before taking action on a University matter.  Employees can 
ask their supervisor or manager, Vice President and General Counsel, or the Chief 
Compliance Officer for advice and assistance. 

 
c. Communication to President and FGCU Board of Trustees 

The Chief Compliance Officer meets regularly and in no event less than four times 
a year either in person or telephonically with the Chair of the Audit and 
Compliance Committee to review all compliance and ethics-related matters of 
importance and all credible evidence of alleged misconduct, including criminal 
misconduct.  Other senior members of the administration including the President 
are welcome to attend any such session.  The Chief Compliance Officer shall also 
promptly inform the Chair of the Audit and Compliance Committee of any serious 
matters under the purview of the Compliance Office arising between meetings.  
 
The Chief Compliance Officer provides the FGCU Board of Trustees with an annual 
report on the effectiveness of the compliance and ethics program.  Upon approval, 
a copy of the annual report is provided to the Board of Governors.   
 
The Chief Compliance Officer meets with the President on a biweekly basis and 
Cabinet on an as-needed basis.  

 
d. How to Report Concerns 

FGCU’s Hotline is an anonymous reporting system that facilitates reporting of 
alleged illegal, unethical, or improper conduct when the normal channels of 
communication have proven ineffective, or are impractical under the 
circumstances.  The Hotline is available to employees and students, as well as 
contractors, vendors, and members of the southwest Florida community.  If an  
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individual is unsure of how to bring forward a concern, they can always contact 
FGCU’s Chief Compliance Officer for assistance, but if an individual is 
uncomfortable reporting through normal channels of communication, or wishes 
to raise an issue anonymously, they should access the Hotline.  
 
The Hotline is available 24 hours a day, 365 days a year, and is run by an 
independent, third-party provider.  The Hotline provides a toll-free telephone 
number as well as web-based reporting.   

 
An individual can contact the Hotline by: 

 
▪ Calling the Hotline at (844) 300-1073; or 
▪ Completing an on-line form at the following link:  www.fgcu.ethicspoint.com.   

 
Hotline concerns remain confidential to the extent permitted by law and are only 
shared with certain University stakeholders and external entities on a need to 
know basis.  The Hotline has no caller identification and does not track IP 
addresses.  FGCU prohibits retaliation, and will take no adverse action, against an 
individual who uses the Hotline in good faith to report allegations of wrongdoing.  

 
In addition to the Hotline, employees can bring good-faith concerns to: 
Chief Compliance Officer for violations of University policy or regulation. 
 
▪ The Chief Compliance Officer for violations of University policies or 

regulations; 
▪ The Office of Institutional Equity and Compliance, for harassment, 

discrimination, retaliation, and sexual misconduct allegations;  
▪ University Ombuds for informal, impartial and non-adversarial alternatives 

concerning conflict management; 
▪ Their supervisor or manager; 
▪ Assistant Athletic Director for Compliance for NCAA compliance concerns; 
▪ Associate Vice President of Research and Dean of Graduate Studies for 

research misconduct concerns; 
▪ Dean of Students for student Code of Conduct and academic integrity 

concerns; 
▪ Director of Internal Audit for fraud, waste, and financial mismanagement 

allegations; or 
▪ Director of Environmental Health and Safety for environmental health and 

safety concerns. 
 

5. MONITORING/AUDITING 
FGCU implements a self-assessment program to monitor and evaluate compliance 
functions throughout the University.  Through its Compliance Liaisons and Director of 
Internal Audit, FGCU conducts ongoing efforts to assess, evaluate, monitor, and  
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audit compliance with regulatory requirements and University regulations and 
policies.   
 

a. Compliance Liaisons 
Compliance Liaisons conduct periodic risk assessments to evaluate and prioritize 
compliance related risks.  This assessment entails evaluating factors such as  
audit results, recent litigation and settlements, compliance concerns, University 
best business practices, and the existence and sufficiency of regulations and 
policies covering an area.  Based on the risk assessments, Compliance Liaisons 
monitor high-risk areas under their responsibility.  The Chief Compliance Officer 
assists Compliance Liaisons with the implementation of proper and effective 
internal controls to reduce the risk of noncompliance, and refers high risk areas to 
Internal Audit for consideration of inclusion in the Annual Audit Plan. 
 

b. Director of Internal Audit 
The Director of Internal Audit oversees the performance of value-added, risk-
based audits, designed to independently review, test, and evaluate financial, 
electronic, and operational controls throughout the University in order to examine 
and assess: 

▪ Business risks facing University leadership; 
▪ Safeguarding and use of University assets; 
▪ Accuracy, reliability, and integrity of University records and reports; 
▪ Suspected fraud, waste, and financial mismanagement; and 
▪ Adequacy of internal controls. 

 
c. Chief Compliance Officer 

The Chief Compliance Officer assesses whether the compliance and ethics 
program maintains organizational independence, has appropriate access to 
University records and personnel, disseminates standards and other 
communication, conducts training, responds appropriately to detected offenses, 
and  implements effective corrective action plans to preclude future similar 
offenses from occurring.   
 

d. Background Checks 
FGCU uses reasonable efforts not to include within the University and its affiliated 
organizations individuals who have engaged in unethical conduct or inappropriate 
behavior. FGCU’s procurement function reviews state and federal lists of debarred 
contractors and vendors to prevent them from conducting work or providing 
services to the University.  FGCU’s police department conducts background checks 
on prospective employees. 
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6. INCENTIVES AND DISCIPLINE 
FGCU demonstrates a commitment to compliance by including in job descriptions a 
requirement to conform to all University policies and regulations as well as the 
University’s Code of Conduct.  In addition, the University incentivizes supervisors who 
encourage employees to take ethics training and speak openly about concerns in the 
workplace; and supports employees who act with integrity and make sound decisions 
in the best interest of the University. 
 
FGCU promotes a speak-up culture by encouraging its employees to use the 
University’s reporting systems to bring forward good-faith concerns of wrongdoing. 
 
FGCU takes appropriate disciplinary action based on progressive and cumulative 
discipline as outlined in the University Regulation on Disciplinary Actions, against 
members of its workforce who violate the University’s Code of Conduct or Regulation 
on Ethics and who fail to correct their behavior.   
 
In addition, managers and supervisors can be disciplined for failing to adequately 
instruct subordinate employees or failing to detect non-compliance with applicable 
policies and legal requirements, where reasonable diligence on the part of the 
manager or supervisor would have led to the discovery of problems or violations and 
given the University the opportunity to timely correct the issue(s).   
 
Disciplinary action may include oral or written reprimand, suspension, or separation 
from employment.  Violations may also result in notification to law enforcement 
officials, BOG Inspector General, regulatory bodies, and accrediting and licensing 
organizations, as appropriate.   
 

7. RESPONDING TO DETECTED OFFENSES 
The Chief Compliance Officer serves as the administrator for all allegations of 
potential wrongdoing reported through the University’s Hotline.  In collaboration with 
Compliance Liaisons, the Chief Compliance Officer determines the appropriate 
resources required to conduct an investigation commensurate with the gravity of the 
allegation and refers certain matters to an appropriate investigatory body for review 
and disposition. The Director of Internal Audit is responsible for conducting reviews 
pertaining to credible allegations of fraud, waste, and financial mismanagement; and 
the Office of Institutional Equity and Compliance is responsible for conducting reviews 
pertaining to harassment, retaliation, and discrimination concerns.    
 
Investigation records will contain: 

▪ Documentation of the alleged violation, 
▪ Documentation of referral to an internal or external investigatory body, 
▪ Description of the investigative process, 
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▪ Interview notes and copies of key documents, 
▪ A log of witnesses interviewed and documents reviewed, and 
▪ Results of the investigation. 

 
If the investigation indicates that a violation has occurred, FGCU will take 
appropriate corrective action, as necessary, including: 

▪ Prompt restitution of any overpayments, 
▪ Notification to a grantor agency, 
▪ Review of FGCU regulations and policies to determine if clarification is 

needed, 
▪ System modifications, 
▪ Staff training, 
▪ Notification to BOG Inspector General, and 
▪ Disciplinary action of involved employees.  

 

Board of Governors (BOG) Regulation 4.001, University System Processes for Complaints 

of Waste, Fraud, or Financial Mismanagement, requires the Florida Gulf Coast University 

(FGCU) Board of Trustees (BOT) to adopt a regulation to address complaints of waste, 

fraud, or financial mismanagement, which requires timely notification to the BOG, 

through the Inspector General and Director of Compliance (OIGC), of any significant and 

Credible Allegations of Waste, Fraud, Mismanagement, Misconduct, or other Abuses 

made against the President, a member of the FGCU BOT, the Chief Audit Executive, and 

the Chief Compliance Officer.  

 

On January 14, 2020, the FGCU BOT adopted Regulation 1.008 – Complaints of Waste, 

Fraud, or Financial Mismanagement to address and investigate credible allegations of the 

aforementioned behavior by the President, a member of the FGCU BOT, the Chief Audit 

Executive, and the Chief Compliance Officer.  
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A MESSAGE FROM THE PRESIDENT 

W e take seriously our responsibility to prepare our students 
for gainful employment and successful lives as responsible, 
civically engaged, and environmentally conscious citizens. 
We uphold our fiduciary responsibility to be good stewards of 

the public funds we receive to conduct our operations. We pride ourselves 
on a diverse and inclusive culture that embraces learning and fosters trust, 
while concurrently remaining inquisitive. We successfully forge partnerships 
with the southwest Florida business community. We practice and promote 
environmental sustainability. We possess the capabilities, skills, passion, 
and expertise to help our students achieve better lives. 

However, none of this matters unless we do it in the right way. The manner 
in which we conduct our operations, meet our obligations, and show respect 
for one another matters.  How we behave and treat one another and make 
decisions matters. That is where this Code of Conduct comes into play. This 
Code of Conduct serves as the foundation for our unwavering commitment 
to acting with integrity, displaying ethical conduct, and complying with laws, 
regulations, rules, policies, and procedures. The Code holds you to the 
highest ethical standards, assists you with recognizing and resolving ethical 
issues that arise in the workplace, and encourages you to ask questions and 
raise concerns without fear of retaliation. The Code assists you with making 
decisions that are in the best interest of our University and align with our 
Vision, Mission, and Guiding Principles. 

Please join me in sustaining a University environment where we are proud to 
work, where we know we have done the right thing by acting honestly and 
treating each other and our students fairly and with dignity and respect. 

Together, we can soar with integrity. 

Sincerely, 

Michael V. Martin, Ph.D. 
President, Florida Gulf Coast University 
#GoEagles 
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FGCU CODE OF CONDUCT 

VISION 
Florida Gulf Coast University will achieve national prominence in 
offering exceptional value in high-quality educational programs 
that address regional and statewide needs. Our programs, firmly 
grounded in the liberal arts and sciences, will employ emerging 
instructional technologies. Possessing an entrepreneurial spirit, 
graduates will be well prepared for productive lives as civically 
engaged and environmentally conscious citizens with successful 
careers, ready to pursue further education. 

MISSION 
Florida Gulf Coast University, a comprehensive institution of higher 
education, offers undergraduate and graduate degree programs of 
strategic importance to Southwest Florida and beyond. 

FGCU seeks academic excellence in the development of selected 
programs and centers of distinction in science, technology, 
engineering and mathematics (STEM) disciplines, health professions, 
business, and marine and environmental sciences. 

Outstanding faculty and staff supported by a strong community of 
advisors prepare students for gainful employment and successful 
lives as responsible, productive and engaged citizens. 

FGCU emphasizes innovative, student-centered teaching and 
learning, promotes and practices environmental sustainability, 
embraces diversity, nurtures community partnerships, values public 
service, encourages civic responsibility, and cultivates habits of 
lifelong learning and the discovery of new knowledge. 

4  
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 GUIDING PRINCIPLES 

STUDENT SUCCESS 
is at the center of all University endeavors. 

ACADEMIC FREEDOM 
is the foundation for the transmission and advancement of knowledge. 

DIVERSITY 
is a source of renewal and vitality. 

INFORMED AND ENGAGED CITIZENS 
are essential to the creation of a civil and sustainable society. 

SERVICE TO SOUTHWEST FLORIDA, 
including access to the University, is a public trust. 

TECHNOLOGY IS A FUNDAMENTAL TOOL 
in achieving educational quality, efficiency, and distribution. 

CONNECTED KNOWING AND COLLABORATIVE LEARNING 
are basic to being well educated. 

ASSESSMENT OF ALL FUNCTIONS 
is necessary for improvement and continual renewal. 
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FGCU’S CODE OF CONDUCT 

FGCU’s Code of Conduct 
is designed to help you 
recognize and resolve 
compliance and ethics 
issues. The Code provides 
general information and 
practical advice about 
behavior expectations, 
and it highlights some of 
the FGCU policies and 
regulations you must follow. 
The Code contains links 
to informational resources 
and provides you with a 
list of employees to whom 
you may bring forward 
a question or concern. 
Consider this Code your 
roadmap for doing things 
the right way and soaring 
with integrity. 

Our Code governs all 
University decisions and 
actions, whether in our 
administrative offices, 
classrooms, laboratories, 
sports facilities, or open 
spaces on campus. 

Our Code applies to the following members of the University community: 
} FGCU Board of Trustees or a committee of the FGCU Board of Trustees; 
} President, Cabinet, faculty, staff, and student employees; 
} FGCU Foundation Board of Directors; 
} FGCU Financing Corporation Board of Directors; and 
} Volunteers, contractors, vendors, and other representatives providing services to or acting 
on behalf of FGCU. 

FGCU’s Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer is responsible for promoting, monitoring, and 
enforcing our Code, and each of you is responsible for abiding by the Code to promote and 
sustain FGCU’s ethical culture of excellence. 
A separate Student Code of Conduct governs our students when acting as students in an 
academic or campus setting. 

• Student Code of
    Conduct 

Be civil, show 
respect, cherish the 
environment in which 
our beautiful campus 
resides, practice 
sustainability, make our 
students the priority, 
take pride in green and 
blue, and watch out 
for alligators. 
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YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES 

EMPLOYEES 

} Know and comply with the rules 
applicable to the work you do 
and the decisions you make; 

} Be familiar with University 
policies and regulations and 
state and federal laws, rules and 
regulations governing FGCU; 

} Be familiar with the University’s 
Regulation on Ethics and this 
Code of Conduct; 

} Be sensitive to situations that 
could lead, or appear to lead, 
you or others to engage in illegal, 
improper, or unethical behavior; 

} Report illegal, improper, or 
unethical behavior; and 

} Cooperate with internal reviews 
of unethical behavior. 

VICE PRESIDENTS, DEANS, 
DIRECTORS, MANAGERS, 
AND SUPERVISORS 

} Lead by example; 

} Honor integrity; 

} Encourage ethical decision 
making; 

} Create an open atmosphere in 
which subordinate employees 
are comfortable raising good-
faith concerns; 

} Communicate clearly that the 
University neither tolerates nor 
condones improper behavior; 

} Inform employees about 
resources that may help them in 
addressing ethical concerns; 

} Prevent retaliation against 
employees who bring forward 
good-faith concerns; and 

} Take appropriate corrective 
and/or disciplinary action for 
Code violations, when necessary. 

We rely on our leaders to 
reinforce the principles of
our Code throughout all 
areas of the University. 
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PRINCIPLES OF ETHICS AND INTEGRITY 
ETHICAL STANDARDS 

FGCU relies on you to represent the institution and its vision, 
mission, and guiding principles. You are expected to conduct 
yourself and the University’s operations with honesty and 
integrity and in conformance with University policies and 
regulations, as well as state and federal laws, rules, and 
regulations. 

Following are some ethical principles of fairness, good faith, 
and respect to assist you in interacting with internal and external 
constituents: 

} Treat others with respect and dignity; be respectful, fair, 
and civil to coworkers, students, vendors, contractors, 
volunteers and all others with whom you interact on behalf 
of the University. 

} Earn trust by accepting and honoring agreements and 
keeping promises. 

}Work to understand the University’s vision, mission, guiding 
principles, and strategic plan and proactively support these 
initiatives through discussion, communication, and action. 

} Never undermine a supervisor/manager, colleague, 
subordinate, or student. 

}Work jointly and in good faith to resolve disagreements. 

} Contribute constructively by exercising the highest level of 
professional and ethical behavior. 

} Promote informal conflict resolution. 
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PRINCIPLES OF ETHICS AND INTEGRITY 

RESPECT FOR OTHERS 

FGCU is committed to equal treatment, 
opportunity, and respect for its faculty, 
administrators, staff, students, and all others 
who come in contact with the University. As 
someone employed by or associated with 
FGCU, you are prohibited from discriminating 
against another individual based solely upon 
the individual’s race, color, religion, age, 
disability, sex, national origin, marital status, 
genetic predisposition, sexual orientation, 
gender identity/gender expression, veteran 
status, or any other legally protected status; 
physically assaulting, emotionally abusing, 
or harassing anyone; and depriving anyone 
of rights to his/her physical or intellectual 
property. 

FGCU strives to attract, develop and retain 
faculty and staff that are as diverse as FGCU’s 
student population. 

You promote diversity and inclusion when you: 

} Respect the talent, ability, and experience of 
others; 

} Value the input of others; and 

} Foster an atmosphere of trust, openness, 
and candor. 

• Anti-Harassment Policy 
• Anti-Harassmen Regulations 

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 

You are expected to comply with all University 
policies and regulations and state and 
federal laws, rules, and regulations governing 
higher education, FGCU, and your area 
of responsibility. If you have a question 
about the applicability or interpretation of a 
particular policy, regulation, law, or rule, please 
contact your supervisor, Vice President and 
General Counsel, or the Chief Compliance and 
Ethics Officer. 

• FGCU Policies 

• FGCU Regulations 

• Code of Ethics for Public Officer
 and Employee 
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PRINCIPLES OF ETHICS AND INTEGRITY 

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

You are expected to devote your 
primary professional allegiance to 
FGCU; ensure that decisions pertaining 
to FGCU are made in an impartial 
manner, considering only the best 
interest of the University; and ensure 
that outside activities do not interfere 
with your University duties. In addition, 
you may not use your position with the 
University for your own personal benefit 
or for the personal gain or benefit of any 
other person or business entity; and you 
are expected to avoid situations in which 
your financial or other relationships 
could create a conflict of interest 
between the University and your own 
private interests or cause harm to the 
University’s reputation. 

Situations that create a conflict of 
interest must be disclosed and then 
mitigated or avoided. Having a conflict 
is not necessarily wrong, but failing to 
disclose it is. 

Here are some scenarios in which a 
conflict may arise: 

} You, or a family member, either work 
for a company or have a substantial 
investment interest in a company that 
does or seeks to do business with FGCU. 

FGCU CODE OF CONDUCT 

} You use FGCU time and/or resources 
to support activities outside the scope of 
your FGCU responsibilities. 

} You are a purchasing agent for FGCU 
and you frequently accept gifts from a 
company that does business with FGCU. 

To determine if you have a conflict of 
interest that should be disclosed, you 
should ask yourself these questions: 

} Do my outside interests influence, or 
appear to influence, my ability to make 
sound business decisions on behalf of 
FGCU? 

} Do I stand to benefit from my 
involvement in the situation? 

} Does a family member stand to benefit 
from my involvement in the situation? 

} Does my participation in this activity 
interfere with my ability to do my job? 

} Is the situation causing me to put 
my own interests ahead of FGCU’s 
interests? 

} If the situation showed up on the front 
page of the local newspaper or a blog, 
would I be embarrassed? Would FGCU 
be embarrassed? 

10  
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PRINCIPLES OF ETHICS AND INTEGRITY 

GIFTS AND HONORARIA 

We serve as stewards of the public 
funds that FGCU receives from state and 
federal entities; therefore, we must avoid 
the perception that favorable treatment 
is sought, received, or given in exchange 
for business courtesies. 

You may not solicit or accept anything 
of value, such as a gift or honoraria, 
when acceptance gives the appearance 
of inappropriately influencing your 
objectivity with respect to University 
business. And, your spouse or minor 
child may not solicit or accept anything 
of value on your behalf when you know, 
or reasonably should know, the gift was 
given to influence an action on your part. 

What is a gift? 

“Gift” means anything accepted 
by you or on your behalf, whether 
directly or indirectly, for your 
benefit, and for which equal or 
greater consideration is not given 
within 90 days of the receipt of the 
gift. 

“Gift” includes real property 
or the use thereof; tangible or 
intangible personal property or 
the use thereof; a preferential 
rate or term on a transaction 
not available to the general 
public; forgiveness of a debt; 
transportation, lodging, or 
parking costs unrelated to 
official University business; 
food or beverage; dues, fees, 
and tickets; plants and flowers; 
personal services for which a 
fee is normally charged by the 
provider; and any other thing or 
service having an attributable 
value. 

What is an honorarium? 

“Honorarium” means a payment 
of money or anything of 
value given to you, directly 
or indirectly, as consideration 
for a speech or other oral 
presentation or for any writing 
other than a book which has 
been published or is intended to 
be published. 

• Gift and Honoraria Policy 

Side note: University Advancement 
employees responsible for fundraising
on behalf of FGCU may accept gifts on
behalf of the University through the
FGCU Foundation. 

In general, there is no prohibition
against providing or accepting
promotional items of nominal value 
(e.g., coffee mugs, pens, calendars or
similar tokens) provided the gifts are
allowed by law.  In deciding whether
a gift is appropriate, consider its value
and whether the public disclosure
of the gift could be perceived as an
attempt to influence a University 
matter. 
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PRINCIPLES OF ETHICS AND INTEGRITY 

OUTSIDE ACTIVITIES 

An outside activity is a professional or 
business activity, including additional 
teaching and research, conducted 
outside the normal course and scope 
of your University position that may or 
may not involve compensation. 

While there generally is no 
prohibition against a University 
employee conducting an outside 
activity, you must remember that 
your primary loyalty and duty must 
be to your University position. 
Accordingly, your outside activity 
cannot materially interfere with your 
obligation to the University. 

What behavior is expected? 

} Inform your supervisor, in writing, 
about your outside activity by 
completing an Outside Activity Form. 

} Be aware of potential conflict of 
interest situations and contact your 
supervisor or the Chief Compliance 
and Ethics Officer with any 
questions or concerns. 

} Avoid any outside activity that 
interferes with the proper and 
effective performance of your 
University duties. 

} Ensure all outside activities are 
conducted on your own time using 
your own resources, unless you obtain 
pre-approval from your supervisor to 
use University resources. 

Executive Service, Administrative and Professional, and Support Personnel employees, 
as well as out-of-unit faculty should refer to the University’s Regulation on Outside 
Activities/Employment for the requirements to receive approval for an outside activity. 

In-unit faculty should refer to the collective bargaining agreement 
(Article 19 Conflict of Interest/Outside Activity), which provides criteria by which 
a faculty member’s Outside Activity Form will be reviewed by the University. 

FGCU encourages its employees to engage in activities beyond their regular University 
duties when such activities contribute to individual growth, extend knowledge, 
or advance the mission of the University. To avoid conflicts of interest, submit an 
Outside Activity Form to your supervisor. 

Q I have a Support Personnel position at 
FGCU and belong to the YMCA where I 

coach a youth basketball league.  Do I need to 
obtain approval to conduct this activity? 

ANo. Volunteer activities that involve 
hobbies, sports, civic, or religious non- 

profit organizations and do not relate in any 
way to the University or its mission are not 
considered outside activities. 

Q I am a professor at FGCU conducting 
research under a sponsored program.

I have been asked by a pharmaceutical 
company in SW Florida to perform similar 
research.  Do I need to notify my supervisor
about this activity? 

A Yes. Whenever you conduct an outside 
activity that is similar to or relates to your 

FGCU position or duties, you must submit an 
Outside Activity Form to your supervisor for 
conflict of interest considerations. In addition, 
as the recipient of sponsored program 
funds, FGCU has a fiduciary responsibility to 
safeguard the intellectual property that could 
result from the research. 

QHow do I obtain approval for an outside 
activity? 

A You should complete the Request for 
Approval of Outside Activity form. 

• Outside Activity Form 
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PRINCIPLES OF ETHICS AND INTEGRITY 

ACADEMIC FREEDOM 

FGCU promotes academic freedom, including the freedom to discuss all relevant 
matters in the classroom; explore all avenues of scholarship, research, and creative 
expression; speak openly on all matters of University governance; and speak or write 
as a private citizen without institutional restraint or discipline. 

You are expected to foster intellectual honesty and freedom of inquiry, respect those 
with differing views, and acknowledge when speaking as a private citizen that you 
neither represent nor speak for the University. 

Academic freedom means that: Academic freedom does NOT mean that: 

} FGCU faculty and students may } FGCU faculty may harass, threaten, 
engage in intellectual debate without intimidate, ridicule, or impose their 
fear of censorship or retaliation. views on students. 

} FGCU faculty and students have } FGCU faculty have the right to ignore 
the right to challenge one another’s University regulations and policy. 
views and not be penalized for holding 

} FGCU faculty are protected from differing views. 
disciplinary action for misconduct and 

} FGCU faculty have latitude in deciding sanction violations proven through due 
how to teach the courses for which they process investigations. 
are responsible. 

FGCU faculty members help the University meet its commitment to maintaining an 
environment that respects diversity and is free from discrimination and harassment. 

Source: Article 5, Academic Freedom and Responsibility, CBA. Article on Defining Academic 
Freedom; Cary Nelson, AAUP President; December 21, 2010 
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PRINCIPLES OF ETHICS AND INTEGRITY 

RESPONSIBLE CONDUCT IN RESEARCH 

You are responsible for ensuring the 
integrity of the research process, including 
the conduct and reporting of research, 
in order to sustain the highest degree 
of intellectual honesty and integrity 
and appropriate regard for human 
and animal subjects.  FGCU adheres to 
Federal guidelines that prohibit research 
misconduct. You are not to fabricate 
data or results; change or knowingly omit 
data or results to misrepresent results 
in the research record; or intentionally 
misappropriate the ideas, writings, research, 
or findings of others. You are also expected 
to demonstrate accountability for sponsored 
research funds and comply with specific 
terms and conditions of contract and grant 
fund requirements. 

Behavior expectations: 

Exercise intellectual honesty, discipline, 
adherence to professional ethics and good 
judgment in extending the boundaries of 
knowledge and in transmitting and applying 
new information. 

For information on intellectual property, 
responsible conduct in research, and 
information on the FGCU Institutional Review 
Board, contact the Associate Vice President 
for Research and Dean of Graduate Studies. 
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PRINCIPLES OF ETHICS AND INTEGRITY 

ACCURATE REPORTING  

All FGCU records including but not limited to accounting, 
financial, and tax matters; expense, timesheet, and effort reports; 
analyses that show support for and progress towards meeting 
BOG metrics; and all those submitted to a state or federal 
entity for compliance or other purposes, must be accurate and 
complete. All published financial reports will make full, fair, 
accurate, and timely disclosures, as required. 

Reports include: Behavior Expectations: 

} Time records } Accurately and honestly 
provide information in reports 

} Revenue and expense and records 
reports 

}Do not mislead or misinform 
} Employment applications others by supplying inaccurate 
} Performance on metrics for information in University records 
the Board of Governors } Comply with public 
} Responses to audits and records requests but do not 
inquiries compromise proprietary or 

confidential information 

RECORDS MANAGEMENT 

University records and documents, including both hardcopy 
and electronic, must be retained, secured, and disposed of in 
accordance with University policy, as well as state and federal law. 

For further information, refer to Records Management Policy 3.032. 

• Records Management Policy 
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PRINCIPLES OF ETHICS AND INTEGRITY 

EMAIL, INTERNET AND 
INFORMATION SYSTEMS 

You must use University email 
and internet accounts responsibly 
and protect the security of our 
information systems. 

FGCU’s information technology 
systems are a key component of 
our University operations and are 
provided for authorized business 
purposes. Your use of these 
systems must comply with our 
Acceptable Use Policy and Email 
Policy. 

• Acceptable Use Policy 

• Email Policy 

You may engage in reasonable 
incidental personal use of phone, 
email and the internet as long as 
such usage does not: 

} Consume large amounts of 
time and resources 

} Interfere with your work 
performance or that of others 

} Involve illegal, sexually explicit, 
discriminatory or otherwise 
inappropriate material 

} Relate to outside business 
interests 

} Violate any University policy or 
regulation 

To safeguard FGCU information 
systems, you should never: 

} Share your University system 
passwords with anyone 

} Leave laptops or other mobile 
devices unattended while 
traveling or in an exposed 
location where they can be 
stolen 

} Download unauthorized 
or unlicensed software on 
University computers 

If you suspect a data breach 
or become aware of any 
situation in which data has been 
compromised, including the loss 
or theft of a laptop or handheld 
device, immediately report 
the situation to the Business 
Technology Services Help Desk: 
(239) 590-1188 or helpdesk@ 
fgcu.edu. 
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PRINCIPLES OF ETHICS AND INTEGRITY 

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH AND SAFETY 

You are expected to comply with all applicable 
environmental laws and regulations which govern 
environmental health and safety; make every 
reasonable effort to ensure that students, faculty, 
staff, and visitors are protected from undue health 
risks and unsafe conditions; ensure that FGCU 
has obtained all necessary licenses, permits, 
and approvals for environmental matters; and 
employ the proper procedures and controls in the 
handling and disposition of radioactive and toxic 
materials and the handling and disposition of 
hazardous and biohazardous wastes. 

You should always speak up and raise a concern 
if you: 

} Are asked to complete a task you consider 
unsafe 

} Are asked to complete a task for which you 
are not properly trained and that may harm you 
or others 

} Suspect that a golf cart or piece of equipment 
is not operating properly and may be unsafe 

}Observe or are made aware of an unsafe 
condition or a potential danger to yourself or 
others 

Safety is everyone’s responsibility; support 
FGCU’s efforts to maintain a healthy and safe 
workplace. 
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PRINCIPLES OF ETHICS AND INTEGRITY 

The FGCU sustainability 
symbol is representative 
of the words sustainability 
and stewardship. The “S” 
in the shape of the infinity 

symbol represents unlimited capacity, 
energy, excellence, or knowledge. 

SUSTAINABILITY 

FGCU promotes and practices 
environmental sustainability and is 
dedicated to environmental operations 
that foster a sustainable future and lead 
to improvements in SW Florida. We 
provide our students with the knowledge 
and skills to be environmentally 
responsible citizens. We are committed 
to continuous improvements in: 

} Demonstrating institutional practices 
that promote sustainability, protecting 
our natural resources, and actively 
reducing our environmental impact. 

} Enhancing the health of campus 
ecosystems and increasing the diversity 
of native species. 

} Promoting health, productivity, and 
safety practices on campus through 
education, maintenance, and design of 
campus buildings. 

} Incorporating environmentally 
responsible concerns in University 
decision making. 

The FGCU EMERALD GREEN and 
COBALT BLUE school colors are symbols 
of the earth and water, in keeping with the 
University’s environmental mission. 

SUBSTANCE ABUSE 

FGCU prohibits you from: 

} Being under the influence of alcohol, 
illegal drugs, or controlled substances 
while on campus; 

} Possessing, selling, using, transferring, 
or distributing illegal drugs or controlled 
substances while on campus; and 

} Using tobacco products and smoking 
devices on campus. 

Consuming alcohol and/or using an 
illegal substance can negatively impact 
your ability to perform safely, be 
productive, and serve as a role model to 
our students. 

• FGCU Drug Free Environment 
• FGCU Smoke Free and Tobacco Free 
    Campus 
• FGCU Alcohol Policy 

FGCU CODE OF CONDUCT 18  

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA

61

https://www2.fgcu.edu/generalcounsel/files/policies/Policy_3_044_Drug_Free_Environment_033015_ada.pdf
https://www2.fgcu.edu/generalcounsel/files/policies/Policy_3_048_smokefree_062016_ada.pdf
https://www2.fgcu.edu/generalcounsel/files/policies/Policy_3_048_smokefree_062016_ada.pdf
https://www2.fgcu.edu/generalcounsel/files/policies/FGCU_Policy_4_002_PossSvcConsumpAlcoholicBvgs_07202017_ada.pdf


	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 		 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 

 

  

 

  
 

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 	 	 	 		 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	


 

            
           

         
         

         
          

          
           

         

         
       

     
           

 

SEEKING GUIDANCE AND REPORTING CONCERNS 
If you have a concern and cannot find an answer in this Code 
of Conduct, or if you have questions on how to interpret the 
Code, please seek guidance. Similarly, if you are aware of 
something that may be a violation of our guiding principles, 
Code of Conduct, University policies or regulations, or state or 
federal laws or regulations, you should speak up and report it 
so the matter can be addressed. 

You have several resources to seek guidance or make a report: 

} Your supervisor or manager 

} University Ombuds for informal conflict resolution 

}Director of Institutional Equity and Compliance for 
harassment, discrimination, and sexual misconduct allegations 

} Director of Internal Audit for fraud, waste, and abuse 
allegations 

} Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer for violations of 
University policies or regulations and state or federal laws, 
regulations, and rules 

If you choose to use one of the University’s internal resources 
to seek guidance or make a report, you have the right to 
remain confidential to the extent permitted under the law. 

In addition to the resources listed above, you may ask 
questions, raise concerns, or make reports of suspected 
violations through the university’s EthicsPoint Hotline. If you 
choose to use the Hotline, you have the option of remaining 
anonymous. 
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 SEEKING GUIDANCE AND REPORTING CONCERNS 

When should you seek guidance? 

If you are about to take action on a 
University matter and you are not 
sure it is the appropriate action, ask 
yourself: 

} Am I sure this course of action is 
legal? 

} Is it consistent with the 
University’s mission, vision, and 
guiding principles? 

} Does it align with the University’s 
Code of Conduct, policies, and 
regulations? 

} Could it be considered unethical 
or dishonest? 

} Could it hurt FGCU’s reputation? 

} If it winds up on the front page 
of a local newspaper or on a blog, 
how will it make my parents, my 
spouse, or my children feel? 

If you are not sure about the answers 
to any of the above questions, please 
seek additional guidance to make 
the right decision before you take 
action on behalf of FGCU. 
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ETHICSPOINT HOTLINE 

F L  O R I D  A  G U L F  C  O  A S  T  U N I V E R S I T  Y  

SOAR WITH 
INTEGRITY 
If you believe that FGCU’s ethical standards are being

 compromised, you can do something about it. 

TELL US, IT MATTERS 

Florida 
Gulf Coast 
University 

Call the University’s Hotline to report:
HARASSMENT, DISCRIMINATION, RETALIATION  /  SAFETY 
MISUSE OF SPONSORED FUNDS / THEFT /  MISCONDUCT 

FRAUD, WASTE, ABUSE 

(844) 300-1073
or fgcu.ethicspoint.com 

24 HOURS A DAY / 365 DAYS A YEAR 
 For further information, contact FGCU’s 

Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer at 239-590-1039. 

The Hotline is an alternative mechanism for any employee, student, 
vendor, contractor, or concerned citizen to ask questions; report good-
faith concerns alleging fraud, waste, or abuse of University resources; or 
report violations of University policies or regulations or state or federal 
laws or regulations. 

FGCU has collaborated with third party provider Navex Global 
to offer the EthicsPoint case management reporting system for 
individuals who may be reluctant to report suspected misconduct 
to University administrators. The EthicsPoint Hotline is available 
24 hours a day, 365 days a year and offers a way to report with 
complete anonymity. EthicsPoint does not generate or maintain any 
internal connection logs to identify IP addresses, and telephone calls 
are not traced or recorded. 

You can contact the EthicsPoint Hotline by: 

} Calling the Hotline at (844) 300-1073 or 

} Completing an online form at the following link: 
• FGCU Ethics Point 

After you submit your report, you will be assigned a unique code called 
a “report key.” You will use this report key along with the password of 
your choosing to return to EthicsPoint through the website or telephone 
to get a response to your question, review follow up questions based 
on the information you provided, submit more information, or receive a 
status update. 

You should provide as much information as possible regarding 
suspected violations and you should expect some follow-up questions 
to clarify the information you provide. Your confidentiality will be 
protected to the extent permitted under the law or you may choose to 
remain anonymous. What matters is what is being reported, not who 
reports it. 
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NO RETALIATION 

The University prohibits retaliation and 
will take no adverse action against an 
employee who in good-faith: 

} Reports a suspected violation of 
this Code, our policies or regulations, 
or the law; 

} Raises a compliance question or seeks 
advice about a particular University 
business practice; or 

} Cooperates in an investigation of a 
potential violation 

What is an adverse action? 

An adverse employment action occurs 
when the terms and conditions of 
your FGCU employment are materially 
affected for bringing forward a protected 
activity and there is a connection 
between bringing forward a concern 
and the adverse action. An adverse 
action includes things like termination, 
demotion, change in job duties, 
reassignment to a less desirable task, or a 
disciplinary suspension. 

What is a good-faith report? 

A good-faith report is the honest belief 
that the information you provide about 
a potential violation is truthful based 
on your knowledge of a situation. 

Conversely, you are not operating in 
good faith if you report a potential 
violation or make statements during 
an investigation that are knowingly 
false or that involve willful disregard 
or purposeful ignorance of the facts. 
Moreover, disciplinary action can be 
taken against you if you attempt to use 
the Hotline, or any other University 
reporting process, to intentionally harm 
or slander another employee through 
false accusations. 

What is retaliation? 

Retaliation is an adverse employment 
action (or credible threat of an adverse 
employment action) taken against a 
University employee for raising a good-
faith concern or participating in an 
investigation of a potential violation. 

What happens when
I contact the 
EthicsPoint Hotline? 

EthicsPoint Hotline calls are 
answered by an independent 
third party with expertise in 
handling hotline calls. An 
interview specialist will ask 
you questions and then send 
a report to FGCU’s Chief 
Compliance and Ethics Officer 
for review. Appropriate 
university compliance liaisons 
will investigate concerns, and 
if warranted, remedial actions 
will be taken. 
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      ITEM: __3__  

 
 

Florida Gulf Coast University Board of Trustees                        
Audit and Compliance Committee 

TBA 
 
 
 
SUBJECT:  2019 Annual Compliance Report    
 

 
PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
Review the 2019 Annual Compliance Report, and approve a recommended 
version for action by the FGCU Board of Trustees 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
Board of Governors Regulation 4.003 (State University Compliance and Ethics 
Programs) and FGCU’s Compliance Office Charter require at least an annual 
report on the University’s Compliance Program. The 2019 Annual Compliance 
Report is a summary of FGCU’s comprehensive compliance, ethics, and risk 
program accomplishments, to include compliance partner reports from January 1, 
2019 to December 31, 2019. 
 
Upon approval of this Report by the FGCU Audit and Compliance Committee, it 
will be recommended for approval to the FGCU Board of Trustees. 
 
 

 
Supporting Documentation Included: 2019 Annual Compliance Report  
 
Prepared by: Director of Equity, Ethics, and Compliance and Title IX Coordinator 
Precious Gunter    
 
Legal Review:  N/A   
 
Submitted by: Director of Equity, Ethics and Compliance, and Title IX 
Coordinator Precious Gunter 
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A comprehensive Compliance and Ethics Program is essential to
the success of any organization or university. At FGCU, we strive

to embody all facets of integrity, morals, and values as we
believe that they are woven into the fabric of why we exist. We
believe it is important to set standards and examples of ethical

behavior and character, not just for students, but for the
University community and regional community as well. As such,
the 2019 Annual Compliance Report highlights all of the steps

taken thus far towards building a robust University-wide
Compliance and Ethics Program.

 
Through the process of setting priorities, we will continue to

engage faculty, staff and student representatives as we continue
to take major strides towards implementation of the Program.
We are thankful for everyone that has participated/contributed

thus far as we continue to grow in this area.
 

Go Eagles!

FOREWORD

012019 Annual Compliance Report

Mike Martin, President
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In alignment with FGCU's guiding principles, we promote a culture that
celebrates the diversity of all members. Our focuses are eliminating
discrimination and harassment, promoting ethical decisions on all levels, and
ensuring compliance with applicable regulations and guidelines. 
 
FGCU does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, ethnicity,
religion, age, disability, sex, gender identity/expression, marital status, sexual
orientation, veteran status, or genetic predisposition. We promote ethical
decisions and responsible stewardship of resources to foster trust and promote
the best interests of our community. As well as, provide oversight and guidance
of FGCU's Compliance Program in accordance with applicable state and federal
laws, regulations, professional standards, and University regulations and
policies. 
 
The OIEC is committed to upholding ethical standards and ensuring equity and
fairness for all faculty, staff, students, visitors, and vendors. Our office provides
the following functions for the University: Training and Awareness, Committee
Management, Investigations and Informal Resolutions, External Agency
Response, Equal Opportunity Certification for Grants and Degree Programs,
Policy Analysis and Development, Conflict of Interest Review/Investigations and
Equal Opportunity Waivers of Advertisement.
 
Contact Us:
Office of Institutional Equity & Compliance
Edwards 114
10501 FGCU Boulevard South 
Fort Myers, Florida 33965
239-745-4366
oiec@fgcu.edu

A B O U T  T H E
O F F I C E  O F
I N S T I T U T I O N A L
E Q U I T Y  A N D
C O M P L I A N C E

032019 Annual Compliance Report

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA

72



Compliance Partners:
Academic Affairs
Adaptive Services
Athletics
Campus Life
Counseling and Wellness Services      
Emergency Management      
Environmental Health & Safety
Finance and Accounting 
Financial Aid & Scholarships 
Foundation
Office of the General Counsel
Graduate Studies
Human Resources        
Information Technology Services 
Internal Audit       
International Services
Procurement Services       
Records Management
Office of Records & Registration
Office of Research & Sponsored Programs 
University Police Department

T H E  F O L L O W I N G  R E P O R T  I S  A  S U M M A R Y  O F
F G C U ' S  C O M P R E H E N S I V E  C O M P L I A N C E ,
E T H I C S ,  &  R I S K  P R O G R A M  A C C O M P L I S H M E N T S ,
I N C L U D I N G  C O M P L I A N C E  P A R T N E R  R E P O R T S
F R O M  J A N U A R Y  1 ,  2 0 1 9 ,  T O  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,
2 0 1 9 .  

042019 Annual Compliance Report

INFORMATION
FROM

COMPREHENSIVE
COMPLIANCE, ETHICS,
& RISK REPORT

21
CAMPUS

PARTNERS
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COMPLIANCE AND ETHICS PROGRAM
DEVELOPMENT

1.

052019 Annual Compliance Report

USERSN ASIA

Develop and direct the University’s compliance and ethics function. 
Provide leadership, oversight, and advice to ensure appropriate development,
interpretation, and implementation of the University’s policies and regulations
pertaining to compliance in accordance with state and federal laws. 
Prepare, implement, and manage the University’s Compliance and Ethics Program Plan
as approved by the President,  Audit and Compliance Committee, and the FGCU Board
of Trustees; revise the Plan as necessary. 
Develop or implement compliance training or awareness programs. 
Develop and provide compliance and ethics training to the FGCU Board of Trustees, the
President and Cabinet, and employees to assist University community members with
performing their jobs, understanding compliance issues, and infusing  an ethical
framework into the fabric of the University. 
Engage in investigations, monitoring activities, and conduct risk assessments for the
University and its affiliated organizations to prevent and detect misconduct or violations
of institutional policies or applicable laws and regulations. 
Develop a program consistent with Florida’s Code of Ethics for Public Officers and
Employees, and Chapter 8 of the Federal Sentencing Guidelines Manual. 
Administer and promote the FGCU Hotline, an anonymous mechanism available for
individuals to report potential or actual misconduct and violations of University policy,
regulation, or law, and ensure that no individual faces retaliation for reporting a
potential or actual violation when such report  is made in good faith. 
Ensure that managers responsible for compliance functions within the University
coordinate and communicate program matters of substantial importance with the Chief
Compliance Officer. 
Oversee the processing of internal complaints, refer concerns to an appropriate
University office for review and disposition (such as Office of the General Counsel,
Internal Audit, or Human Resources). 
Bring all compliance and ethics-related matters of substantial importance and all
credible evidence of alleged misconduct, including criminal conduct, to the attention of
the President and the Chair of the Audit and Compliance Committee of the FGCU Board
of Trustees, as well as the Board of Governors’ Inspector General, as applicable. 

Office of Institutional Equity & Compliance
The goal of the Office of Institutional Equity & Compliance (OIEC) is to promote an
organizational culture that encourages ethical conduct and a commitment to compliance.
The responsibilities of the office are to:
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 Ensure that an initial review of the compliance and ethics program to determine its
effectiveness is conducted no later than November 2021 and that a subsequent review
is conducted at least once in each successive five-year period.  
Perform other activities as deemed necessary by the President and/or the Chair of the
Audit and Compliance Committee of the FGCU Board of Trustees.

The Division of Academic Affairs encourages its members to complete any and all
required and voluntary training offered through the Office of Institutional Equity and
Compliance (OIEC). Participation is monitored on an annual basis and if adjustments are
needed, Academic Affairs works closely with OIEC to devise a plan of action.
There is a weekly meeting in Academic Affairs whereas time is devoted to discuss any
regulatory type of reports that might be coming due.
Academic Affairs provides service to the following bodies that are compliance related:
Compliance Liaison Committee, Institutional Review Board for Research, Southern
Association of Colleges and Schools (University Accreditation), Athletics Gender Equity
Committee.

Adaptive Services currently has 1,489 students enrolled. 462 are new students (first
time in college and transfer).
Adaptive Services proctored 3,279 exams.
Adaptive Services provided 239 tutoring sessions, 378 notes, and 3,377 lab visits.
Adaptive Services provided 1,646 one-on-one student meetings.        
Adaptive Services had a 73% graduation rate and a 90% retention from first year to
second year.

Office of Student Conduct administered, reviewed and updated the Student Code of
Conduct and Student Review Process.
Student Conduct participated as a member of the professional organization
International Center Academic Integrity (ICAI).      
Created the Know the Code – Academic Integrity Edition quiz for faculty to administer to
their students in order to provide awareness and education to students of the
University’s expectations regarding academic integrity. Almost 1,800 students have
taken the quiz, to date.
Put on the Third Annual #AIMHigh Academic Integrity Week, working with campus
partners to further a healthy culture of academic integrity at FGCU.

 
Academic Affairs

 
Adaptive Services

 
Campus Life
Office of Student Conduct

·        
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Student Conduct administered the admission clearance process, reviewing applicants
seeking admission to FGCU, both undergraduate and graduate programs, with a prior
criminal background or educational disciplinary history. Florida Board of Governors
Regulation 6.001 authorizes universities to refuse admission to applicants due to past
misconduct. 
Student Conduct also administered the discipline clearance process for students
seeking admission into studying abroad, holding a leadership position in a registered
student organization, applying to the bar, having a background check completed for
employment with the federal government, transferring to another institution, etc.

The Office of Student Involvement oversaw the Anti-Discrimination policies in the
following documents:

Anti-Discrimination policy in all RSO Constitutions.
Anti-Discrimination policy in Student Government Constitution.
Anti-Discrimination in policy Programming Board Constitution.

Members serve on the University Diversity and Inclusion Committee and provide
guidance associated with ethics initiatives and respond to any concerns or issues.

Office of Fraternity & Sorority Life requires the Anti-Discrimination policy in all
Fraternity/Sorority constitutions (Based on Title IX, Fraternities and Sororities can
function as single-gender organizations).
The Non-Hazing Compliance Form is also required to be signed by all Fraternity and
Sorority Life organization members.

Counseling and Wellness Services (CWS) includes the departments of Counseling and
Psychological Services (CAPS) and Prevention and Wellness Services (P&W). The
functions included in these student service departments are personal and group
counseling, psychiatric care, consulting and collaboration services, health education,
professional training, resources for healthy living, a student group of trained peer
educators (including service learning and internship opportunities for students
accepted into the program) and victim advocacy services.
The culture of compliance, ethical practice and risk management are inherent in the
professional practice laws and regulations and ethical codes that are required for
employment. Weekly staff meetings, supervision and training is provided to sustain this
culture. Continuing education for the Victim Services Practitioner is on-going.

 
Office of Student Involvement

 
Multicultural and Leadership Development Center

 
Office of Fraternity & Sorority Life

 
Counseling and Wellness Services
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CWS staff serve on the Compliance Liaison Committee, Americans with Disabilities Act
(ADA) Committee, Behavioral Consultation and Assessment Team (BCAT), Threat
Assessment and Management (TAM), Sexual Assault Response Team (SART), ARISE and
Title IX committee.

Compliance responsibilities in Emergency Management are based on federal, state,
county and University requirements. Reporting processes dictated by these rules and
regulations are followed and aligned with the University operating calendar.
Coordination with Lee County Emergency Management and multiple University
stakeholder departments assure readiness of emergency shelters on campus per
Florida Statute 252.385. 
As a member of the Florida Emergency Preparedness Association and the International
Association of Emergency Managers (IAEM) Emergency Management agrees to the Code
of Ethics and professional standards of these organizations. 
Emergency Management maintains the University Continuity of Operations (COOP) and
Comprehensive Emergency Management (CEMP) plans per F.S. 252.365 and BOG
Regulation 3.001.
Director of Emergency Management serves as the FGCU Liaison to the FEMA Region 6
Disaster Advisory Council and the Local Mitigation Strategy Working Group. 
Emergency Management maintains FGCU’s participation in the Statewide Mutual Aid
Agreement per Florida BOG Regulation 3.001.

Environmental Health & Safety (EH&S) Director holds weekly meetings with direct
reports, which include discussions of the progress toward the annual due dates of
compliance reports to regulatory bodies.
EH&S members serve on many different committees, including: Americans with
Disabilities Act (ADA) Compliance Committee; Campus Space Coordination Committee;
Workplace Safety Committee and the Interagency Committee (IAC) for compliance with
the Department of Financial Services; the Institutional Safety Committee and Radiation
Sub-Committee; and the Local Emergency Planning Commission of the Southwest
Florida Regional Planning Council.    

 
Emergency Management 

 
Environmental Health & Safety
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EH&S members serve as featured speakers in the University’s 5-Star Academy, the 180-
day onboarding program for new employees. In this presentation, EH&S discusses the
importance of a myriad of safety issues regarding fires, accident prevention, lab safety,
chemical handling, hazardous waste, stormwater runoff, and wildlife on campus.
Members of EH&S strive to create an awareness of EH&S, the work done, and how
employees can be more involved in creating and living in a safe and sustainable
environment. EH&S hopes to increase their awareness to their surroundings and the
effect of their footprint on the world around them. 

Finance and Accounting holds monthly staff meetings which include a review of a
monthly calendar that lists deadlines for mandatory reports.  
Annual meetings are held to establish deadlines for calendar year-end activities
required to meet IRS tax reporting requirements. Annual meetings are also held to
establish deadlines for fiscal year-end activities to close general ledger, and assign tasks
to assure completion of financial statements in accordance with Board of Governors’
submission deadlines.
Finance and Accounting holds weekly meetings to review calendar of the University’s
debt covenants compliance requirements and subscribes to Digital Assurance
Certification (DAC) for timely public disclosure of required debt covenant information.
Projects involving debt are reviewed for compliance with the State of Florida Division of
Bond Finance and university regulations.
Holds monthly reviews of general ledger transactions and daily review of journal
voucher input for compliance with university policies and procedures to enhance the
integrity and accuracy of the university’s general ledger. 
Conducted annual certification of auxiliary enterprises for appropriate activities,
adherence to cash handling procedures, and proper taxability of sales items.
Annual audits of departmental payroll certifications were conducted to assure proper
review and approval of employees’ pay and hours.

The Higher Education Opportunity Act requires colleges and universities that participate
in federal student aid programs to disclose certain information to current and
prospective students and to university employees.  The Office of Financial Aid &
Scholarships complies with this requirement via its Consumer Information website.

 
Finance and Accounting

 
Office of Financial Aid & Scholarships
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Members of the Office of Financial Aid & Scholarships serve on a number of compliance
related university committees.  These include the Satisfactory Academic Progress
Committee, Fee Appeal Committee, Housing Appeal Committee and Withdrawal for
Extenuating Circumstances Appeal Committee.      
As a member of the National Association of Financial Aid Administrators, the Office of
Financial Aid & Scholarships agrees to adopt NASFAA’s ethical guidelines. These include
NASFAA’s Statement of Ethical Principles, Code of Conduct and Core Advocacy
Principles. 

The Office of Graduate Studies is committed to complying with the requirements of
SACSCO (Southern Association of Colleges and Schools), federal and state law.

The Office of Human Resources is tasked with the responsibility for the administration
of the Florida Commission on Ethics financial disclosure process. The office ensures that
the appropriate persons are identified as those who must comply.  The list is updated
periodically in order to ensure continued compliance. In addition, the office is charged
with the responsibility to provide notice to affected new compliers within 30 days of
their appointment as well as those who leave the University within 60 days of their
departure.
FGCU has purchased and is in the process of implementing Workday with a go-live date
of July 1, 2020. Workday will serve as the Human Resource Information System (HRIS)
for FGCU. Workday is a very robust platform that operates based on configured
business processes and rules. These configured business processes and rules will
enhance compliance by ensuring that all human resources transactions follow
standardized approval processes, follow eligibility rules to ensure position classifications
or employment status are compensated in compliance with the Fair Labor Standards
Act, and support stewardship of funds by ensuring only approved classifications are
awarded university benefits, such as cell phone allowances. Workday was developed
with algorithms that enhance robust reporting, thereby increasing the accuracy of all
mandated reporting. 
The Assistant Vice President, Human Resources serves as a member of the Compliance
Liaison Committee.

 
Graduate Studies

 
Human Resources
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Information Technology Services (ITS) works with each department (once a year, spread
out over the 4 quarters) to review the network access of the departments’ users. Any
superfluous access that is discovered as part of this audit is removed and documented
during the audit. 
Internal ITS procedures are reviewed on an annual basis in order to ensure they are still
applicable, and are documented correctly.
Each quarter, ITS conducts a review of Banner access and security with the Data
Stewards. Reports detailing each user’s security classes and associated objects are run
and distributed to the appropriate Data Steward. The Data Stewards review the reports
and submit requests for any security class modifications to ITS. Annually, this same
review is expanded to the supervisors of each Banner user and is coordinated by the
Data Stewards.

Internal Audit is an independent assurance and consulting function designed to add
value and improve the University's operations. It assists Florida Gulf Coast University to
accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and
improve the effectiveness of risk management, control, and governance processes.
The Director reports regularly to Audit and Compliance committee for FGCU Board of
Trustees.
Internal Audit creates and distributes an annual Internal Audit Newsletter, which
discussed current trends, challenge questions, and listed members of the office.

Compliance responsibilities in International Services are based on federal, state, and
University regulations and requirements. Reporting processes and cycles dictated by
these regulations are followed and aligned with appropriate times in the academic and
calendar year. 
Compliance functions are embedded in routine services to clients (students, faculty, and
staff) and addressed specifically via required reporting. Program policies and guidelines
reference compliance requirements.

Procurement Services is dedicated to providing professional and efficient acquisition
and payment processes in support of the activities of Florida Gulf Coast University which
include: education, research, and community service. Through the process of acquiring
commodities and services, Procurement Services maintains procedures that foster fair
and open competition, inspiring public confidence that all contracts are awarded
equitably and economically.

Information Technology Services

 
Internal Audit

 
International Services

 
Procurement Services
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Accounts payable is dedicated to providing timely and accurate disbursements that are
in accordance with University guidelines as well as state and federal financial
regulations. 
To ensure accuracy, Procurement Services completes annual P-Card audits to ensure
compliance with established policies and procedures.
Procurement Services serves on the Compliance Liaison Committee.

Office of Research and Sponsored Programs (ORSP) relies on the Faculty Senate Grants
and Research Team (GRT), at the direction of the Senate leadership, to review and
recommend policies, concerning matters relating to research and sponsored programs
at FGCU.

The Records Management department provides consultation to departments and
employees on a daily basis regarding records management at the request of
departments and employees.
Disposition forms are submitted monthly from departments requesting to dispose of
records (paper, electronic, etc.).
The Campus Reservations and Records Management department reviews and approves
all disposition forms before permitting departments and employees to dispose of
records. 
Shredding services are contracted with a vendor and completed once a month (every
fourth Wednesday). 
The Records Management department provides two shred consoles for departments to
deposit records that have met their retention for shredding free of charge (provided
disposition forms have been approved or records are duplicate materials). 
The Records Management department shredded 725.532 cubic feet of paper and
approved the deletion of 360,917 GB of electronic data in fiscal year 2018-2019.

Records and Registration disseminates annual Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act
(FERPA) notifications to students via Gulfline landing page, academic catalog and Office
of Records and Registration website.  
Publishes FGCU Veterans Affairs (VA) Handbook annually on Office of Records &
Registration webpage so Student Veterans are able to view and comply with VA federal
requirements to update the institution of changes in student status so in turn, the VA is
updated in a timely manner.  
Adheres to state residency reclassification regulations by sharing guidance for in-state
residency for tuition purposes with staff, students, and parents.

 
Office of Research and Sponsored Programs

 
Records Management

 
Office of Records and Registration
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The University Police Department (UPD) develops the required reports including: Clery
Act, Uniform Crime Reporting, Hate Crime and Cargo Crime, Annual Assessment of
Physical Plant Safety, and Annual Florida Police Accreditation, Civil Asset Forfeiture
Reporting, and Wireless Communication While Driving Violations Reporting.
Department representatives serve on the following committees: Americans with
Disabilities Act (ADA) committee, Compliance Liaison committee, and Workplace Safety
committee. 

University Police Department
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2. EDUCATION AND TRAINING

Members of the Office of Institutional Equity & Compliance (OIEC) are extensively
trained in various compliance associated tasks. The Director, Assistant Director, and
Investigator are Certified Compliance and Ethics Professionals, and all investigating
members have participated in the National Association of College and University
Attorneys' Title IX training. The OIEC team members attend all required University-wide
trainings.
The OIEC oversees mandatory employee trainings in Sexual Harassment Prevention,
Compliance and Ethics, and Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) trainings.       
The OIEC hosts a Diversity and Inclusion Certificate program available to all University
community members.
The OIEC gives Title IX training to every new undergraduate student during their
orientation and presented to graduate student orientations for the College of Education
and College of Health and Human Services.
The OIEC gives sessions as part of the Human Resources 5-Star Academy, a 180 day on-
boarding, continuous program.
The OIEC trains all faculty search committees on equity, ethics, and compliance in their
search processes.
Beyond the trainings listed above, the OIEC conducted over 50 additional equity, ethics,
and compliance related trainings, including faculty retreats in all of the colleges.

The members in Academic Affairs are regularly trained by the Council of Deans, College
Retreats, and committees set up through the OIEC.
Members of the division receive a variety of trainings throughout the year and several
members attend conferences on accreditation.

Adaptive Services provided training on disability awareness and sensitivity to 11 campus
partner offices, five faculty departments, and 12 community partners.

Student conduct provided annual training to the 80 members of the Academic
Integrity/Student Conduct Committee on compliance with the University student
conduct review processes and procedures. Additionally, provided ongoing Lunch and
Learn trainings throughout the spring and fall semesters, as well as mock hearings, and
discussions on changes to the code and relevant laws.

Office of Institutional Equity and Compliance
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Facilitated discussions on upholding the University’s commitment to academic integrity
with faculty in all colleges.
Advised the Student Government Supreme Court on compliance with University policies
and procedures.
Hosted a Mock Hazing Hearing for students as part of National Hazing Prevention Week.

Registered Student Organization (RSO) Orientation – each organization must send a
minimum of two officers to this orientation each year to learn important information
about office expectations and policies/procedures.
RSO Treasurer Training – each organization must send their Treasurer to Treasurer
Training each year to learn important information about the University purchasing
process and Student Government Finance Code.
Advisor Trainings – voluntary trainings for RSO Advisors to learn important information
about office expectations and policies/procedures as well as skills to better support
their student organization.
Student Government Workshops – educate Student Government members on
documents such as Rules and Procedures and the Finance Code, as well as skills that
will assist them in being better leaders.
Programming Board Executive Board Boot Camp – Programming Board Executive Board
members participate in a six-week boot camp each spring to learn about the
Programming Board and important office and University policies and procedures that
are relevant to their roles as Programming Board officers.

Fraternity & Sorority Life (FSL) Chapter Leadership Training – each organization must
send all new executive board members to a training each semester to learn important
information about office expectations and policies/procedures.
FSL Advisor Trainings – voluntary trainings for new FSL faculty/staff and alumni advisors
hosted each semester to educate advisors on important information about office
expectations and policies/procedures.
FSL Greeking Responsibly Workshop - a proactive and preventative educational
workshop for students that educates them on how to handle and deal with incidents
involving alcohol, hazing, and drug use. This workshop is required for any student that is
interested in joining a fraternity or sorority. 
HPT National Hazing Prevention Week – a week of events that raises awareness about
the problem of hazing, educates students and staff about hazing, and promotes the
prevention of hazing on campus. Some of the events are required for FSL organizations
to attend. 
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Anti-Hazing Module – a module required of all new students to learn about the dangers
of hazing. Any student, regardless of year, is required to complete this on-line module in
order to be eligible to join a fraternity or sorority. 

Student Care Services staff may be a resource for students, faculty, and staff. Staff
members are trained to identify and refer individual’s resources or report a matter the
appropriate office.
Student Care Services attended some faculty department trainings with the OIEC.

Developed and delivered training for residential housing resident assistant staff on
implicit bias, protected-class harassment, and inclusion. 
Implemented Ethical Leadership opening training sessions for the Annual iLEAD
Summit.

 The FGCU community, including consumers of services, are made aware of the
compliance and ethical responsibilities regarding Counseling and Wellness Services
(CWS) through policy statements, signed release requirements, informed consent,
website information and social media. Potential breaches of ethical practice including
concerns for privacy and confidentiality are addressed with responsible parties in the
University community.   
Staff members are required to achieve continuing education units which address laws,
compliance and ethics to maintain licensure. Compliance is assured through regular
supervision, performance reviews and training. The victim advocate attends the
quarterly Sexual Assault Response Team meeting, Victim Advocacy meeting held by the
State Attorney’s Office, and meets continuing education requirements to retain Victim
Services Practitioner certification.

Emergency Management participates in the State University System (SUS) Emergency
Managers Monthly Conference Call. 
Provides annual training for individuals and departments responsible for Emergency
Shelter Management and for Emergency Shelter Volunteers in coordination with Lee
County Emergency Management.
The director is actively training for the Florida Emergency Preparedness Association
(FEPA) Emergency Manager Certification. 
Manages the FGCU Community Emergency Response Team (CERT) – to maintain a
group of volunteers trained to Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) IS-317
standards.
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Assists departments with advice regarding creation or updates to Continuity of
Operations Plans, Building Evacuation Plans and other areas related to emergency
mitigation, preparedness, response, and recovery.

Environmental Health & Safety (EH&S) - Safety Training – The Florida Department of
Financial Services (DFS), through the State Loss Prevention Standard 15, requires initial
basic safety training to be incorporated in New Employee Orientation and additional
training for high risk exposures in accordance with safety industry best management
practices.
Safety Training is also required by several state and federal regulations for the handling
of certain materials, including Bloodborne Pathogens and Biohazardous Waste (Code of
Federal Regulations – CFR 29 part 1910.1030 and FAC 64E-16); Radioactive materials,
radiation producing instruments, and Class 3 or 4 Lasers (FAC 64E-5); Recombinant
Biologicals (NIH Guidelines, 29 CFR 1910); Hazardous waste (40 CFR 260-273); Shipping
and Handling of Hazardous Materials (49 CFR); numerous codes and standards of the
National Fire Protection Association, and many others from 29 CFR 1910.
EH&S makes basic and specific hazard safety training easily accessible for all students,
faculty, and staff through the Canvas Learning Management System and through in-
person, live training, and smaller group meetings, as needed.
EH&S also provides annual refresher training and training specific to various activities
on campus (e.g., laboratories, physical plant personnel, campus naturalists, Athletics
Trainers, etc.).
EH&S Members sometimes attend professional conferences and training symposia in
order to ensure compliance, including those for: University Risk Management and
Insurance Association (URMIA); Campus Safety, Health, and Environmental Management
Association (CSHEMA); American Society of Safety Professionals (ASSP); Alliance of
Hazardous Materials Professionals (AHMP); American Biological Safety Association
(ABSA); Centers for Disease Control (CDC); National and Florida Chapter of the Health
Physics Society (HPS); Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA); and the
Governor’s Hurricane Conference.

Finance and Accounting required annual PowerPoint training and certification on
Payment Card Industry (PCI) Data Security Standard (DSS) compliance for employees
handling credit cards.
Required online tutorial to new employees on responsibilities for handling and
safeguarding University property.
Required Marketplace Reconciliation training for employees who manage departmental
Marketplace stores.
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Required Inventory and Property Manager training for Property Managers on how to
purchase, transfer, and dispose assets, and the property inventory process.
Required Payroll Liaison training for new Payroll Liaisons, and available for current
Payroll Liaisons, on payroll IDs, the payroll calendar, payroll policies and payroll
certification process.
Offered new employee training on payroll guidelines.

Office of Financial Aid & Scholarships provides compliance information on the office
webpage under consumer information.  The Director of Financial Aid presents financial
aid regulatory briefings to important campus partners including but not limited to
Faculty Senate, University Advising Services, Student Government and others. 
Members of the Office of Financial Aid & Scholarships office attend regular conferences
on Financial Aid compliance.  These include the Federal Student Aid Annual Conference,
Florida Association of Financial Aid Administrators Annual Conference, National
Association of Financial Aid Administrators Annual Conference and Elucian Live Annual
Conference.
All members of the Financial Aid & Scholarships Office receive compliance training via
online webinars and in-person training on a regular basis.

Over the course of each fiscal year, the Office of the General Counsel regularly conducts
training in collaboration with other departments on a wide range of subject matters to
ensure the University community is educated and understands their compliance
obligations. Such matters include the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA)
and Florida’s sunshine laws (records and meetings) and related exemptions, and
records retention. These trainings may be offered broadly to all members of the
University community or in a more intimate setting usually referred to as “Coffee with
the Counsels.”
The Office of the General Counsel has participated in trainings offered by the Society of
Compliance and Ethics and the General Counsel/Vice President is a Certified
Compliance and Ethics Professional.
The Office of the General Counsel participates in trainings offered by the National
Association of College and University Attorneys on a variety of subject matters in higher
education, also inviting various members of the University community to participate in
such trainings as well.
The Office of the General Counsel maintains an open-door policy to ensure access to
anyone seeking assistance.
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The Assistant Vice President, Human Resources is the chief negotiator and contract
administrator of the Gulf Coast Police Benevolent Association as well as serves on the
bargaining team for the United Faculty of Florida (UFF) and maintained compliance with
the respective collective bargaining agreements. 
New Employee Orientation (NEO) is presented twice each month for new hires.  During
the presentation, employees learn about the Florida State Sunshine Laws, the Non-
Discrimination, Anti-Harassment, and Sexual Misconduct Regulation, and the Code of
Conduct. 
The 5-STAR Academy is an extension of the New Employee Orientation (NEO) program
with a focus on employee success.  The program was designed to support new hires by
providing five different touch points in their early career at FGCU.  The program kicks off
with the New Employee Orientation (NEO) as session one. Within the first 90 days of
employment each new hire will attend three additional sessions culminating with
session five, the 5-STAR completion ceremony. An invitation will be sent to all new hires
that have completed the program and their immediate supervisor.  At the ceremony the
new hires will be recognized for their achievement and receive a certificate of
completion. Each of the 5-STAR sessions include participation from various departments
on campus that provide resources and information regarding services for employees
and information to assist our students on campus.  These departments include
University Police Department , Office of Institutional Equity & Compliance, Information
Technology Services, Library Services, Athletics, and Environmental Health & Safety.
The Classification and Compensation function has been given the responsibility to
create a structured classification system for staff and administrative employees.  The
objective of a structured classification system is to provide consistency, equity and
transparency across divisions and departments. In addition, it will serve to support
career progression and promotional opportunities.
Human Resources offered two Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) training sessions
with each having a specific target audience, one for staff and faculty and the other is
focused on training the supervisor.
Ethics Training continues to be mandatory training for employees as part of the annual
performance review process. 
Human Resources presents a Recruitment 101 search training session for every search
committee and panel. During the training, employees learn the necessary information to
ensure that the committee or panel conducts an ethical search that is compliant with all
laws, statutes, regulations, and policies.

Human Resources
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FGCU has purchased the Workday learning management system module which will
allow us to develop, deliver, and track all mandated and developmental employee
training such as Secured Data, Records Retention, Workplace Safety, Ethics, and Sexual
Harassment, to name only a few. This learning management system will enable the
University to electronically deliver required training to all current employees, as well as
track completion and conduct follow up. This will ensure all employees are receiving
training on compliance responsibilities, regulatory obligations, and ethics.

Security awareness training is provided in an on-demand format using Canvas, FGCU’s
online learning platform. New employees are enrolled in Get Secure On-Demand within
30 days of their start date; others may register for the class as desired. 
In 2019, 2119 employees were enrolled in Get Secure On-Demand, of which 626
accepted the course invitation. Of those 626 employees, 334 completed at least part of
the course, and 243 completed the entire course.
All new employees complete “Get Secure” training as part of their New Employee
Orientation (NEO) program during the first week of employment.  This Canvas training
course instructs employees on how to protect their personal data, including credit
cards, social security numbers, and other personally identifiable information.

The Office of Internal Audit is required to receive Internal Control training.
Consulting services are offered if requested by different departments.
Various staff members hold several certifications relating to internal audit.

International Services office staff participated in periodic trainings and workshops
related to compliance matters required by the University or related to designated
position responsibilities.
International students and scholars are informed of immigration requirements through
pre- and post-arrival information, mandatory arrival orientation, document processing,
periodic information sessions for on and off-campus employment, tax reporting
requirements, and maintenance of status. Athletic staff, academic advisors, campus
hiring officials, faculty sponsors, Office of the General Counsel and Human Resources
are consulted on international student and scholar employment policy, academic
enrollment requirements, practical training opportunities and maintenance of
immigration status. Relevant documents, forms, policies and procedures are available
on the department website to inform and guide our clients with immigration
requirements and other resources supporting University international education
initiatives.

 
Information Technology Services

 
Internal Audit

 
International Services

 

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA

89



212019 Annual Compliance Report

USRS N ASIA

Periodic training was conducted for University departments and personnel on
immigration compliance matters. The University’s authorized immigration officials
complete government training and periodic professional training on immigration
regulations and reporting compliance.
Study abroad faculty leader training includes applicability of FERPA, Clery Act, and Title IX
during their programs. Department staff attended professional conferences or webinars
related to compliance in their specific duties (immigration, education abroad and other
government regulations) as budget and time permit.

Year-end training is conducted on an annual basis to ensure compliance with
established policies and procedures. P-Card training is given on an as needed basis to
ensure compliance with established policies and procedures. Prior to a physical issue of
a P-Card, Procurement Services requires the card holder to submit a policy
authorization form. Each holder must also attend an individualized training/orientation.
Each card holder is also given a P-Card handbook for reference. Additionally, each P-
Card designated reconciler receives initial training and periodic training when policies or
procedures change. 
Procurement training is conducted on an as needed basis to ensure compliance with
established policies and procedures. These are held for new employees who have
procurement responsibilities, and also refresher training for staff members who do not
work with procurement services often. 
Semi-annual contract training in conjunction with General Counsel is conducted to
ensure compliance with established policies and procedures regarding contracts. This is
for all faculty and staff to assist them in understanding their responsibilities when
contracting for goods and/or services.         
Monthly travel training is given to ensure compliance with established policies and
procedures. These are held for new employees who assist with travel requests and
expenditure reports. Refresher training is also offered for staff members who do not
travel often.

Office of Research and Sponsored Programs (ORSP) offers trainings and workshops to
faculty and staff throughout the year that discuss Uniform Guidance updates and
compliance issues.
ORSP staff attend and complete all FGCU required ethics and compliance trainings.
ORSP staff attend at least one national or regional conference per year to expand and
increase their knowledge with regard to research compliance and federal rules/laws.
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ORSP’s Research Compliance Coordinator is certified in Export Compliance (Export
Compliance Training Institute – US International Traffic in Arms Regulations (ITAR) and
US Export Administration Regulations (EAR). The trainings attended for 2019 were:

Society of Corporate Compliance and Ethics (SCCE) – June 9th to 12th, 2019 
Export Compliance Training Institute (ECTI) – October 14th to 17th, 2019 
Public Responsibility in Medicine and Research (PRIM&R) – November 17, 2019

At the beginning of each fiscal year, an email is sent to Department Records Custodians
to ensure the list of custodians is current. Department Records Custodians are
periodically sent information regarding changes to records retention schedules,
trainings, etc. 
The Records Management department conducted over 25 training sessions with
individuals or individual departments to ensure their understanding and compliance
with records management policies, procedures and practices. 
The Records Management department presented at two “Operating in the Sunshine”
trainings hosted by The Office of General Counsel on October 22nd and 24th, 2019. The
training focused on the appropriate procedures relating to records management,
retention, and destruction.
The Manager for Records Management attended a Records Management Training
Program hosted by the Division of Library and Information Services Bureau of Archives
and Records Management on Thursday, August 29, 2019 for information related to
records management practices, hot topics and trends.

Held Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) training workshops for faculty
and staff with the Office of the General Counsel. In conjunction with Information
Technology Services, implemented FERPA training requirements for staff prior to
granting Banner access to student module.  
Met with State Approving Agency (SAA) for a review of Veteran Educational
requirements and updates. Also, participated in webinars to keep abreast of ongoing
Veteran's Affairs (VA) changes.

The Annual Safety Report was issued by October 1st, 2019 and a link to the report was
emailed to all faculty and staff. The 2018 report had been revised and re-released on
March 15, 2019 after a technical review from the U.S. Department of Education.
University Police Department assisted in creating Active Shooter required training for
faculty/staff and new students.
Sworn personnel take online anti-biased based profiling & de-escalation training
annually.
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3. POLICY REVIEW & DEVELOPMENT
 

The Office of Institutional Equity & Compliance (OIEC) started the process to reevaluate
the consensual relationship policy by conducting research of State University System
(SUS) and other comparator schools and their consensual relationship policies.
The OIEC is also evaluating changes to the Non-Discrimination, Anti-Harassment, and
Sexual Misconduct policy to create a work plan if the Title IX changes are made on the
federal level.

Ensures policies and procedures reflect FGCU’s commitment to ethical conduct and
compliance through the vetting process that ultimately is closely examined by the Office
of Institutional Equity & Compliance and the Office of the General Counsel.

Student Government review of Documents – a committee of staff and students
conducted an in-depth review of multiple Student Government documents, including
the Student Government Constitution, Student Government Election Code, Executive
Rules and Procedures, Judicial Rules and Procedures, Senate Rules and Procedures, and
the Student Government Finance Code.

Fraternity & Sorority Life (FSL) Governing Councils review of Documents – Each council
executive board member and council advisors conducts an annual review of the
respective councils Constitution and Bylaws and Financial Procedures. 
FSL Manual – Professional staff members, select chapter advisors, and select FSL
student leaders conducts a review of the manual to gauge whether the manual is clear,
readable, and comprehensive.

Policy review and development is a continuous process in all services of Counseling and
Wellness Services (CWS). Regular supervision and staff meetings are held which includes
this purpose if needed.  
Policy and procedure documents are reviewed on an annual basis and updated if
necessary. 
The Office of the General Counsel is consulted as needed to ensure appropriate
wording and compliance with laws and regulations that might fall outside the scope of
expertise or areas of practice for CWS staff.
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Emergency Management reviews and suggests revisions for new and updated policies
and regulations covering aspects that may include preparing for, mitigating, responding
to and recovering from emergencies per Florida BOG 3.001.

Environmental Health & Safety (EH&S) members frequently work with the Office of the
General Counsel, Procurement Services, and others to develop policies and procedures
to protect the University from unnecessary liability.
EH&S is implementing a document control system to address Americans with
Disabilities Act (ADA) compliance for the new website design, to assist with timely review
of all documents, and to ensure only the latest revision of documents are in circulation.

Finance and Accounting conducts annual review of controller’s procedures to update
processes and regulations.

The Associate Director of Financial Aid & Scholarships has the responsibility of ensuring
policies and procedures reflect FGCU’s commitment to ethical conduct and compliance.
Policies and procedures are reviewed annually and as needed when Federal, State or
Institutional polices are created or changed. University webpages and the Financial Aid
policies and procedures manual are updated accordingly.

Foundation conducts ongoing review of procedures to update for changes in processes.

Periodically, the Office of the General Counsel reviews the policies and regulations
governing University operations and conduct to determine if they need updating, either
because of changes in the law, a recurrence of non-compliant behavior, or because of
thoughts and concerns expressed by the department managing the policy.
The Office of the General Counsel stays attuned to the issues within higher education
(statewide and nationally) so that the University has policies and regulations in place to
address compliance with the myriad of laws effecting higher education.
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Graduate Studies has policies, guidelines, and procedures for graduate students
pertaining to graduate admissions, exceptions, students with disabilities, enrollment,
student status, transfer credits, appeals, combined bachelor’s-master’s programs,
Florida residency classification, international student, graduate assistantships and
scholarship and intellectual property.
Graduate Studies also provides guidelines on Graduate Faculty appointment functions.
The review process of policies and guidelines is conducted in collaboration with the
graduate programs, Faculty Senate’s Graduate Affairs Team and Graduate Curriculum
Team as required and any changes or modifications must be approved by the Graduate
Studies Dean, and University Provost accordingly.

The Office of Human Resources collaborates with the Office of the General Counsel
concerning policy development and implementation on issues affecting ethics and
compliance.   
The Office of Human Resources works closely with the International Services Office and
the Office of the General Counsel with all visa types, specifically student F-1 visa status
to ensure federal compliance.
The 403b plan document was updated in December 2019 to include new requirements
passed by the Federal Government under the Bipartisan Budget Act. The main change
to the plan document is to eliminate the six month deferral suspension requirement
after an employee takes a hardship distribution from their 403b account. 
The Special Leave Policy 3.028 was updated to include the use of sick leave to
supplement Bereavement time at the supervisor discretion. Also, the Florida Disaster
Volunteer leave includes leave for the Community Emergency Response Team. 
Human Resources in conjunction with the Office of the General Counsel updated the
Sick Leave Policy 3.034. Employees hired on or prior to September 30, 2013 may donate
a portion of their sick leave not to exceed 80 hours to a specific eligible employee. 
The Criminal Background Checks policy was updated to outline the protocols to be
utilized in conducting criminal background checks.
The Appeal of Disciplinary Actions Policy was created to provide a fair, efficient, and
equitable formal process for an employee to appeal a proposed disciplinary action.
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Information Technology Services (ITS) partners with the Office of the Controller to
ensure compliance with the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards (PCI DSS).
The PCI DSS defines standards for security policies, technologies and processes that
protect payment systems from breaches and theft of cardholder data.  The annual
assessment process is started in January of each year, and a kickoff meeting is held to
review any updates to the PCI standards, and any changes to our payment processing
technologies. Additional meetings are scheduled as needed to review and complete the
applicable PCI DSS Self-Assessment Questionnaire no later than the end of June. The
PCI standards require documentation and periodic review of policies and procedures
related to the protection of cardholder data.  The FGCU “Restricted Data Policy” and
“Acceptable Use Policy” are two key policies that are reviewed at least every 12 months
as part of the annual assessment.

Guidelines for faculty led study abroad programs are generally reviewed annually.
Protocols related to immigration regulations are reviewed as needed, particularly to
remain compliant with any new government regulatory or practice changes. New
policies are developed in response to identified needs, such as through audits, program
reviews or best practice recommendations.

Procurement policies and procedures are reviewed annually. They are updated as
needed when the Board of Governors or State of Florida Legislature develop new
mandates.

All policies with regard to research and sponsored programs are reviewed and
approved by the Office of the General Counsel before official implementation.
All policies and guidelines are reviewed annually and updated as needed to reflect
current state and federal regulations/laws.

Proper Records Management procedures are provided to all new employees as part of
their new employee orientation.
Records Management Policy 3.032 provides information to all employees regarding
conduct and compliance with applicable Records Management laws and regulations.
Restricted Data Policy 3.042 provides information to all employees regarding the
standards for use, storage, access, printing, and transmission of restricted data
(records).
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Reviews third party access with students when they wish to submit “Request to Prevent
Disclosure of Directory Information” form and the “Authorization to Release Information
to a Third Party” form.  
In conjunction with Office of Academic and Curriculum Support, updated and published
the following in the Undergraduate Catalog:  Excess Credit Hour Surcharge procedures,
Grade Forgiveness rules, 3/2 withdrawal limit, and withdrawal procedures guidelines as
well as the Veteran Educational Benefits requirements.

The University Police Department performs department accreditation maintenance and
review of General Orders and Policies (annually proofs with 3-year on-site, next on-site
for re-accreditation scheduled April 2020).
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4. Government Reporting & Regulatory Activities

The Office of Institutional Equity & Compliance (OIEC) compiles the Compliance Report,
the Affirmative Action Plan, and the Equity Report for the University. These reports are
approved by the Board of Trustees and sent to the Board of Governors.
Members are required reporters for Clery Act reporting.

Student Body President serves as member of the Board of Trustees and provides a
standing report at each meeting on behalf of the student body
The Student Body President serves as the Chair of the Florida Student Association and
Student Representative on the Florida State University System Board of Governors. A
standing report is provided at each meeting on behalf of the Florida Student Association
and the student bodies of each institution within the Florida State University System.

Counseling and Psychological Services (CAPS) is an American Psychological Association
(APA) approved internship site. The recruitment, supervision and training of interns
follow all guidelines and requires annual reports for the maintenance of this program
approval. CAPS also has International Association for the Accreditation of Counseling
Services (IACS) approval and makes annual reports of all facets of compliance for this
approval.

Emergency Management annually submits the Continuity of Operations Plan to the
Florida Division of Emergency Management.

Chemical Facility Anti-Terrorism Standards (CFATS) Act – from Title 6 of the Code of
Federal Regulations (CFR) – also requires reporting of certain chemicals to the
Department of Homeland Security, if they are stored in large quantities, per the
Chemicals of Interest (COI) list. To date, FGCU remains below the regulatory levels,
however, we have registered our facility with the Department of Homeland Security.
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Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) – required by the US EPA in Title 40 of
the Code of Federal Regulations parts 260-273, and Florida Administrative Code (FAC)
Chapter 62-730 - are the public laws that create the framework for the proper
management of hazardous and non-hazardous solid waste. Environmental Health &
Safety (EH&S) oversees the control and documentation of the processes required for
compliance with these complicated regulations. By understanding these requirements,
and minimizing our wastes wherever possible, and despite the constant growth of the
University, we have maintained the official designation as a Very Small Quantity
Generator (VSQG) of hazardous wastes (formerly CESQG) since our inception. Waste
manifests are completed for all shipments. FGCU is subject to compliance inspections by
the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) or Florida Department of Environmental
Protection at any time.
Tier II Report – Mandated by Section 312 of the Emergency Planning and Community
Right-To-Know Act (EPCRA) of Title 40 of the Code of Federal Regulations – the Tier II
report captures information regarding the types, quantities and locations of hazardous
chemicals at a given facility, so that information is available to emergency responders in
the event of an emergency incident. EH&S submits the annual report, due by March 1st
of each year, to the State of Florida Department of Environmental Protection. This report
primarily captures chemicals stored at a facility in large quantities. For FGCU, these
include the gasoline and diesel fuel stored on campus, and the chemicals stored and
used for water treatment for the Chiller Plants.
Spill Prevention, Control and Countermeasure (SPCC) and the Facility Response Plan
(FRP) rules – required by the United States EPA in Title 40 of the Code of Federal
Regulations Part 112 - are federal regulations to help facilities to prevent a discharge of
oil to navigable waters or adjoining shorelines. This plan for FGCU pertains to petroleum
products, including the oil, gasoline, and diesel fuel present on campus, in above-ground
storage tanks, generators, elevators, fire pumps, and transformers. EH&S oversees the
measures implemented to prevent the discharge of potential contaminants onto FGCU
property, which is the center of a watershed leading to the Estero Bay and the Gulf of
Mexico.
Florida Department of Health, Bureau of Radiation Control Inspections – As required by
64E-5, Florida Administrative Code, Department of Health Bureau of Radiation Control
inspectors perform detailed audit/inspections of the Radiation Safety program at FGCU
every three years. EH&S provides oversight of the administrative controls and provisions
relating to organization and management, procedures, record keeping, material control
and accounting, and management review that are necessary to assure safe operations
with radioactive materials and machines, and ensure compliance with the Department of
Health license and regulations.
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Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) Compliance Report – is regulated under
the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) in Title 40 of the Code of
Federal Regulations (40 CFR) in Part 122. The General Permit was granted to FGCU
October 10, 2016 to protect the water quality of our watershed and receiving waters.
EH&S submits the annual report, due by April 9th each year, to the State of Florida
Department of Environmental Protection (FL DEP). The report exhibits how FGCU
implements Best Management Practices (BMPs), including educating/training our
students, faculty, and staff; involving campus interest groups in Campus clean-up
events; and developing and maintaining a map and GIS Coordinates to facilitate the
campus storm sewer system inspections. In addition, we created a webpage to expand
our public outreach, and to encourage assistance to prevent illicit discharges to our
system. We involved many students in creating public announcements and educating
our campus community on the importance of keeping the stormwater drain systems
clean and free of debris.
Florida Department of Health Inspections – As required by 64E-16, FAC, DOH inspectors
also perform annual inspections of the Biomedical Waste program at FGCU. EH&S
provides oversight of sanitary practices and documentation relating to the management
of biomedical waste, including segregation, handling, labeling, storage, transport, and
disposal of any biological, biohazardous, or biomedical waste produced, including
sharps, from laboratories, clinics, and other areas on campus.
Inspections: Internal – Per 284.50, F.S., EH&S conducts facility, equipment, and process
inspections with area personnel to promote safety awareness, maintain safe
environments, and ensure compliance with regulatory requirements.
Workers Compensation – Per Section 284.50, Florida Statutes (F.S.), the Assistant
Director of EH&S serves as the Safety Coordinator (SC), who investigates and
documents all work-related accidents, reviews and reports claim data, identifies trends,
and works with EH&S personnel to provide regular employee safety training and
consultations.
Workplace Hazards – Per 284.50, F.S., each agency must have a process in place for
reporting hazards. When workplace hazards or hazards on state grounds or premise
with public access are identified, the unit safety representative documents the hazard,
implements appropriate corrective actions, and reports to the Safety Coordinator.
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Finance and Accounting submitted the following government forms:
Submission of Form 941 to Internal Revenue Service (IRS) for quarterly payroll
reporting.
Submission of Form W-2s to Social Security Administration (SSA) for annual wage
reporting.
Submission of Form 990T to IRS for annual unrelated business income reporting.
Submission of Form 1099-MISC to IRS for vendor payments.
Submission of Form 1042 to IRS for non-resident alien payments.
Submission of Form 1098-T to IRS for student qualified tuition and scholarship
payments.
Submission of monthly sales tax report to the Florida Department of Revenue.
Submission of Annual Operating Data for posting to Electronic Municipal Market
Access for compliance with debt covenants.

The Office of Financial Aid & Scholarships complies with all reporting requirements from
the Federal Department of Education and the Florida Department of Education.  The
office works with the Office of Planning & Institutional Performance to provide these
reports, and any requested data, to these agencies.

Foundation submitted the following:
Submission of Form 1099-MISC to IRS for vendor payments.
990 and 990-T Federal tax return.
9.012 Disclosure of Gifts from Foreign
Governments and Persons.  
Florida Office of Insurance Regulation - Donor Annuity Sworn Statement

The Graduate Studies office conducts quarterly quality control review reports of the
employees use of the DAVID system (Driver and Vehicle Information System) following
guidelines by the Office of Internal Audit.
The Graduate Studies office prepares and submits the Survey of Graduate Students and
Post doctorates data to the National Science Foundation (NSF) and the National
Institutes of health (NIH) with the assistance of the Office of Institutional Research.

Internal Audit submits an annual report, summarizing the activities of the office for the
preceding fiscal year, that goes to the Board of Trustees and the Board of Governors.

Finance and Accounting

 
Office of Financial Aid & Scholarships

 
Foundation

 
Graduate Studies

 
Internal Audit
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All immigration processes are performed under authorization from Department of
Homeland Security and U.S. Department of State. Both entities require on-going
reporting, monitoring, and tracking of international students and scholars as well as
annual reports, program re-certification, program re-designation, designated school
official verification, field representative visits and reviews, submitting and processing
immigration benefit petitions for students and scholars, and response to government
requests for information. Annual reports are submitted to the Exchange Visitor
Program.
All incoming J-1 scholars and J-1 interns are screened for export control. Faculty Led
Study Abroad faculty leaders complete an Export Control form with the travel
authorization request. 
All international students and scholars comply with health insurance coverage as
mandated by the U.S. Department of State and the State of Florida.

Procurement Services reports spend and savings to the Board of Governors on a
quarterly basis.
 Staff members within Procurement Services, who have purchasing authority, complete
a Financial Disclosure on an annual basis and send it to the State Board on Ethics.

 Office of Research and Sponsored Programs (ORSP) completes the National Science
Foundation (NSF) Higher Education Research and Development Survey due each year in
January on behalf of FGCU.
ORSP completes the NSF Research Space Survey due every other year, the latest in
December 2019.
ORSP submits Federal Financial Reports for all Federally Sponsored Projects as required
on a quarterly or annual basis.

An annual Records Management Compliance Statement is submitted to the Department
of State. The Compliance Statement requires acknowledgement and compliance with
Florida Statutes, a record for the volume of paper shredded, and a statement of
participation in electronic disposal of records.

The University Police Department submitted the following: Hate Crime and Cargo
Crimes monthly to Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE), Civil Asset Forfeiture
Report to FDLE annually (December 2019), and Wireless Communication While Driving
Violations annually (new law, first submission- January 2020).

International Services
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5. Clery, VAWA, and Title IX

The Office of Institutional Equity & Compliance (OIEC) oversees Title IX Compliance for
the University and houses the Title IX Coordinators. The OIEC also oversees the
presidentially appointed Title IX Committee.
The OIEC investigates complaints of sexual harassment under Title IX and the
corresponding University regulation and policy.
Each new employee (including part-time and student employees) must attend an in-
person sexual harassment prevention training within their first 90 days of employment.
Within the sexual harassment prevention training are specific instructions about what
constitutes a Title IX violation (sex discrimination, sex harassment, stalking, intimate
partner violence, assault), as well as the reporting requirements for all employees, and
an overview of Regulation FGCUPR-1.003 and its corresponding Policy 1.006 (Policies
that speak directly to prohibition of sex discrimination) and Consensual Relationship
Policy 1.007. After the in-person training, every employee is required to complete an
annual refresher course (online or in person) on issues of discrimination and
harassment.
The OIEC attends the faculty retreats every year to refresh faculty on responsible
reporter training and Title IX. All employees are mandatory reporters except, Counseling
and Psychological Services, Student Health Services, and the Confidential Victim's
Advocate.
The OIEC presents on Title IX specifically at every new student orientation (First Time in
College, Transfer, and some graduate programs). The OIEC covers intimate partner
violence, stalking, assault, consent issues, sexual exploitation, and the sexual
misconduct policy. 
The OIEC tables once a month during the fall and spring semesters. There, students and
employees are quizzed on their knowledge of Title IX related topics. This is sometimes
combined with events (PRIDE Week or the Its On Us campaign).
Annually the OIEC has a Domestic Violence Awareness speaker in October, and a Sexual
Assault Awareness speaker in April. This is open to the entire campus community. 
The OIEC partnered with Prevention & Wellness to share facts about Policy 1.006 for
their Celebrity Cash Cab program. 
The OIEC reports to the University Police Department as directed under Clery and the
Violence Against Women Act (VAWA).

The Victim Advocate serves on the Title IX committee and follows all laws and
regulations, including informed consent and Release of Information requirements.

Office of Institutional Equity & Compliance

 
Counseling and Wellness Services
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Emergency Management manages the Emergency Alert Systems Test each semester.
This ensures compliance with Clery Act for the nine systems included in the test.

The Clery Act requires institutions of higher education that receive federal financial aid
to report statistics on specified crimes on or near college campuses and to provide
other safety and crime information to members of the campus community.  The Office
of Financial Aid & Scholarships works with campus partners, including the University
Police Department, to disclose this information to the community and report it to the
Department of Education.

International Services informs the study abroad program faculty leaders that their
programs are subject to Title IX and Clery Act compliance and incidents related to these
in our study abroad programs must be reported.
Title IX information is presented during international student orientation.

The University Police Department (UPD) completes online data submission to U.S.
Department of Education for Clery and VAWA compliance. Data is collected and
assembled from around campus.
UPD completes Annual Safety Report and conducts Campus Safety Authority training.
UPD stays current through webinars and updates at State University System Chiefs
meetings twice each year held at Florida Police Chief Association conferences.
All Faculty and Staff receive Campus Safety Authority (CSA) training annually. 2019 CSA
PowerPoint presentation was sent to all on January 25th, 2019.

Emergency Management
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6. Conflict of Interest & Commitment

The Office of Institutional Equity & Compliance (OIEC) is charged with ensuring
compliance with the University’s Consensual Relationship Policy 1.007. The OIEC must
sign off on every equal opportunity waiver of advertising per University Policy 1.009. 
In collaboration with Internal Audit and Human Resources, the OIEC reviews
documentation about potential conflicts of interest under the FGCU Code of Conduct
and Outside Employment Activity Approvals.

Environmental Health & Safety (EH&S) members conduct Fire/Life Safety Inspections
and Laboratory/Studio/Shop/Special Hazard area inspections according to standard
checklists used in all areas. Identical standards are required for all areas and personnel
working in those areas.
EH&S members serve as consultants and available resources in a large variety of issues
for many/most departments on campus.

FGCU Foundation Board members annually complete a Conflict of Interest form.
FGCU Financing Corp. members also complete a Conflict of Interest form annually.

The Office of Human Resources ensures that hiring practices adheres to University
policy concerning nepotism, protocol regarding outside activity, and other forms of
conflicts of interest in employment.

The Office of Internal Audit is in charge of evaluating potential contractor conflict of
interest.

Procurement Services staff cannot accept money, loans, credits, entertainment, favors,
services or gifts from current or prospective suppliers. Procurement Services staff must
report any outside interests that may lead to bias or impropriety. 
FGCU Regulation FGCU-PR6.016, Purchase of Commodities or Contractual Services
states: “The individuals taking part in the development or selection of criteria for
evaluation, the evaluation process and the contract award in any purchase shall be
independent of, and have no conflict of interest in, the entities evaluated and selected.”

Office of Institutional Equity & Compliance
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A Conflict of Financial Interest Policy was approved and adopted on March 12, 2019.
All Project Directors are made aware of Conflict of Interest Policy through the Internal
Clearance Form and at the time of proposal submission.
Office of Research and Sponsored Programs (ORSP) employees are aware and
understand the requirements for reporting outside employment activities.

University Police Department Chief completes the annual Florida Commission on Ethics
Financial Disclosure Information form.

Office of Research and Sponsored Programs

 
University Police Department
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7. FGCU EthicsPoint & Investigations

The FGCU EthicsPoint Hotline is a reporting mechanism that facilitates reporting of
alleged illegal, unethical, or improper conduct when the normal channels of
communication have proven ineffective, or are impractical under the circumstances.
The EthicsPoint Hotline is available to employees and students, as well as contractors,
vendors, and members of the Southwest Florida community. While the University
encourages reporters to contact FGCU’s Chief Compliance Officer for assistance, if a
reporter is uncomfortable reporting through normal channels of communication, or
wishes to raise an issue anonymously, they can access the Hotline. The Hotline is
available 24 hours a day, 365 days a year, and is run by an independent, third party
provider called EthicsPoint. It is an anonymous Internet and telephone-based reporting
tool that allows University stakeholders to work together to address misconduct at the
University and help cultivate a positive work environment.
The EthicsPoint Hotline is accessible at the bottom of every University webpage, and is
mentioned at harassment and discrimination prevention trainings. The Office of
Institutional Equity & Compliance (OIEC) is tasked with assigning all complaints that
come through the EthicsPoint Hotline. The OIEC maintains responsibility for any
complaints that are potentially related to harassment or discrimination and other,
nonspecific compliance and ethics related complaints and concerns.
When the OIEC is tasked with investigating a complaint, the Investigator serves as a
neutral finder of fact who determines under the preponderance of the evidence
standard whether a policy violation exists. The process for investigations is laid out in
Policy 1.006.

All licensed mental health staff respond to ethical and risk situations according to
practice laws and ethics codes. Such responsibilities and required actions are followed
and consumers are made aware of laws and standards through informed consent.
Administration and other responsible parties are made aware of needs for corrective
action when ethical and legal requirements are in question.

If a questionable situation is detected during reviews of payroll and general ledger
activities, the situation is researched for supporting documentation, then taken forward
to Internal Audit and/or the Office of Institutional Equity & Compliance.

Office of Institutional Equity & Compliance
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Office of Research and Sponsored Programs (ORSP) elicits the assistance of the Grants
and Research Team (GRT) along with faculty sponsored Internal Review Board (IRB),
Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) and the Research Safety
Committee (RSC) to promote and facilitate the rights, safety and welfare of all research
and research subjects.

Office of Research and Sponsored Programs
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8. Research Compliance

The Office of Institutional Equity & Compliance (OIEC) serves to assist in investigations
brought to the attention of various Academic Affairs offices.
The OIEC is often tasked with responding to grant requests that include data about
equity and compliance.

 Academic Affairs works closely with the Office of Research and Sponsored Programs
and monitors the Institutional Review Board for research.

Counseling and Wellness Services staff follow all Office of Research and Sponsored
Programs guidelines, including Institutional Review Board and human subject rules.

Environmental Health & Safety (EH&S) trains individuals in mandatory research safety
topics such as: lab safety, biosafety, radiation safety, laser safety, bloodborne
pathogens, and Principal Investigator training, as well as safety training to individual
laboratory groups.
EH&S conducts lab inspections to ensure personnel working in research labs comply
with training and regulatory requirements.
EH&S members assist the Office of Research and Sponsored Programs by serving on
the Institutional Safety Committee, which provides regulatory oversight for any activities
involving recombinant or controlled biologicals or chemicals, radioactive materials or
instruments, lasers, or acutely hazardous wastes.
EH&S members assist the Office of Research and Sponsored Programs and Shipping
and Receiving process for Export Control for shipping packages to international and
domestic destinations. EH&S members serve as an integral step in the approval process
to ensure packaging and documentation required for shipping hazardous materials
(dangerous goods) are in compliance with federal regulations and international
standards.

Finance and Accounting established grant accounts to record financial activities and
reviewed journal vouchers prior to entry into general ledger for compliance with
University policies and procedures.

Office of Institutional Equity & Compliance
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Faculty Led Study Abroad Guidelines and proposal inform faculty leaders of their
responsibility to ensure they meet all applicable research requirements set by the
University or the host country in which they conduct research, including obtaining
permits. Faculty leaders of study abroad programs are advised to complete the Export
Control review process.

Procurement Services coordinates bi-annual training with the Office of Research and
Sponsored Programs to train Principal Investigators on procurement processes.

Office of Research and Sponsored Programs (ORSP) requires an Internal Clearance
Form from a Project Director prior to the submission of any grant proposal. This form
alerts Department Chairs, Deans and ORSP staff of any compliance concerns for a
particular project.
ORSP continues to train faculty and staff in Export Control Program/Procedures with
regard to the following:

International Travel
International Shipping
Foreign Nationals
Deemed Exports
Dual Use items
Procurement
Sponsored and Non-Sponsored Research
Human Resources

ORSP reviews and updates the research compliance policies and guidelines annually to
reflect current state and federal regulations/laws.

International Services
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9. Athletics Compliance

All new employees, coaches, coaching staff, and students are trained regarding issues of
Title IX Compliance.
The Office of Institutional Equity & Compliance (OIEC) receives the Athletics Title IX
report to review and submit to the National Collegiate Athletics Association (NCAA).

Academic Affairs has member representatives by way of a Faculty Athletics
Representative and a member on Athletics Gender Equity Committee.
Faculty must submit timely grades and progress reports on student athletes to Athletics.

The Athletics Compliance Office meets twice a week.
Athletics participates in webinars hosted by the National Collegiate Athletics Association
(NCAA) and also has monthly phone calls scheduled with the Atlantic Sun Conference
(ASUN).
A compliance calendar is reviewed frequently to maintain completion of cyclical tasks.
The Director educates the executive staff every other week and reports to the Athletic
Director and Faculty Athletics Representative on hot topics on-campus and around the
country.
Athletics maintains a culture of compliance by providing excellent customer service
(accessible and available).
Professional conferences attended on an annual basis include the National Association
of Athletics Compliance (NAAC) and NCAA Regional Rules.

Environmental Health & Safety (EH&S) conducts safety inspections of Athletics Trainers’
clinics and treatment areas to ensure compliance with regulatory requirements.
EH&S provides required annual training for athletic trainers and support personnel in
general and lab safety, biosafety, bloodborne pathogens, and biohazardous waste.
EH&S assists with the classification, removal, and disposal of a variety hazardous wastes,
which result from athletic activities.

Finance and Accounting prepared applicable reports in support of athletics annual
Equity in Athletics Disclosure Act (EADA) and NCAA reporting and Agreed Upon
Procedures.

Office of Institutional Equity & Compliance
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All new employees and students are trained regarding issues of Title IX Compliance.
The Office of Institutional Equity & Compliance (OIEC) receives the Athletics Title IX
report to review and submit to the National Collegiate Athletics Association (NCAA).

The University Police Department (UPD) provides Athletics annual memo detailing costs
of in-kind services UPD provides, mainly security at basketball games. The 2019 memo
was provided March 19th, 2019.

Office of Financial Aid & Scholarships
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      ITEM: __4__  

 
 

Florida Gulf Coast University Board of Trustees                        
Audit and Compliance Committee 

TBA 
 
 
 
SUBJECT:   Florida Gulf Coast University Operational Audit Report for 

January 2018 through December 2018   
 

 
PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
Accept the Florida Gulf Coast University Operational Audit Report for January 
2018 through December 2018 and recommend its acceptance by the FGCU 
Board of Trustees 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
In accordance with Section 11.45 Florida Statutes, the State of Florida Auditor 
General conducts operational audits at least every three years.  The purpose is 
to evaluate management's performance in establishing and maintaining internal 
controls, including controls designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste and 
abuse and in administering assigned responsibilities in accordance with 
applicable laws, rules, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other 
guidelines. The audits examine internal controls designed and placed in 
operation to promote and encourage the achievement of management's control 
objectives in the categories of compliance, economic and efficient operations, 
reliability of records and reports, and safeguarding of assets - and identify 
weaknesses in those controls. 
 
Upon acceptance of the report by the Audit and Compliance Committee, the 
Audit will be provided to the FGCU Board of Trustees for its acceptance 
consideration  
 

 
Supporting Documentation Included: Florida Gulf Coast University 
Operational Audit Report for January 2018 through December 2018 
 
Prepared by: State of Florida Auditor General Sherrill F. Norman, CPA     
 
Legal Review:  N/A   
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Submitted by: Director of Internal Audit William Foster 
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Sherrill F. Norman, CPA 

Auditor General 

Report No. 2020-120 

February 2020 
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Board of Trustees and President  

During the period January 1, 2018 through December 31, 2018, Dr. Michael V. Martin served as 

President of Florida Gulf Coast University and the following individuals served as Members of the 

Board of Trustees: 

Blake Gable, Chair from 1-9-18 a Dr. Mike McDonald c 

Robbie Roepstorff, Vice Chair from 1-9-18 J. Leo Montgomery 
J. Dudley Goodlette, Chair through 1-5-18 a Kevin Price 
Dr. Ken Smith, Vice Chair through 1-8-18 Russell Priddy through 6-20-18 b 
Ashley Coone from 9-25-18 b Stephen Smith from 1-26-18 d 

Darlene Cors Christian Spilker 
Richard Eide Jr. from 1-6-18 Jalisa White e 
Joseph Fogg III  
a Chair position vacant 1-6-18, through 1-8-18. 
b Trustee position vacant 6-21-18, through 9-24-18. 
c Faculty Senate Chair. 
d Trustee position vacant 1-1-18, through 1-25-18. 
e Student Body President. 

The team leader was Claudia A. Salgado, and the audit was supervised by Ramon L. Bover, CPA. 

Please address inquiries regarding this report to Jaime N. Hoelscher, CPA, Audit Manager, by e-mail at 

jaimehoelscher@aud.state.fl.us or by telephone at (850) 412-2868. 

This report and other reports prepared by the Auditor General are available at: 

FLAuditor.gov 

Printed copies of our reports may be requested by contacting us at: 

State of Florida Auditor General 

Claude Pepper Building, Suite G74 · 111 West Madison Street · Tallahassee, FL 32399-1450 · (850) 412-2722 
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FLORIDA GULF COAST UNIVERSITY 

SUMMARY 

This operational audit of Florida Gulf Coast (University) focused on selected University processes and 

administrative activities and included a follow-up on findings noted in our report No. 2017-064.  Our 

operational audit disclosed the following: 

Finding 1: Some unnecessary information technology user access privileges existed that increased the 

risk that unauthorized disclosure of sensitive personal employee and student information may occur.   

Finding 2: As similarly noted in our report No. 2017-064, University textbook affordability procedures 

could be improved. 

Finding 3: University records did not always evidence that, for administrative new hires, interviews were 

conducted and work experience was verified. 

BACKGROUND  

The Florida Gulf Coast University (University) is part of the State university system of public universities, 

which is under the general direction and control of the Florida Board of Governors (BOG).  The University 

is directly governed by a Board of Trustees (Trustees) consisting of 13 members.  The Governor appoints 

6 citizen members and the BOG appoints 5 citizen members.  These members are confirmed by the 

Florida Senate and serve staggered 5-year terms.  The Faculty Senate Chair and Student Body President 

also are members. 

The BOG establishes the powers and duties of the Trustees.  The Trustees are responsible for setting 

University policies, which provide governance in accordance with State law and BOG Regulations.  The 

University President is selected by the Trustees and confirmed by the BOG.  The University President 

serves as the Executive Officer and the Corporate Secretary of the Trustees and is responsible for 

administering the policies prescribed by the Trustees for the University. 

FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

Finding 1: Information Technology User Access Privileges  

The Legislature has recognized in State law1 that social security numbers (SSNs) can be used to acquire 

sensitive personal information, the release of which could result in fraud against individuals or cause 

other financial or personal harm.  Therefore, public entities are required to provide extra care in 

maintaining the confidential status of such information.  Effective controls restrict employees from 

accessing information unnecessary for their assigned functions and provide for documented, periodic 

evaluations of information technology (IT) access privileges to help prevent employees from accessing 

sensitive personal information of employees and students inconsistent with their functions.  

 
1 Section 119.071(5)(a), Florida Statutes. 
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According to University personnel and records, the University established a unique identifier, other than 

the SSN, to identify employees and students and maintained employee and student information, including 

SSNs, in the University IT system.  Pursuant to State law, the University collects and uses SSNs for 

various purposes, such as to identify and verify employees and students, process employee benefits, 

comply with Federal employee tax requirements, register newly enrolled students, and comply with 

Federal and State requirements related to financial and academic assistance.   

Student SSNs are also maintained to provide student transcripts to other universities, colleges, and 

potential employers based on student-authorized requests.  To help protect employee and student 

information from unauthorized disclosure, modification, or destruction, the University requires 

documented approval of IT user access privileges including access to employee and student SSNs based 

on a demonstrated need for such access and annual evaluations of these privileges to confirm the 

propriety of the privileges.  For prospective students who apply for entrance into the University but do not 

enroll, the University retains records containing sensitive personal information for 2 years and then 

purges the records. 

As of November 14, 2019, University personnel indicated that the IT system contained SSNs and other 

sensitive personal information for a total of 264,567 employees and students, including 4,396 current and 

former employees and 260,171 current, former, and prospective students.  According to University 

personnel, 81 employees had user access privileges to that information and the IT system did not have 

a mechanism to differentiate user access privileges to: 

 Employee information from access privileges to student information. 

 Current employee information from access privileges to former employee information.  

 Current student information from access privileges to former and prospective student information. 

 Employee and student SSNs from access to vendor tax identification numbers. 

As part of our audit procedures, we examined University records demonstrating that the security 

administrators or their designees performed periodic evaluations of IT user access privileges.  

Notwithstanding, our examination of the 81 employees’ user access privileges disclosed that 

67 employees had unnecessary access privileges primarily because the IT system could not limit user 

access privileges to only the data required for the user to perform their assigned functions.  Specifically: 

 61 employees (e.g., admission operations, financial aid and scholarship, records and registration, 
and campus life employees) had necessary IT user access privileges to student SSNs but also 
had unnecessary access to employee SSNs. 

 3 University Controller Department employees required IT user access privileges to all University 
employee SSNs, including University-employed students, for Federal tax reporting purposes.  
However, these 3 employees also had unnecessary access to the SSNs in the IT system of all 
former, current, and prospective students, including those who were not University employees. 

 3 Procurement Services Department employees had unnecessary access privileges to both 
employee and student SSNs.  While the 3 employees’ responsibilities required access to vendor 
tax identification numbers for Federal tax reporting purposes, these 3 employees did not need 
access privileges to employee or student SSNs.   
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The existence of unnecessary access privileges increases the risk of unauthorized disclosure of sensitive 

personal information and the possibility that such information is used to commit a fraud against or 

otherwise harm University employees and students.  In response to our inquiry, University personnel 

indicated in October 2019 that the University plans to replace the IT system in July 2020 with a system 

that will provide improved features and functionality and more robust security.   

Recommendation: To properly safeguard and protect employee and student sensitive personal 
information, the University should ensure that only those employees who have a demonstrated 
need to access sensitive personal information of employees and students, including SSNs, and 
vendor tax identification numbers be granted such access.  To help accomplish this, the 
University should ensure that the IT system enables the differentiation of IT user access 
privileges to: 

 Employee information from access privileges to student information. 

 Current employee information from access privileges to former employee information.  

 Current student information from access privileges to former and prospective student 
information. 

 Employee and student SSNs from vendor tax identification numbers. 

Finding 2: Textbook Affordability 

State law2 requires universities to post prominently in the course registration system and on the university 

Web site, as early as feasible, but not less than 45 days before the first day of class for each term, a 

hyperlink to lists of required and recommended textbooks and instructional materials for at least 

95 percent of all courses and course sections offered at the university during the upcoming term.   

The University contracted with the Bookstore Vendor to manage and operate the bookstore, as well as 

compile and post adopted textbooks and instructional materials in the course registration system and on 

the University Bookstore Web site.  University policies3 require that course instructors submit a list of 

required and recommended textbook and instructional materials to the Bookstore Vendor by the 

designated date4 posted in the academic calendar for each term to determine whether the items are 

available for purchase.  If available, the textbooks and instructional materials are to be posted 

simultaneously on the University course registration system and University Bookstore Web site.  

University policies also require the Provost Office to e-mail notifications to faculty members who had not 

submitted the list to the Bookstore Vendor by the designated date.   

As part of our audit procedures, we selected for examination University records for the Spring 2018 and 

Fall 2018 Semesters supporting the dates that textbook and instructional materials were posted in the 

University course registration system and on the University Bookstore Web site.  For those semesters, 

Table 1 shows the number and percentage of courses and course sections with textbook and instructional 

materials posted timely and the number with textbook and instructional materials posted late. 

 
2 Section 1004.085(5), Florida Statutes. 
3 University Policy 3.036 - Textbook Adoption and Affordability Policy. 
4 The designated dates for the Spring 2018 and Fall 2018 Semesters were October 13, 2017, and April 13, 2018, respectively, 
or 87 and 129 days before the first day of class for each term. 
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Table 1 
Textbook and Instructional Materials Postings 

Number Posted  

Spring 2018 
Course and 
Course 
Sections 

Fall 2018 
Course and 
Course 
Sections 

Timely   1,434  1,687 

Late  233  478 

Percent Timely   86%  78% 

Source: University records. 

As the University only timely posted the textbooks and instructional materials for 86 and 78 percent of 

the course and course sections for the Spring 2018 and Fall 2018 Semesters, respectively, the University 

did not comply with State law requiring such information be timely posted for at least 95 percent of the 

courses.  In response to our inquiries, University personnel indicated that untimely postings occurred 

primarily because, for several course sections, the instructors revised the materials to be used in their 

courses after the statutory required time frame for posting the information.   

The timely posting of required textbook and instructional materials information on the University course 

registration system and University Bookstore Web site is necessary for students to understand course 

textbook and instructional materials requirements, have sufficient time to consider purchase options, and 

potentially limit their textbook and instructional materials costs.  A similar finding was noted in our report 

No. 2017-064. 

Recommendation: The University should take appropriate action to comply with State law by 
posting prominently in the course registration system and on the University Bookstore Web site, 
as early as feasible, but not less than 45 days before the first day of class for each term, a 
hyperlink to lists of required and recommended textbooks and instructional materials for at least 
95 percent of all courses and course sections offered at the University during the upcoming term.  
Such action should include continued Provost Office e-mail notifications to remind faculty 
members of the statutory textbook affordability requirements. 

Finding 3: Employment Practices 

Among other things, effective employment practices require, before individuals are selected to fill 

vacancies, employers to interview suitable applicants and verify that individuals meet the position work 

experience requirements.  Employers should maintain records of the interview and verification processes 

to support hiring decisions.   

University employment practices involve, for example, completion of an interview form to document the 

interview process, including applicant responses to interviewer questions, and a reference check form to 

document verifications with former employers regarding the applicant’s previous position, length of 

employment, and performance.  After the interview and verification processes are completed, these forms 

are forwarded to the University Human Resources Department and the applicable University hiring official 

before a job offer is made to the applicant. 
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As part of our audit, we requested for examination University records supporting 28 selected 

administrative new hires from the 205 administrative new hires during the period April 2016 through 

December 2018.  Interview and reference check forms were not provided for 5 administrative new hires 

who were required to have 2 to 5 years of relevant work experience.  In response to our inquiries, 

University personnel indicated that, for those new hires, interviews were conducted and work experience 

was verified but that, due to University personnel oversights, the forms were either not completed or 

completed and not maintained.  Interview and reference check forms document information essential for 

making personnel decisions and provide assurances that individuals selected for hire meet the applicable 

job requirements.  

Recommendation: The University should enhance procedures to ensure that, before individuals 
are selected to fill position vacancies, required interview and reference check forms are 
completed.  Such documentation should be maintained in the applicable personnel files to 
support the hiring decisions. 

PRIOR AUDIT FOLLOW-UP 

The University had taken corrective actions for findings included in our report No. 2017-064, except that 

Finding 2 was also noted in our Report No. 2017-064 as Finding 1. 

OBJECTIVES, SCOPE, AND METHODOLOGY 

The Auditor General conducts operational audits of governmental entities to provide the Legislature, 

Florida’s citizens, public entity management, and other stakeholders unbiased, timely, and relevant 

information for use in promoting government accountability and stewardship and improving government 

operations. 

We conducted this operational audit from March 2019 through September 2019 in accordance with 

generally accepted government auditing standards.  Those standards require that we plan and perform 

the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and 

conclusions based on our audit objectives.  We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable 

basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. 

The objectives of this operational audit were to:   

 Evaluate management’s performance in establishing and maintaining internal controls, including 
controls designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, and abuse, and in administering assigned 
responsibilities in accordance with applicable laws, rules, regulations, contracts, grant 
agreements, and other guidelines. 

 Examine internal controls designed and placed in operation to promote and encourage the 
achievement of management’s control objectives in the categories of compliance, economic and 
efficient operations, reliability of records and reports, and safeguarding of assets, and identify 
weaknesses in those controls. 

 Determine whether management had taken corrective actions for findings included in our report 
No. 2017-064. 

 Identify statutory and fiscal changes that may be recommended to the Legislature pursuant to 
Section 11.45(7)(h), Florida Statutes. 
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This audit was designed to identify, for those programs, activities, or functions included within the scope 

of the audit, weaknesses in management’s internal controls; instances of noncompliance with applicable 

laws, rules, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other guidelines; and instances of inefficient 

or ineffective operational policies, procedures, or practices.  The focus of this audit was to identify 

problems so that they may be corrected in such a way as to improve government accountability and 

efficiency and the stewardship of management.  Professional judgment has been used in determining 

significance and audit risk and in selecting the particular transactions, legal compliance matters, records, 

and controls considered. 

As described in more detail below, for those programs, activities, and functions included within the scope 

of our audit, our audit work included, but was not limited to, communicating to management and those 

charged with governance the scope, objectives, timing, overall methodology, and reporting of our audit; 

obtaining an understanding of the program, activity, or function; exercising professional judgment in 

considering significance and audit risk in the design and execution of the research, interviews, tests, 

analyses, and other procedures included in the audit methodology; obtaining reasonable assurance of 

the overall sufficiency and appropriateness of the evidence gathered in support of our audit findings and 

conclusions; and reporting on the results of the audit as required by governing laws and auditing 

standards. 

Our audit included transactions, as well as events and conditions, occurring during the audit period of 

January 2018 through December 2018, and selected University actions taken prior and subsequent 

thereto.  Unless otherwise indicated in this report, these records and transactions were not selected with 

the intent of statistically projecting the results, although we have presented for perspective, where 

practicable, information concerning relevant population value or size and quantifications relative to the 

items selected for examination. 

An audit by its nature does not include a review of all records and actions of management, staff, and 

vendors and, as a consequence, cannot be relied upon to identify all instances of noncompliance, fraud, 

waste, abuse, or inefficiency. 

In conducting our audit, we:  

 Reviewed University information technology (IT) policies and procedures to determine whether 
the policies and procedures addressed certain important IT control functions, such as security, 
systems development and maintenance, and disaster recovery. 

 Evaluated University procedures for maintaining and reviewing employee access privileges to 
IT resources.  We examined access privileges to the IT system finance and human resources 
applications during the audit period for 15 of the 166 employees who had such access to 
determine the appropriateness and necessity of the access based on the employees’ job duties 
and the need to separate incompatible duties.   

 Evaluated University procedures that prohibit former employees’ access to University IT data and 
resources.  Specifically, we examined the access privileges for 15 former employees to determine 
whether their access privileges had been timely deactivated. 

 Evaluated University procedures for protecting sensitive personal information of employees and 
students, such as social security numbers (SSNs).  Specifically, we examined University records 
supporting the access privileges of the 81 employees who had access to SSNs during the audit 
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period to evaluate the appropriateness and necessity of the access privileges based on the 
employees’ assigned job duties.   

 Evaluated the appropriateness of the University comprehensive IT disaster recovery plan during 
the audit period and determined whether it had been recently tested.  

 Reviewed operating system, database, network, and application security settings to determine 
whether authentication controls were configured and enforced in accordance with IT best 
practices.  

 Determined whether a comprehensive IT risk assessment had been established for the audit 
period to document the University risk management and assessment processes and security 
controls intended to protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of data and IT resources.  

 Examined Board of Trustees (Trustees), committee, and advisory board meeting minutes and 
other records to determine whether Trustee approval was obtained for the University policies and 
procedures in effect during the audit period and for evidence of compliance with Sunshine Law 
requirements (i.e., proper notice of meetings, meetings readily accessible to the public, and 
properly maintained meeting minutes).   

 Examined University records for the audit period to determine whether the University informed 
students and employees at orientation and on its Web site of the existence of the Florida 
Department of Law Enforcement sexual predator and sexual offender registry Web site and the 
toll-free telephone number that gives access to sexual predator and sexual offender public 
information as required by Section 1006.695, Florida Statutes.   

 Examined University records supporting the internal audit function to determine whether the 
University followed applicable professional requirements, including assurance that peer review of 
the function had been conducted.  In addition, we determined whether the internal audit reports 
were submitted to the Trustees.   

 Examined University records to determine whether the University had developed an anti-fraud 
policy for the audit period to provide guidance to employees for communicating known or 
suspected fraud to appropriate individuals.  Also, we examined University records to determine 
whether the University had implemented appropriate and sufficient procedures to comply with its 
anti-fraud policy.   

 Examined University records supporting the 84 payments and transfers totaling $20.4 million 
made during the audit period from the University to its direct-support organizations (DSOs) to 
determine whether the transactions were as prescribed by Section 1004.28(1)(a)2. and (2), 
Florida Statutes.   

 Examined University records to determine whether the Trustees had prescribed by rule, pursuant 
to Section 1004.28(2)(b), Florida Statutes, the conditions with which the DSOs must comply in 
order to use University property, facilities, and personal services and whether the Trustees 
documented consideration and approval of anticipated property, facilities, and personal services 
provided to the DSOs and the related costs.    

 From the population of 3,832 course sections reported to the Chancellor of the State University 
System for the Spring 2018 and Fall 2018 Semesters, examined University records to determine 
whether the University textbook affordability procedures complied with Section 1004.085(5), 
Florida Statutes.   

 From the population of compensation payments totaling $107.3 million made to 4,238 employees 
during the audit period, selected payments totaling $2.2 million for 15 employees and examined 
the related payroll and personnel records to determine the accuracy of the rate of pay, the validity 
of employment contracts, whether performance evaluations were completed, the accuracy of 
leave records, and whether supervisory personnel reviewed and approved employee reports of 
time worked.   
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 For the 5 employees, including the former President, who received severance pay totaling 
$227,559 during the audit period, examined related contract provisions and other University 
records, to determine whether the severance payments complied with Section 215.425(4), 
Florida Statutes, and University policies.  Additionally, from the population of 39 employee 
contracts during the audit period, we examined severance pay provisions in 20 selected employee 
contracts to determine whether the provisions complied with Section 215.425(4), Florida Statutes.   

 From the population of 620 administrative employees (including the President) who received 
compensation totaling $18.4 million during the audit period, we examined University records 
for 20 selected employees (including the President) who received compensation totaling 
$5.6 million to determine whether the amounts paid did not exceed the limits established in 
Sections 1012.975(3) and 1012.976(2), Florida Statutes.   

 Selected 28 administrative new hires from the population of 205 administrative new hires during 
the period April 2016 through December 2018 to evaluate whether personnel records 
demonstrated that the employees had the necessary qualifications, education credentials, and 
work experience for the positions based on the applicable position descriptions. 

 Examined University records to determine whether selected expenses were reasonable; correctly 
recorded; adequately documented; for a valid University purpose; properly authorized and 
approved; in compliance with applicable laws, rules, contract terms, and University policies and 
whether applicable vendors were properly selected.  Specifically, from the population of expenses 
totaling $59.5 million for the audit period, we examined University records supporting: 

o 30 selected payments for general expenses totaling $1.5 million. 

o 21 selected payments for contractual services totaling $0.4 million. 

 From the population of 512 payments totaling $140,396 during the audit period to employees for 
other than travel and compensation, examined 30 selected payments totaling $42,395 to 
determine whether such payments were reasonable, adequately supported, for valid University 
purposes, and whether such payments were related to employees doing business with the 
University, contrary to Section 112.313(3), Florida Statutes.   

 Reviewed documentation related to two of the nine major construction projects with total 
construction costs of $1.9 million during the audit period to determine whether the University 
processes for selecting design professionals and construction managers were in accordance with 
State law; the subcontractor selection process was adequately monitored; the Trustees had 
adopted a policy establishing minimum insurance coverage requirements for design 
professionals; and design professionals provided evidence of required insurance.  In addition, we 
selected six payments totaling $1 million during the audit period for the two selected projects and 
examined University records to determine whether the payments were made in accordance with 
contract terms and conditions, University policies and procedures, and provisions of applicable 
State laws and rules.   

 Determined whether the Board complied with investment requirements established in Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes.  Also, we determined whether any investment income was properly 
allocated to the funds that generated the investment income.   

 Communicated on an interim basis with applicable officials to ensure the timely resolution of 
issues involving controls and noncompliance.   

 Performed various other auditing procedures, including analytical procedures, as necessary, to 
accomplish the objectives of the audit.   

 Prepared and submitted for management response the findings and recommendations that are 
included in this report and which describe the matters requiring corrective actions.  Management’s 
response is included in this report under the heading MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSE.   
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AUTHORITY 

Section 11.45, Florida Statutes, requires that the Auditor General conduct an operational audit of each 

University on a periodic basis.  Pursuant to the provisions of Section 11.45, Florida Statutes, I have 

directed that this report be prepared to present the results of our operational audit. 

 

Sherrill F. Norman, CPA 

Auditor General 
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSE 
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      ITEM: __5__  

 
 

Florida Gulf Coast University Board of Trustees                        
Audit and Compliance Committee 

TBA 
 
 
 
SUBJECT:   Florida Gulf Coast University Student Loan Information Audit 

Report   
 

 
PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
Accept the Florida Gulf Coast University Student Loan Information Audit Report 
and recommend its acceptance by the FGCU Board of Trustees 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
This report presents a limited scope audit of the loan information letters sent to 
FGCU students receiving student loans for the 2017-18 and 2018-19 academic 
years, to comply with Section 1009.45, Florida Statutes. 
 
Upon acceptance of the report by the Audit and Compliance Committee, a copy 
of the Audit will be provided to the FGCU Board of Trustees for its acceptance 
consideration. 
 
 

 
Supporting Documentation Included: Student Loan Information Audit Report 
dated February 28, 2020 
 
Prepared by: Director of Internal Audit William Foster    
 
Legal Review:  Vice President and General Counsel Vee Leonard  (March 10, 
2020) 
 
Submitted by: Director of Internal Audit William Foster 
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University 
Student Loan Information - Section 1009.45, Florida 

Statutes 
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Report Date: February 28, 2020 
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 STUDENT LOAN INFORMATION – SECTION 1009.45, FLORIDA 

STATUTES AUDIT 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

This Report represents a limited-scope audit of the loan information letters sent to students for 

the 2017-18 and 2018-19 academic years to comply with Section 1009.45, Florida Statutes. 

Beginning with the 2017-2018 academic year, Florida postsecondary institutions that disbursed 

state financial aid must annually provide students receiving student loans with a “loan 

summary.” Florida Gulf Coast University’s (FGCU) Office of Financial Aid & 

Scholarships entered into a service agreement with a third party, Ascendium Education Solutions 

Inc. for their “College Cost Meter” service, to provide students with a loan debt disclosure or 

overview of the total moneys that students have borrowed and the amount they are expected to 

pay back once they are no longer in school.  

In our opinion, based on the audit work performed, and our evaluation of internal controls, the 

loan information summary was provided timely to eligible FGCU students for both years under 

review. It contained all the data required by law except that, for first-time borrowers, the loan 

summary letter was missing the percentage borrowed which is one of the required elements. The 

Office of Financial Aid & Scholarships has identified and addressed this issue with the vendor 

and appropriate changes will be implemented on all future loan summary letters.  

This audit was conducted in accordance with the International Standards for the Professional 

Practice of Internal Auditing, issued by the Institute of Internal Auditors. The audit 

procedures provided a reasonable basis for our opinion and the following reportable 

observation and recommendation. 

 

OBJECTIVE 

A. Determine whether the university has at least once during the academic year, provided 

each student receiving student loans with the following up-to date information in print or 

electronic format that contains: 

▪ An estimate of the student’s total amount of borrowed student loans; 

▪ The student’s total potential loan repayment, including principal and interest, for the total 

amount of borrowed student loans; 

▪ The student’s monthly loan repayment amounts for the total amount of borrowed student 

loans at the time the institution provides the student loan information required under this 

paragraph; and, 

▪ The percentage of the borrowing limit that the student has reached at the time the 

information is provided.  
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AUDIT SCOPE – End of Fieldwork was January 30, 2020 

• Review of Section 1009.45, Florida Statutes  

• Review Office of Financial Aid & Scholarships procedures related to Section 1009.45, 

Florida Statutes 

• Review of service agreement with College Cost Meter 

• Review of enrollment files for the 2017-18 and 2018-19 academic year 

• Review of College Cost Meter’s tracking file for the 2018-19 academic year 

• Review of sample letters sent to students for the 2017-18 and 2018-19 academic years 

• Review of the National Student Loan Data System (NSLDS) data for the selected sample 

• Review of Banner – RPAAWRD screen data for selected sample 

 

BACKGROUND  

Student loans are now the second largest debt category in the U.S., trailing only mortgage debt. 

As of early 2019, total federal and private student loan debt was approximately $1.52 trillion and 

growing. Studies have shown that this level of debt may prevent borrowers from reaching 

financial goals like buying a home or starting a family. With average national student loan 

indebtedness increasing and long-term defaults on the rise, student debt has captured national 

attention in the past several years. As a result, at least thirteen states have enacted student debt 

letter legislation. In the State of Florida, effective July 1, 2017, Section 1009.45, Florida 

Statutes, requires that a postsecondary institution that disburses state financial aid shall 

provide annually to each student receiving student loans an up-to-date summary of student 

loans in print or electronic format. The term “student loans” is defined as federal loans 

disbursed to a student to pay for education related expenses. At FGCU, letters are sent 

electronically and must contain an estimate of: 

The student’s total amount of borrowed student loans. 

The student’s total potential loan repayment amount, including principal and interest, for the 

total amount of borrowed student loans. 

The student’s monthly loan repayment amounts for the total amount of borrowed student loans at 

the time the institution provides the student loan information required. 

The percentage of the borrowing limit that the student has reached at the time the information is 

provided. 
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The FGCU loan summary letter provides the federal loan information in two distinct sections:  

1. The first section displays aggregated federal loan amounts borrowed at FGCU, including 

loans in the year reported, which was obtained from the U.S. Department of Education 

National Student Loan Data System for students (NSLDS) by the vendor.  

2. The second section displays the federal aggregate loan amount the student has borrowed 

at all schools the student has attended. This was data FGCU obtained from NSLDS, then 

forwarded to the vendor; however, this section’s data did not include current year loan 

information. 

FGCU’s Office of Financial Aid & Scholarships has contracted with Ascendium Education 

Solutions Inc. for their “College Cost Meter” service to facilitate the production of this 

personalized summary for enrolled students who are currently borrowing. The notification is 

intended to increase students’ awareness of their debt and promote responsible financial 

decision-making. The debt letter is an estimate of the total indebtedness and it is not an official 

record. The estimate does not capture discharged or forgiven loan debt, repaid portion of a loan 

and/or loans accepted within the past thirty days. Disclaimer language has been incorporated to 

inform the students of this. Students are provided with alternative ways to verify this information 

such as contacting NSLDS, accessing the Federal Student Aid website, or contacting FGCU’s 

Financial Aid Office for additional guidance. Under this section of the state statute, a 

postsecondary education institution does not incur liability for providing estimated information 

in the letter.  

The Process: The Office of Financial Aid & Scholarships identifies annually the students that 

are enrolled and currently borrowing. An “enrollment file” is created that follows a specific 

format agreed between both parties. This data is extracted from the ERP Banner system. The file 

includes fields such as the student ID, email address and the individual aggregate federal loan 

data at all schools if any but excludes current FGCU year loans. This file is uploaded into the 

secured vendor’s website and it is used to populate a section of the FGCU branded loan summary 

letters. The vendor authorized by FGCU, accesses NSLDS to collect current FGCU aggregate 

loan data. Once the data is compiled, and other calculations are performed by the system (such as 

the student’s total potential loan repayment amount, and the percentage of borrowing limit) the 

vendor sends the loan summary letters to each student listed in the “enrollment file” unless 

additional information indicates that a student has paid off or cancelled the loans.  

Once the letters are sent, the vendor’s system generates a tracking file listing all successful and 

unsuccessful letters transmitted. The Office of Financial Aid & Scholarships can access a copy 

of the letters as needed by logging into the vendor’s web portal.   

Internal Audit procedures included reviewing the vendor’s agreement, related Financial Aid 

procedures and vendor documentation to ascertain the letters were distributed to students 

annually. Audit procedures included testing the data for completeness. Additionally, we 
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randomly selected a sample of 60 students, 30 students from academic year 2017-18 and 30 

students from academic year 2018-19. We reviewed the individual letters to determine if all the 

required information was included. The aggregate loan amount disbursed at FGCU and the total 

aggregate amount at all schools was verified in the ERP Banner System and in the NSLDS 

database. We tested to determine if a potential loan payoff amount including principal and 

interest, the percentage borrowed and a monthly loan repayment amount were included in the 

letters. An observation regarding first-time borrowers whose loan summary letters were missing 

the percentage borrowed is noted below.  

 OBSERVATION AND RECOMMENDATION 

 

Issue Subject: Missing percentage of the borrowing limit for first-time borrowers 

##ISEBD55E4494FD42A1A57A8CE1ABAFB829##Subject 

Condition:  During our review, we noted that for first-time borrowers, the percentage of the 

borrowing limit that the students had reached was not provided in the letters sent out, as follows:  

Academic Year Letters Sent First-Time Borrowers Relative % 

2017-18 5,759 1,598 28% 

2018-19 6,535 1,716 26% 

 

##ISEBD55E4494FD42A1A57A8CE1ABAFB829##Finding 

Criteria:  Section 1009.45, Florida Statutes, requires that the following items be part of the student 

loan summary: an estimate of the total amount of education loans, a potential loan payoff amount 

including principal and interest, a monthly loan repayment amount and the percentage of the 

borrowing limit the student has reached at the time the information is provided. 

##ISEBD55E4494FD42A1A57A8CE1ABAFB829##Background 

Cause: Since the percentage borrowed was based on total loan amounts from all schools prior to 

the current year, for students who were first-time borrowers in the current year, there was no 

percentage of borrowing limit determined for inclusion in the letter. 

##ISEBD55E4494FD42A1A57A8CE1ABAFB829##issCause 

Effect:  All items listed in Section 1009.45, Florida Statutes, must be included in the student loan 

information letters, anything less may expose the University to unnecessary risks.    

##ISEBD55E4494FD42A1A57A8CE1ABAFB829##issEffect 

Recommendation:  We recommend that the Office of Financial Aid & Scholarships review with 

the vendor the methodology and sources of data used for consistency in calculating the percentage 

borrowed for all students, as well as the other three required elements, and strengthen its efforts to 

validate the information sent to students in the debt summary letters 

##ISEBD55E4494FD42A1A57A8CE1ABAFB829##Recom 
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Management Response:  The Office of Financial Aid & Scholarships agrees with the observation 

and recommendation.  

The Office of Financial Aid & Scholarships has reviewed and enhanced the vendor (Ascendium 

Education Solutions Inc.) methodology to utilize current loan data from the National Student 

Loan Database System (NSLDS) and ensure that the percentage borrowed is included in letters 

for first-time borrowers. The Office of Financial Aid & Scholarships will be accessing all current 

and prior years loan data from NSLDS and providing it to the vendor. Initial testing has been 

successfully completed and test letters include the percentage borrowed for first-time borrowers. 

Testing will continue through the beginning of August, when actual 2019-20 debt summary 

letters will be sent, which now include all the required information. 

a) Total amount of borrowed student loans. 

b) Total potential loan repayment amount, including principal and interest, for 

the total amount of borrowed student loans. 

c) Monthly loan repayment amounts for the total amount of borrowed student 

loans at the time the institution provides the student loan information. 

d) The percentage of the borrowing limit that the student has reached at the time 

the institution provides the student loan information. 

 

Response Provided By: Brian Casey, Associate Director, Office of Financial Aid & Scholarships. 

 

Person Responsible: Brian Casey, Associate Director, Office of Financial Aid & Scholarships is 

responsible for testing, reviewing, validating and implementing this process.  

Implementation Date: The Office of Financial Aid & Scholarships has requested from the vendor 

immediate implementation of the new process for all future loan debt letters. 

 

 

 

 

Audit Performed by: Viviana Lauke, Internal Auditor II 

Audit Reviewed by: Carol Slade, Internal Auditor III  

and William D. Foster, Director, Internal Audit 
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      ITEM: __6__  

 
 

Florida Gulf Coast University Board of Trustees                        
Audit and Compliance Committee 

TBA 
 
 
 
SUBJECT:   Florida Gulf Coast University Athletics National Collegiate 

Athletic Association (NCAA) Report for Year ended June 30, 
2019   

 

 
PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
Accept the Florida Gulf Coast University Athletics National Collegiate Athletic 
Association (NCAA) Report for Year ended June 30, 2019 and recommend its 
acceptance by the FGCU Board of Trustees 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
This Report presents the results of the agreed-upon procedures for the year 
ended June 30, 2019 as required by the National Collegiate Athletic Association 
(NCAA) Bylaws for colleges and universities in Division I athletics. 
 
Upon acceptance of the report by the Audit and Compliance Committee, a copy 
will be provided to the FGCU Board of Trustees for acceptance consideration. 
 
 

 
Supporting Documentation Included: (1) Memo from Director of Internal Audit 
William Foster and (2) FGCU Athletics National Collegiate Athletic Association 
(NCAA) Report for Year ended June 30, 2019 
 
Prepared by: Tuscan and Company, PA    
 
Legal Review:  N/A   
 
Submitted by: Director of Internal Audit William Foster 
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TO:  FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee 
FROM:  William Foster, Director of Internal Audit 
SUBJECT: NCAA Agreed on Procedures Report 
DATE:  March 16, 2020 
 
Below is a summary of the key points in the NCAA Agreed on Procedures Report. The procedures 
performed are prescribed by NCAA Bylaws to present the financial activities of the Athletics Department 
and to ensure the accuracy of data submitted to the NCAA for sports sponsorship, Pell grants, and 
grants-in-aid. The NCAA also prescribes that these procedures are performed by an independent 
accountant, from outside the University.   
 
Pages 1 through 10 – Independent Accountant’s Report – The auditors describe the procedures 
performed and noted for each procedure, there were no exceptions, or the variances were within the 
tolerable limits as prescribed.  
 
Pages 11 and 12– Supplement A Revenue Variances – This is the section describing the increase in season 
ticket holder donations due to a change in Federal tax laws.  
 
Pages 13 through 92 – Supplement B – This section contains the data required by NCAA for Division I, in 
the format prescribed by NCAA. We have 6 men’s teams and 9 women’s teams. For the year ended June 
30, 2019, Athletics had Operating Revenues of $16.5 million, and Operating Expenses of $16.6 million, 
with a net decrease $0.1 million.  
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Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

Private Companies Practice Section 

Tax Division 

INTEGRITY .. . . . . . . . SERVICE .. . . . . . . . EXPERIENCE 

12621 World Plaza Lane, Building 55 • Fort Myers, FL 33907 • Phone: (239) 333-2090 • Fax: (239) 333-2097 1

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON 
THE APPLICATION OF AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES 

Dr. Michael V. Martin, President 
Florida Gulf Coast University 
10501 FGCU Boulevard South 
Fort Myers, FL  33965-6565 

We have performed the procedures enumerated below, which were agreed to by Dr. 
Michael V. Martin, Florida Gulf Coast University (University) President, solely to assist 
you in evaluating whether the accompanying statement of revenues and expenses of 
Florida Gulf Coast University intercollegiate athletic program (the “program”) is in 
compliance with the National Collegiate Athletic Association (“NCAA”) Bylaw 3.2.4.15 
for the year ended June 30, 2019.  Florida Gulf Coast University’s management is solely 
responsible for the statement of revenues and expenses (“statement”) and the statement’s 
compliance with those requirements.  This agreed-upon procedures engagement was 
conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants.  The sufficiency of these procedures is solely the 
responsibility of the University president and the University.  Consequently, we make no 
representation regarding the sufficiency of the procedures described below either for the 
purpose for which this report has been requested or for any other purpose. 

The procedures that we performed and our findings are as follows: 

1. We obtained an understanding of the internal controls and internal controls over
compliance for the program as specifically required by Bylaw 3.2.4.15.

2. We tested specific elements of the control environment and accounting systems
for the program as specifically required by Bylaw 3.2.4.15.

 The results of this procedure are specifically incorporated below. 

3. We obtained the statement of revenues and expenses, as noted above, for the
program, for the year ended June 30, 2019 from the University.

4. We agreed the amounts on the statement of revenues and expenses, as noted
above, for the program, to the University’s general ledger and Florida Gulf Coast
University Foundation, Inc.’s (Foundation’s) general ledger, as applicable.

The results of performance of each procedure is listed within each procedure 
below. 
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5. We compared each operating revenue category reported in the statement for the 
program during the reporting period to supporting schedules provided by the 
Athletic Department.  

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 

6. We compared each major revenue account over 10% of the total revenues to 
prior period amounts and budget estimates. We obtained and documented an 
understanding of any variations greater than 10%.  

See Supplement A.   

7. (AUP #1) We compared tickets sold during the reporting period, complimentary 
tickets provided during the reporting period and unsold tickets to the related 
revenue reported in the statement for the program and the related attendance 
figures. 

We obtained detail information for all tickets sold through the box office.  
Specifically, we obtained ticket sales information for the men’s basketball, 
women’s basketball, volleyball, men’s soccer, women’s soccer, softball and 
baseball.  The annual ticket sales revenue by season reconciliation reports 
compared ticket sales revenue to the sales revenue amounts recorded in the 
general ledger is as follows: 

 

Sport Ticket Sales 
Revenue 

General Ledger 
Revenue 

Difference 

Basketball – Men’s $503,531 $502,011 $1,520 

Basketball – Women’s $353,892 $349,165 $4,727 

Volleyball $11,101 $11,131 ($30) 

Soccer – Men’s $6,307 $6,358 ($51) 

Soccer – Women’s $6,963 $6,988 ($25) 

Softball $24,230 $24,206 $24 

Baseball $31,621 $31,819 ($198) 

Total $937,645 $931,678 $5,967 
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8. (AUP # 2 and #3) We obtained and documented an understanding of the 
University’s methodology for allocating student fees to the intercollegiate 
athletics program. 

We compared student athletics fees reported in the statement for the reporting to 
student enrollment during the same reporting period and recalculated totals. 

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure.  However, this procedure 
relies upon student credit hour totals generated by the University’s Ellucian 
Student system.  Testing of the University’s Ellucian Student system was not 
within the scope of these procedures. 

9. (AUP #6) We compared direct institutional support recorded by the institution 
during the reporting period with the institutional supporting budget transfers 
documentation and other corroborative supporting documentation and 
recalculated totals.  

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure.  

10. (AUP #8)We compared indirect institutional support recorded by the institution 
during the reporting period with expense payments, cost allocation detail and 
other corroborative supporting documentation and recalculated totals. (Also see 
item #34) 
 
We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure.  
 

11. (AUP #9 and #10) We obtained a schedule of guarantees and the related general 
ledger detail.  We determined this respective total was less than the 4% of total 
program revenue threshold.  Therefore, no additional test work was performed. 
 
We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure.  

12. (AUP #11) We obtained a schedule of contributions and the related general 
ledger detail. We determined there were no individual contributions that 
exceeded 10% of total contributions.   

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure.  

13. (AUP #12) We obtained a schedule of in-kind contributions and the related 
general ledger detail.  We determined this respective total was less than the 4% 
of total program revenue threshold.  Therefore, no additional test work was 
performed. 

No exceptions were noted as a result of this procedure.  

14. (AUP #16) We obtained a schedule of distributions the University received from 
the NCAA for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. We determined this 
respective total was less than the 4% of total program revenue threshold.  
Therefore, no additional test work was performed.  
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We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 

15. (AUP #17 and #18)We obtained a schedule of conference distributions and the 
related general ledger detail.  We determined this respective total was less than 
the 4% of total program revenue threshold.  Therefore, no additional test work 
was performed. 

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure.  

16. (AUP #19)We obtained a schedule of program sales, concessions, novelty sales 
and parking and the related general ledger detail.  We determined this respective 
total was less than the 4% of total program revenue threshold.  Therefore, no 
additional test work was performed. 

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure.  

17. (AUP # 20 and #21) We obtained a schedule of royalties, licensing, 
advertisements and sponsorships and the related general ledger detail.  We 
determined this respective total was less than the 4% of total program revenue 
threshold.  Therefore, no additional test work was performed. 
 
We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure.  
 

18. (AUP #22 and #23) We obtained a listing of sport camp revenues recorded by 
the institution during the reporting period and recalculated the total. We 
determined that the total revenue for sports camps was below the 4% of total 
program revenue threshold. Therefore, no additional test work was performed. 

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure.  

19. (AUP #24 and #25) We obtained a listing of athletic restricted endowment and 
investment income recorded by the institution during the reporting period and 
recalculated the total. We determined that the total revenue for athletic restricted 
endowment and investment income was below the 4% of total program revenue 
threshold.  Therefore, no additional test work was performed. 

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure.  

20. (AUP #26) We obtained a listing of other income recorded by the institution 
during the reporting period and recalculated the total. We determined that the 
total revenue for other income was below the 4% of total program revenue 
threshold.  Therefore, no additional test work was performed. 

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 

21. We compared and agreed each major expense account over 10% of the total 
expense to prior period amounts and budget estimates.  We also obtained and 
documented an understanding of any variations over 10%. 
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No expense account variances were noted within the scope prescribed.   

22. (AUP #29, #30, #31 and #32) We selected twenty-seven (27) students (10% of 
total student athletes) from the listing of institutional aid recipients during the 
reporting period.  We obtained individual account detail for each student selected 
and compared the total aid in the institution’s student system to the student’s 
detail in NCAA’s CA software. We performed testing of each student’s record 
selected to ensure their information was reported accurately in the NCAA’s CA 
software utilizing the following criteria: 

• The equivalency value for each student-athlete in all sports, including 
head-count sports, needs to be converted to a full-time equivalency value. 
The full-time equivalency value is calculated using the athletic grant 
amount reported on the Calculation of Revenue Distribution 
Equivalencies Report (CRDE) from CA as the numerator and the full 
grant amount which is the total cost for tuition, fees, required course-
related books, and room and board for an academic year as the 
denominator.  

• Grants-in-aid is calculated by using the revenue distribution equivalencies 
by sport and in aggregate.  

• Other expenses related to attendance (also known as gap money or cost of 
attendance) should not be included in grants-in-aid revenue distribution 
equivalencies. Only tuition, fees, room, board and course related books 
are countable for grants-in-aid revenue distribution per Bylaw 20.02.07. 

• The full grant amount should be entered as a full year of tuition, not a 
semester or quarter.  

• Student-athletes are to be counted once, regardless of multiple sport 
participation, and should not receive a revenue distribution equivalency 
greater than 1.00. 

• Athletics grants are valid for revenue distribution purposes only in sports 
in which the NCAA conducts championships competition, emerging 
sports for women and bowl subdivision football. 

• Grants-in-aid are valid for revenue distribution purposes in NCAA sports 
that do not meet the minimum contests and participants’ requirements of 
Bylaw 20.9.6.3. 

• Institutions providing grants to student-athletes listed on the CRDE as 
“Exhausted Eligibility (fifth-year)” or “Medical” receive credit in the 
grants-in-aid component. 

• The athletics aid equivalency cannot exceed maximum equivalency limits. 
However, the total revenue distribution equivalency can exceed maximum 
equivalency limits due to exhausted eligibility and medical equivalencies.  

• If a sport is discontinued and the athletic grant(s) are still being honored 
by the institution, the grant(s) are included in student-athlete aid for 
revenue distribution purposes. 

• All equivalency calculations should be rounded to two (2) decimal places. 
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• If a selected student received a Pell Grant, ensure the value of the grant is 
not included in the calculation of equivalencies or the total dollar amount 
of student athletic aid expense for the institution.  

• If a selected student received a Pell Grant, ensure the student’s grant was 
included in the total number and total value of Pell Grants reported for 
Revenue Distribution purposes in the NCAA Membership Financial 
Reporting System.  
 

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 

23.  (AUP #33 and #34) We obtained a listing of guarantee payments paid by the 
University during the reporting period and agreed the total amount paid to the 
amount reported as guarantee expense. We determined the guarantees expense 
was less than 4% of the total expense testing threshold.  Therefore, no additional 
testing was performed.   

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 

24. (AUP #35, #36, #37 and #38) We obtained and scanned a listing of coaches 
employed by the University during the reporting period.  We selected a sample 
of ten (10) coaches’ contracts which included men’s and women’s basketball.  
The University does not have a football program. We compared and agreed the 
respective contract financial terms and conditions of each selection to the related 
salary, benefits, and bonuses recorded by the University during the reporting 
period.  Since the University’s fiscal year differs from the calendar year (the 
basis on which W-2s are prepared), we compared and agreed the amounts 
reported on the quarterly State of Florida RT-6 forms to the related coaching 
salaries, benefits, and bonuses paid and recorded by the University. 

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 

25.  (AUP #42 and #43) We obtained a listing of support staff/administrative 
personnel employed by the University during the reporting period that were 
charged wholly or in part to the intercollegiate athletic department and 
recalculated the totals.  We selected a sample of ten (10) support 
staff/administrative personnel from the listing for testing.  Since the University’s 
fiscal year differs from the calendar year (the basis on which W-2s are prepared), 
we compared and agreed the amounts reported on the quarterly State of Florida 
RT-6 forms to the related support staff/administrative personnel salaries, 
benefits, and bonuses paid and recorded by the University. 

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 

26.  (AUP #47, #48 and #49) We obtained a listing of recruiting expenses paid by 
the University during the reporting period and agreed the total amount paid to the 
amount reported as recruiting expense. We determined the recruiting expense 
was less than 4% of the total expense testing threshold.  Therefore, no additional 
testing was performed.   
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We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure.  
 

27. (AUP #50-52)We obtained an understanding of the University’s team travel 
policies and compared and agreed them to existing University and NCAA-related 
policies.  We judgmentally selected ten (10) travel expenses for testing.  Each 
item selected for testing was traced and agreed to supporting documentation. 

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure.  

28. (AUP #53) We obtained a schedule of expenses for equipment, uniforms, and 
supplies.  We footed the totals by department and agreed them to the related 
general ledger detail.  We determined the equipment, uniforms, and supplies 
were less than 4% of the total expense testing threshold.  Therefore, no 
additional testing was performed.   

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 

29. (AUP #54) We obtained a schedule of expenses for game expenses. We footed 
the totals by department and agreed them to the related general ledger detail.  We 
determined game expenses were less than 4% of the total expense testing 
threshold.  Therefore, no additional testing was performed.   

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 

30. (AUP #55) We obtained a schedule of expenses for fundraising, marketing and 
promotion expenses.  We footed the totals by department and agreed them to the 
related general ledger detail.  We determined the fundraising, marketing and 
promotion was less than 4% of the total expense testing threshold.  Therefore, no 
additional testing was performed.   

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 

31. (AUP #56) We obtained a schedule of sports camp expenses.  We agreed the 
amounts recorded for each sports camp to the related general ledger detail.  We 
determined sports camp expense was less than 4% of the total expense testing 
threshold.  Therefore, no additional test work was performed.  

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 

32. (AUP #57) We obtained a detailed general ledger for spirit groups and traced the 
total balance to the amount reported for spirit group expense.  We determined 
spirit group expense was less than 4% of the total expense testing threshold.  
Therefore, no additional test work was performed. 

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 

33.  (AUP #60) We obtained a schedule of direct overhead and administrative 
expenses.  We agreed the components to the related general ledger accounts.  We 
judgmentally selected ten (10) direct overhead facilities, maintenance, and rental 
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expenses from the related detailed general ledgers for the components.  Each 
item selected was traced and agreed to supporting documentation. 

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure.  

34. (AUP #61) We obtained an understanding of the University’s methodology for 
allocating indirect facilities and administrative support.  We obtained a schedule 
of indirect facilities and administrative support expense.  We recalculated the 
amounts included in the total, following the methodology provided. We footed 
the schedule and agreed the total to the corresponding revenue category for 
indirect facilities and administrative support. (Also, see item # 10) 

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 

35. (AUP #62) We obtained a schedule of medical and medical insurance expenses.  
We agreed the amounts recorded for each medical expense and medical 
insurance to the related general ledger detail.  We determined medical expense 
and medical insurance expenses was less than 4% of the total expense testing 
threshold.  Therefore, no additional test work was performed. 

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 

36. (AUP #63) We obtained a schedule of membership and dues expenses.  We 
footed the total and agreed the departmental totals to the related general ledger 
accounts for the program.  We determined membership and dues expense was 
less than 4% of the total expense testing threshold.  Therefore, no additional test 
work was performed. 

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 

37. (AUP #64) We obtained a summary of other expenses. We determined other 
expenses was less than 4% of the total expense testing threshold. Therefore, no 
additional test work was performed.  

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 

38. (AUP #65) We obtained a schedule of student athletic meals (non-travel) 
expense.  We footed the total and agreed the departmental totals to the related 
general ledger accounts for the program.  We determined student athletic meals 
(non-travel) expense was less than 4% of the total expense testing threshold.  
Therefore, no additional test work was performed. 

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 

39. We compared and agreed the sports sponsored reported in the NCAA 
Membership Financial Reporting System to the Calculation of Revenue 
Distribution Equivalencies Report (CRDE) from compliance Assistant (CA) or 
other report that supports the equivalency calculations from the institution.   
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We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 

40. We compared current year Grant-in-Aid revenue distribution equivalencies to 
prior year reported equivalencies per the NCAA Membership Financial Report 
submission. 

We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 

41. We obtained the institution’s Sports Sponsorship and Demographics Forms 
submitted to the NCAA for the reporting year.  We validated that the countable 
NCAA sports reported by the institution meet the minimum requirements set 
forth in Bylaw 20.9.6.3 for the number of contests and the number of participants 
in each contest that is counted toward meeting the minimum contest 
requirements. We confirmed that the institution properly reported these sports as 
countable for revenue distribution purposes within the NCAA Membership 
Financial Reporting System.   
 

42. We compared current year number of Sports Sponsored to prior year reported 
total per the Membership Financial Report submission. 
 
We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 
 

43. We agreed the number of Division I student-athletes who, during the academic 
year, received a Pell Grant award and the total value of these Pell Grants 
reported in the NCAA Membership Financial Reporting System to a report, 
generated by the institution’s financial aid records, for all student-athlete Pell 
Grants. 

 
We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 
 

44. We compared current year Pell Grants total to prior year reported total per the 
Membership Financial Report submission. 
 
We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure.  
 

45. (AUP #70) We agreed the total outstanding institutional debt to supporting 
documentation and the institutions audited financial statements or the 
institution’s general ledger detail.  
 
We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure. 
 

46. (AUP #71) We obtained a schedule of all athletics dedicated endowments 
maintained by athletics, the institution, and affiliated organizations. We agreed 
the fair market value in the schedule to supporting documentation, the general 
ledger and audited financial statements. 

 
We noted no exceptions as a result of this procedure.  
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SUPPLEMENT A
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Supplement A 
 
 
Item # 6 - The following explanations were provided by the Athletics Department for the 
revenue items that fell within the scope for the current year vs. prior year fluctuation 
analysis: 
 
 

Account FY 19 FY 18 % 
Difference 

$ Difference 

Contributions $2,126,745 $2,422,013 12% ($295,268) 

Explanation:   

 Contributions toward the program are similar in scope to those of ticket sales, 
Which are reflected to slowed performance of our primary monetary income 
Teams.  This is substantially related to our men’s basketball program,  
whereby, season ticket locations require a minimum Eagles Club donation.  
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Reporting Institution: Florida Gulf Coast University Reporting Year (FY): 2019

NCAA Membership Financial Reporting System Page 1 of 79

School Info

We agree to release the institution's data to the conference: Yes

Institutional Contacts:

Primary Contact
Person:

Delvin Jones Title: Assistant AD, Financial
Operations

Phone: 2395907013 Email: dljones@fgcu.edu

CEO: Dr. Mike Martin CEO Email: mvmartin@fgcu.edu

University CFO: Mr. Steve Magiera University CFO Email: smagiera@fgcu.edu

Audit Firm: Tuscan & Company,
PA

AUP Report Issuance
Date:

01/15/2020

Classification & Conference:

NCAA Primary Division: I-No Football

Athletic Conference: ASUN Conference

Sports Sponsorship:

Sport Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Mixed Teams
Baseball x

Basketball x x

Beach Volleyball x

Bowling

Cross Country x x

Equestrian

Fencing

Field Hockey

Football

Golf x x

Gymnastics

Ice Hockey

Lacrosse

Rifle

Rowing

Rugby
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Reporting Institution: Florida Gulf Coast University Reporting Year (FY): 2019

NCAA Membership Financial Reporting System Page 2 of 79

Sport Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Mixed Teams
Skiing

Soccer x x

Softball x

Swimming and Diving x

Tennis x x

Track, Indoor

Track, Outdoor

Triathlon

Volleyball x

Water Polo

Wrestling

Others

Totals 6 9 0
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Reporting Institution: Florida Gulf Coast University Reporting Year (FY): 2019

NCAA Membership Financial Reporting System Page 3 of 79

Revenue/Expense Summary
ID Item Amount Definition

Revenues

1 Ticket Sales $940,944 Input revenue received for sales of admissions to athletic events.
This may include:

Public and faculty sales.•
Student sales•
Shipping and Handling fees.•

Please report amounts paid in excess of ticket's face value to obtain
preferential seating or priority in Category 8 (Contributions).

2 Direct State or Other
Government Support

$0 Input state, municipal, federal and other appropriations made in
support of athletics.

This amount includes funding specifically earmarked for the
athletics department by government agencies for which the
institution cannot reallocate.

This amount also includes state funded employee benefits.
Corresponding expenses should be reported in Categories 22 and
24.

Any state or other government support appropriated to the
university, for which the university determines the dollar allocation
to the athletics department shall be reported in Direct Institutional
Support (Category 4).

3 Student Fees $6,811,463 Input student fees assessed and restricted for support of
intercollegiate athletics.

4 Direct Institutional
Support

$3,401,216 Input direct funds provided by the institution to athletics for the
operations of intercollegiate athletics including:

Unrestricted funds allocated to the athletics department by the
university (e.g. state funds, tuition, tuition discounts/waivers,
transfers)

•

Federal work study support for student workers employed by
athletics.

•

Endowment unrestricted income, spending policy distributions
and other investment income distributed to athletics in the
reporting year to support athletic operations. Athletics restricted
endowment income for athletics should be reported in Category
17.

•
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Reporting Institution: Florida Gulf Coast University Reporting Year (FY): 2019

NCAA Membership Financial Reporting System Page 4 of 79

ID Item Amount Definition
5 Less - Transfers to

Institution
$0 If the institution allocated funds to athletics as represented in

Categories 3-4 and the athletics department provided a transfer of
funds back to the institution in the reporting year, report the transfer
amount as a negative in this category. The transfer amount may not
exceed the total of Categories 3-4. Transfers back to the institution
in excess of Categories 3-4 should be reported in Category 50 -
excess transfers to institution.

6 Indirect Institutional
Support

$829,120 Input value of costs covered and services provided by the institution
to athletics but not charged to athletics including:

Administrative services provided by the university to athletics but
not charged such as HR, Accounting and IT.

•

Facilities maintenance.•
Security.•
Risk Management.•
Utilities.•

Do not include depreciation.

Note: This category should equal Category 36. If the institution is
paying for debt service, leases, or rental fees for athletic facilities,
but not charging to athletics, include those amounts in Category 6A.

6A Indirect Institutional
Support - Athletic
Facilities Debt Service,
Lease and Rental Fees

$0 Input debt service payments (principal and interest, including
internal loan programs), leases and rental fees for athletics facilities
for the reporting year provided by the institution to athletics but not
charged to athletics.

Do not report depreciation.

Note: If the institution is paying for all athletic facilities debt
service, lease and rental fees and not charging to athletics, this
category will equal Category 34. If athletics or other entities are
also paying these expenses or the institution is charging directly to
athletics, this category will not equal Category 34.

7 Guarantees $261,500 Input revenue received from participation in away games.
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Reporting Institution: Florida Gulf Coast University Reporting Year (FY): 2019

NCAA Membership Financial Reporting System Page 5 of 79

ID Item Amount Definition
8 Contributions $2,126,746 Input contributions provided and used by athletics in the reporting

year including:

Amounts received from individuals, corporations, associations,
foundations, clubs or other organizations designated for the
operations of the athletics program.

•

Funds contributed by outside contributors for the payment of
debt service, lease payments or rental fee expenses for athletic
facilities in the reporting year.

•

Amounts received above face value for tickets.•

Contributions shall include cash and marketable securities.

Do not report:

Pledges until funds are provided to athletics for use.•
Contributions to be used in other reporting years.•

9 In-Kind $421,453 Input market value of in-kind contributions in the reporting year
including:

Dealer provided automobiles.•
Equipment.•
Services.•
Nutritional product.•

All in-kind contributions that are made as a result of a licensing or
sponsorship agreement should be reported in Category 15.

Please offset in-kind values in the appropriate expense category.
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Reporting Institution: Florida Gulf Coast University Reporting Year (FY): 2019

NCAA Membership Financial Reporting System Page 6 of 79

ID Item Amount Definition
10 Compensation and

Benefits provided by a
third party

$0 Input all benefits provided by a third party and contractually
guaranteed by the institution, but not included on the institution's
W-2. These may include:

Car stipend.•
Country club membership.•
Allowances for clothing, housing, entertainment.•
Speaking fees.•
Camps compensation.•
Media income.•
Shoe and apparel income.•

The total of this category should equal expense Categories 23 and
25 combined.

11 Media Rights $0 Input all revenue received for radio, television, internet, digital and
e-commerce rights, including the portion of conference
distributions related to media rights - if applicable.

Consult with your conference offices if you do not have the media
rights distribution amount available.

12 NCAA Distributions $530,134 Input revenues received from all NCAA distributions including
NCAA championships reimbursements and payments received from
the NCAA for hosting a championship.

In some cases, NCAA distributions may be provided by the
conference office. Consult with the conference office for the
amount if you do not have it available and include in this category.

13 Conference
Distributions (Non
Media and Non Bowl)

$213,017 Input all revenues received by conference distribution, excluding
portions of distribution relating to media rights (reported in
Category 11) or NCAA distributions (reported in Category 12).

Note: Conference distributions of revenue generated by a post-
season bowl to conference members should be recorded in Category
13A. Distributions for reimbursement of post-season bowl expenses
should be included in Category 19.

13A Conference
Distributions of Bowl
Generated Revenue

$0 Input conference distributions of revenue generated by a post-
season bowl to conference members.

Note: Distributions for reimbursement of post-season bowl
expenses should be included in Category 19. Portions of
distribution relating to media rights are reported in Category 11,
NCAA distributions are reported in Category 12 and all other
conference distributions are reported in Category 13.
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ID Item Amount Definition
14 Program, Novelty,

Parking and
Concession Sales

$30,776 Input revenues from:

Game Programs.•
Novelties.•
Food and Concessions.•
Parking.•

Advertising should be included in Category 15.

15 Royalties, Licensing,
Advertisement and
Sponsorships

$529,098 Input revenues from:

Sponsorships.•
Licensing Agreements.•
Advertisement.•
Royalties.•
In-kind products and services as part of sponsorship agreement.•

An allocation may be necessary to distinguish revenues generated
by athletics versus the university if payments are combined.

16 Sports Camp Revenues $25,422 Input amounts received by the athletics department for sports camps
and clinics.

17 Athletics Restricted
Endowment and
Investments Income

$360,500 Please report spending policy distributions from athletics restricted
endowments and investment income used for athletics operations in
the reporting year.

This category includes only restricted investment and endowment
income used for the operations of intercollegiate athletics;
institutional allocations of income from unrestricted endowments
qualify as ""Direct Institutional Support"" and should be reported in
Category 4.

Note: Please make sure amounts reported are only up to the amount
of expenses covered by the endowment for the reporting year.

18 Other Operating
Revenue

$36,306 Input any operating revenues received by athletics in the report year
which cannot be classified into one of the stated categories.

If the figure is greater than 10% of total revenues, please report the
top three activities included in this category in the comments
section.
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ID Item Amount Definition
19 Bowl Revenues $0 Input all amounts received related to participation in a post-season

bowl game, including:

Expense reimbursements.•
Ticket sales.•

Total Operating
Revenues

$16,517,695 Total of Categories 1-19.

Expenses

20 Athletic Student Aid $3,770,773

Summer school.•
Tuition discounts and waivers (unless it is a discount or waiver
available to the general student body).

•

Aid given to student-athletes who are inactive (medical reasons)
or no longer eligible (exhausted eligibility).

•

Other expenses related to attendance.•

Input the total amount of athletic student-aid for the reporting year
including:

Note: Division I Grants-in-aid equivalencies are calculated by using
the revenue distribution equivalencies by sport and in aggregate.
(Athletic grant amount divided by the full grant amount). Other
expenses related to attendance (also known as gap money or cost of
attendance) should not be included in the grants-in-aid revenue
distribution equivalencies. Only tuition, fees, room, board and
course related books are countable for grants-in-aid revenue
distribution per Bylaw 20.02.7.

Athletics aid awarded to non-athletes (student-managers, graduate
assistants, trainers) should be reported as Expenses Not Related to
Specific Teams. It is permissible to report only dollars in the
Expenses Not Related to Specific Teams row as long as you have
reported non- zero entries for Equivalencies, Number of Students,
and Dollars (all 3 required for at least one sport).

Note: Pell grants are provided by the government, not the
institution or athletics department, and therefore should be
excluded from reporting in this category.

This information can be managed within the NCAA's Compliance
Assistance (CA) software. The information entered into compliance
assistance will automatically populate to the athletic student aid
section within the NCAA Financial Reporting System when the CA
import feature is selected.
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ID Item Amount Definition
21 Guarantees $51,000 Input amounts paid to visiting participating institutions, including

per diems and/or travel and meal expenses.

22 Coaching Salaries,
Benefits and Bonuses
paid by the University
and Related Entities

$3,250,446 Input compensation, bonuses and benefits paid to all coaches
reportable on the university or related entities W-2 and 1099 forms
inclusive of:

Gross wages and bonuses.•
Benefits including allowances, speaking fees, retirement,
stipends, memberships, media income, tuition reimbursement and
earned deferred compensation, including those funded by the
state.

•

Place any severance payments in Category 26.

Note: Bonuses related to participation in a post-season bowl game
should be included in Category 41A.

23 Coaching Salaries,
Benefits and Bonuses
paid by a Third Party

$0 Input compensation, bonuses and benefits paid to all coaches by a
third party and contractually guaranteed by the institution, but not
included on the institutions W-2 including:

Car stipend.•
Country club membership.•
Allowances for clothing, housing, entertainment.•
Speaking fees.•
Camps compensation.•
Media income.•
Shoe and apparel income.•

Expense Category 23 and 25 should equal Category 10.

Note: Bonuses related to participation in a post-season bowl game
should be included in Category 41A.
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ID Item Amount Definition
24 Support Staff/

Administrative
Compensation, Benefits
and Bonuses paid by
the University and
Related Entities

$3,344,666 Input compensation, bonuses and benefits paid to all administrative
and support staff reportable on the university or related entities (e.g.
foundations or booster clubs) W-2 and 1099 forms inclusive of:

Gross wages and bonuses.•
Benefits including allowances, speaking fees, retirement,
stipends, memberships, media income, tuition reimbursement and
earned deferred compensation, including those funded by the
state.

•

Staff members responsible for the gender-specific athletics
department, but not a specific sport (i.e., director of men's athletics),
will have their compensation figures reported as Expenses Not
Related to Specific Teams fields. Athletics department staff
members who assist both men's and women's teams (sports
information director, academic advisor) will be reported as Not
Allocated by Gender column.

25 Support Staff/
Administrative
Compensation, Benefits
and Bonuses paid by
Third Party

$0 Input compensation, bonuses and benefits paid to administrative
and support staff by a third party and contractually guaranteed by
the institution, but not included on the institutions W-2 including:

Car stipend.•
Country club membership.•
Allowances for clothing, housing, entertainment.•
Speaking fees.•
Camps compensation.•
Media income.•
Shoe and apparel income.•

Expense Category 23 and 25 should equal Category 10.

26 Severance Payments $0 Input severance payments and applicable benefits recognized for
past coaching and administrative personnel.

27 Recruiting $328,003 Input transportation, lodging and meals for prospective student-
athletes and institutional personnel on official and unofficial visits,
telephone call charges, postage and such. Include value of use of
institution's own vehicles or airplanes as well as in-kind value of
loaned or contributed transportation.
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ID Item Amount Definition
28 Team Travel $1,486,732 Input air and ground travel, lodging, meals and incidentals

(including housing costs incurred during school break period) for
competition related to preseason, regular season and non-bowl
postseason. Amounts incurred for food and lodging for housing the
team before a home game also should be included. Use of the
institution's own vehicles or airplanes as well as in-kind value of
donor-provided transportation.

Note: Expenses related to post-season bowls should be included in
Category 41.

29 Sports Equipment,
Uniforms and Supplies

$435,488 Input items that are provided to the teams only. Equipment amounts
are those expended from current or operating funds. Include value
of in-kind equipment provided.

Note: Expenses related to post-season bowls should be included in
Category 41.

30 Game Expenses $245,457 Input game-day expenses other than travel which are necessary for
intercollegiate athletics competition, including officials, security,
event staff, ambulance, etc. Input any payments back to the NCAA
for hosting a tournament.

Note: Expenses related to post-season bowls should be included in
Category 41.

31 Fund Raising,
Marketing and
Promotion

$422,743 Input costs associated with fund raising, marketing and promotion
for media guides, brochures, recruiting publications and such.

32 Sports Camp Expenses $29,952 Input all expenses paid by the athletics department, including non-
athletics personnel salaries and benefits, from hosting sports camps
and clinics. Athletics personnel salaries and benefits should be
reported in Categories 22-25.

33 Spirit Groups $76,245 Include support for spirit groups including bands, cheerleaders,
mascots, dancers, etc.

Note: Expenses related to post-season bowls should be included in
Category 41.

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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ID Item Amount Definition
34 Athletic Facilities Debt

Service, Leases and
Rental Fee

$0 Input debt service payments (principal and interest, including
internal loan programs), leases and rental fees for athletics facilities
for the reporting year regardless of entity paying (athletics,
institution or other).

Do not report depreciation.

Note: If the institution is paying for all debt service, leases, or rental
fees for athletic facilities but not charging to athletics, this category
should equal Category 6A. If athletics or other entities are paying
these expenses or the institution is charging directly to athletics, this
category will not equal Category 6A.

35 Direct Overhead and
Administrative
Expenses

$1,202,772 Input overhead and administrative expenses paid by or charged
directly to athletics including:

Administrative/Overhead fees charged by the institution to
athletics.

•

Facilities maintenance.•
Security.•
Risk Management.•
Utilities.•
Equipment Repair.•
Telephone.•
Other Administrative Expenses.•

36 Indirect Institutional
Support

$829,120 Input overhead and administrative expenses NOT paid by or
charged directly to athletics including:

Administrative/Overhead fees not charged by the institution to
athletics.

•

Facilities maintenance.•
Security.•
Risk Management.•
Utilities.•
Equipment Repair.•
Telephone.•
Other Administrative Expenses.•

Do not report depreciation.

Note: This category should equal Category 6.
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ID Item Amount Definition
37 Medical Expenses and

Insurance
$426,406 Input medical expenses and medical insurance premiums for

student-athletes.

38 Memberships and Dues $93,958 Input memberships, conference and association dues.

39 Student-Athlete Meals
(non-travel)

$102,214 Include meal allowance and food/snacks provided to student-
athletes.

Note: Meals provided during team travel should be reported in
Category 28.

40 Other Operating
Expenses

$489,890 Input any operating expenses paid by athletics in the report year
which cannot be classified into one of the stated categories,
including:

Non-team travel (conferences, etc.).•
Team banquets and awards.•

If the figure is greater than 10% of total expenses, please report the
top three activities included in this category in the comments
section.

41 Bowl Expenses $0 Input all expenditures related to participation in a post-season bowl
game, including:

Team travel, lodging and meal expenses.•
Bonuses related to bowl participation.•
Spirit groups.•
Uniforms.•

Note: All post-season bowl related coaching compensation/bonuses
should be reported in Category 41A, Bowl Expenses – Coaching
Compensation/Bonuses.

41A Bowl Expenses -
Coaching
Compensation/Bonuses

$0 Input all coaching bonuses related to participation in a post-season
bowl game.

Note: All other post-season bowl related expenses should be
reported in Category 41, Bowl Expenses.

Total Operating
Expenses

$16,585,865 Total of Categories 20-41A.
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Revenue/Expense Details
1 Ticket

Sales
$940,944 Input revenue received for sales of admissions to athletic events. This may include:

Public and faculty sales.•
Student sales•
Shipping and Handling fees.•

Please report amounts paid in excess of ticket's face value to obtain preferential seating
or priority in Category 8 (Contributions).

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Revenues by Source Ticket Sales Ticket Sales Ticket Sales

Baseball 31,819

Basketball 502,011 349,165

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer 6,358 6,988

Softball 24,206

Swimming and Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-Country

Volleyball 11,131

Others

Subtotal All Teams 540,188 391,490 0

Revenue Not Related to Specific Teams 9,266

Total Revenue 540,188 391,490 9,266

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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2 Direct State or Other
Government Support

$0 Input state, municipal, federal and other appropriations made in support of
athletics.

This amount includes funding specifically earmarked for the athletics department
by government agencies for which the institution cannot reallocate.

This amount also includes state funded employee benefits. Corresponding
expenses should be reported in Categories 22 and 24.

Any state or other government support appropriated to the university, for which
the university determines the dollar allocation to the athletics department shall be
reported in Direct Institutional Support (Category 4).

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Revenues by Source Direct State or Other

Government Support
Direct State or Other
Government Support

Direct State or Other
Government Support

Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-
Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 0 0 0

Revenue Not Related to
Specific Teams

Total Revenue 0 0 0

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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3 Student Fees $6,811,463 Input student fees assessed and restricted for support of intercollegiate athletics.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Revenues by Source Student Fees Student Fees Student Fees

Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 0 0 0

Revenue Not Related to Specific Teams 6,811,463

Total Revenue 0 0 6,811,463
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4 Direct
Institutional
Support

$3,401,216 Input direct funds provided by the institution to athletics for the operations of
intercollegiate athletics including:

Unrestricted funds allocated to the athletics department by the university
(e.g. state funds, tuition, tuition discounts/waivers, transfers)

•

Federal work study support for student workers employed by athletics.•
Endowment unrestricted income, spending policy distributions and other
investment income distributed to athletics in the reporting year to support
athletic operations. Athletics restricted endowment income for athletics
should be reported in Category 17.

•

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by
Gender

Revenues by Source Direct Institutional
Support

Direct Institutional
Support

Direct Institutional
Support

Baseball 59,853

Basketball 207,393 323,142

Beach Volleyball 79,805

Golf 9,069 40,507

Soccer 259,631 217,225

Softball 40,299

Swimming and Diving 286,552

Tennis 64,158 76,671

Track and Field, X-Country 75,456 18,742

Volleyball 178,145

Others

Subtotal All Teams 675,560 1,261,088 0

Revenue Not Related to Specific
Teams

1,464,568

Total Revenue 675,560 1,261,088 1,464,568
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5 Less -
Transfers to
Institution

$0 If the institution allocated funds to athletics as represented in Categories 3-4 and the
athletics department provided a transfer of funds back to the institution in the reporting
year, report the transfer amount as a negative in this category. The transfer amount may not
exceed the total of Categories 3-4. Transfers back to the institution in excess of Categories
3-4 should be reported in Category 50 - excess transfers to institution.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Revenues by Source Less - Transfers to

Institution
Less - Transfers to

Institution
Less - Transfers to

Institution
Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 0 0 0

Revenue Not Related to
Specific Teams

Total Revenue 0 0 0

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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6 Indirect
Institutional
Support

$829,120 Input value of costs covered and services provided by the institution to athletics
but not charged to athletics including:

Administrative services provided by the university to athletics but not
charged such as HR, Accounting and IT.

•

Facilities maintenance.•
Security.•
Risk Management.•
Utilities.•

Do not include depreciation.

Note: This category should equal Category 36. If the institution is paying for
debt service, leases, or rental fees for athletic facilities, but not charging to
athletics, include those amounts in Category 6A.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Revenues by Source Indirect Institutional

Support
Indirect Institutional

Support
Indirect Institutional

Support
Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 0 0 0

Revenue Not Related to
Specific Teams

829,120

Total Revenue 0 0 829,120

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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6A Indirect Institutional
Support - Athletic Facilities
Debt Service, Lease and
Rental Fees

$0 Input debt service payments (principal and interest, including internal loan
programs), leases and rental fees for athletics facilities for the reporting
year provided by the institution to athletics but not charged to athletics.

Do not report depreciation.

Note: If the institution is paying for all athletic facilities debt service, lease
and rental fees and not charging to athletics, this category will equal
Category 34. If athletics or other entities are also paying these expenses or
the institution is charging directly to athletics, this category will not equal
Category 34.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Revenues by

Source
Indirect Institutional

Support - Athletic Facilities
Debt Service, Lease and

Rental Fees

Indirect Institutional
Support - Athletic Facilities

Debt Service, Lease and
Rental Fees

Indirect Institutional
Support - Athletic Facilities

Debt Service, Lease and
Rental Fees

Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and
Diving

Tennis

Track and Field,
X-Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All
Teams

0 0 0

Revenue Not
Related to
Specific Teams

Total Revenue 0 0 0

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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7 Guarantees $261,500 Input revenue received from participation in away games.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Revenues by Source Guarantees Guarantees Guarantees

Baseball 3,500

Basketball 255,000

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-Country

Volleyball 3,000

Others

Subtotal All Teams 258,500 3,000 0

Revenue Not Related to Specific Teams

Total Revenue 258,500 3,000 0

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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8 Contributions $2,126,746 Input contributions provided and used by athletics in the reporting year
including:

Amounts received from individuals, corporations, associations, foundations,
clubs or other organizations designated for the operations of the athletics
program.

•

Funds contributed by outside contributors for the payment of debt service, lease
payments or rental fee expenses for athletic facilities in the reporting year.

•

Amounts received above face value for tickets.•

Contributions shall include cash and marketable securities.

Do not report:

Pledges until funds are provided to athletics for use.•
Contributions to be used in other reporting years.•

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Revenues by Source Contributions Contributions Contributions

Baseball 25,962

Basketball 5,315 11,385

Beach Volleyball

Golf 4,090 5,523

Soccer 4,382 10,097

Softball 88,870

Swimming and Diving 13,706

Tennis 10,425 33,054

Track and Field, X-Country 5,023 5,383

Volleyball 2,165

Others

Subtotal All Teams 55,197 170,183 0

Revenue Not Related to Specific Teams 1,901,366

Total Revenue 55,197 170,183 1,901,366
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175



Reporting Institution: Florida Gulf Coast University Reporting Year (FY): 2019

NCAA Membership Financial Reporting System Page 23 of 79

9 In-Kind $421,453 Input market value of in-kind contributions in the reporting year including:

Dealer provided automobiles.•
Equipment.•
Services.•
Nutritional product.•

All in-kind contributions that are made as a result of a licensing or sponsorship agreement
should be reported in Category 15.

Please offset in-kind values in the appropriate expense category.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Revenues by Source In-Kind In-Kind In-Kind

Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 0 0 0

Revenue Not Related to Specific Teams 421,453

Total Revenue 0 0 421,453

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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10 Compensation and Benefits
provided by a third party

$0 Input all benefits provided by a third party and contractually guaranteed
by the institution, but not included on the institution's W-2. These may
include:

Car stipend.•
Country club membership.•
Allowances for clothing, housing, entertainment.•
Speaking fees.•
Camps compensation.•
Media income.•
Shoe and apparel income.•

The total of this category should equal expense Categories 23 and 25
combined.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Revenues by Source Compensation and Benefits

provided by a third party
Compensation and Benefits
provided by a third party

Compensation and Benefits
provided by a third party

Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and
Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-
Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 0 0 0

Revenue Not Related
to Specific Teams

Total Revenue 0 0 0

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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11 Media
Rights

$0 Input all revenue received for radio, television, internet, digital and e-commerce rights,
including the portion of conference distributions related to media rights - if applicable.

Consult with your conference offices if you do not have the media rights distribution amount
available.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Revenues by Source Media Rights Media Rights Media Rights

Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 0 0 0

Revenue Not Related to Specific Teams

Total Revenue 0 0 0

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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12 NCAA
Distributio
ns

$530,134 Input revenues received from all NCAA distributions including NCAA
championships reimbursements and payments received from the NCAA for hosting a
championship.

In some cases, NCAA distributions may be provided by the conference office.
Consult with the conference office for the amount if you do not have it available and
include in this category.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams OnlyNot Allocated by Gender
Revenues by Source NCAA Distributions NCAA Distributions NCAA Distributions

Baseball

Basketball 5,220 48,495

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-Country

Volleyball 12,600

Others

Subtotal All Teams 5,220 61,095 0

Revenue Not Related to Specific Teams 463,819

Total Revenue 5,220 61,095 463,819
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13 Conference
Distributions (Non
Media and Non Bowl)

$213,017 Input all revenues received by conference distribution, excluding
portions of distribution relating to media rights (reported in Category 11)
or NCAA distributions (reported in Category 12).

Note: Conference distributions of revenue generated by a post-season
bowl to conference members should be recorded in Category 13A.
Distributions for reimbursement of post-season bowl expenses should be
included in Category 19.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Revenues by Source Conference Distributions

(Non Media and Non Bowl)
Conference Distributions

(Non Media and Non Bowl)
Conference Distributions

(Non Media and Non Bowl)
Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and
Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-
Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 0 0 0

Revenue Not Related
to Specific Teams

213,017

Total Revenue 0 0 213,017
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13A Conference
Distributions of Bowl
Generated Revenue

$0 Input conference distributions of revenue generated by a post-season bowl to
conference members.

Note: Distributions for reimbursement of post-season bowl expenses should be
included in Category 19. Portions of distribution relating to media rights are
reported in Category 11, NCAA distributions are reported in Category 12 and
all other conference distributions are reported in Category 13.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Revenues by Source Conference Distributions of

Bowl Generated Revenue
Conference Distributions of
Bowl Generated Revenue

Conference Distributions of
Bowl Generated Revenue

Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and
Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-
Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 0 0 0

Revenue Not Related
to Specific Teams

Total Revenue 0 0 0

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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14 Program, Novelty, Parking and Concession Sales $30,776 Input revenues from:

Game Programs.•
Novelties.•
Food and Concessions.•
Parking.•

Advertising should be included in Category 15.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Revenues by Source Program, Novelty, Parking

and Concession Sales
Program, Novelty, Parking

and Concession Sales
Program, Novelty, Parking

and Concession Sales
Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-
Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 0 0 0

Revenue Not Related
to Specific Teams

30,776

Total Revenue 0 0 30,776

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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15 Royalties, Licensing,
Advertisement and
Sponsorships

$529,098 Input revenues from:

Sponsorships.•
Licensing Agreements.•
Advertisement.•
Royalties.•
In-kind products and services as part of sponsorship
agreement.

•

An allocation may be necessary to distinguish revenues generated
by athletics versus the university if payments are combined.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Revenues by Source Royalties, Licensing,

Advertisement and
Sponsorships

Royalties, Licensing,
Advertisement and

Sponsorships

Royalties, Licensing,
Advertisement and

Sponsorships
Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and
Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-
Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 0 0 0

Revenue Not Related
to Specific Teams

529,098

Total Revenue 0 0 529,098

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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16 Sports Camp
Revenues

$25,422 Input amounts received by the athletics department for sports camps and
clinics.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by
Gender

Revenues by Source Sports Camp
Revenues

Sports Camp
Revenues

Sports Camp Revenues

Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball 18,620

Swimming and Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-Country 6,802

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 0 25,422 0

Revenue Not Related to Specific
Teams

Total Revenue 0 25,422 0

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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17 Athletics Restricted
Endowment and
Investments Income

$360,500 Please report spending policy distributions from athletics restricted
endowments and investment income used for athletics operations in the
reporting year.

This category includes only restricted investment and endowment income
used for the operations of intercollegiate athletics; institutional
allocations of income from unrestricted endowments qualify as ""Direct
Institutional Support"" and should be reported in Category 4.

Note: Please make sure amounts reported are only up to the amount of
expenses covered by the endowment for the reporting year.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Revenues by Source Athletics Restricted

Endowment and
Investments Income

Athletics Restricted
Endowment and

Investments Income

Athletics Restricted
Endowment and

Investments Income
Baseball 27,140

Basketball 34,200 23,700

Beach Volleyball

Golf 7,100 21,746

Soccer 12,846 20,738

Softball 26,796

Swimming and
Diving

22,396

Tennis 48,821 55,571

Track and Field, X-
Country

26,000 10,450

Volleyball 22,996

Others

Subtotal All Teams 156,107 204,393 0

Revenue Not
Related to Specific
Teams

Total Revenue 156,107 204,393 0

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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18 Other Operating
Revenue

$36,306 Input any operating revenues received by athletics in the report year which
cannot be classified into one of the stated categories.

If the figure is greater than 10% of total revenues, please report the top three
activities included in this category in the comments section.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by
Gender

Revenues by Source Other Operating
Revenue

Other Operating
Revenue

Other Operating
Revenue

Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf 11,974 2,007

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and Diving

Tennis 197

Track and Field, X-Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 11,974 2,204 0

Revenue Not Related to Specific
Teams

22,128

Total Revenue 11,974 2,204 22,128

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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19 Bowl
Revenues

$0 Input all amounts received related to participation in a post-season bowl game,
including:

Expense reimbursements.•
Ticket sales.•

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Revenues by Source Bowl Revenues Bowl Revenues Bowl Revenues

Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 0 0 0

Revenue Not Related to Specific Teams

Total Revenue 0 0 0

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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Total Operating Revenues $16,517,695 Total of Categories 1-19.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by
Gender

Revenues by Source Total Operating
Revenues

Total Operating
Revenues

Total Operating
Revenues

Baseball 148,274

Basketball 1,009,139 755,887

Beach Volleyball 79,805

Golf 32,233 69,783

Soccer 283,217 255,048

Softball 198,791

Swimming and Diving 322,654

Tennis 123,404 165,493

Track and Field, X-Country 106,479 41,377

Volleyball 230,037

Others

Subtotal All Teams 1,702,746 2,118,875 0

Revenue Not Related to Specific
Teams

12,696,074

Total Revenue 1,702,746 2,118,875 12,696,074

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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20 Athletic
Student
Aid

Total Dollar
Amount

$3,770,773

Summer school.•
Tuition discounts and waivers (unless it is a discount or waiver
available to the general student body).

•

Aid given to student-athletes who are inactive (medical reasons)
or no longer eligible (exhausted eligibility).

•

Other expenses related to attendance.•

Input the total amount of athletic student-aid for the reporting year
including:

Note: Division I Grants-in-aid equivalencies are calculated by using
the revenue distribution equivalencies by sport and in aggregate.
(Athletic grant amount divided by the full grant amount). Other
expenses related to attendance (also known as gap money or cost of
attendance) should not be included in the grants-in-aid revenue
distribution equivalencies. Only tuition, fees, room, board and
course related books are countable for grants-in-aid revenue
distribution per Bylaw 20.02.7.

Athletics aid awarded to non-athletes (student-managers, graduate
assistants, trainers) should be reported as Expenses Not Related to
Specific Teams. It is permissible to report only dollars in the
Expenses Not Related to Specific Teams row as long as you have
reported non- zero entries for Equivalencies, Number of Students,
and Dollars (all 3 required for at least one sport).

Note: Pell grants are provided by the government, not the
institution or athletics department, and therefore should be
excluded from reporting in this category.

This information can be managed within the NCAA's Compliance
Assistance (CA) software. The information entered into compliance
assistance will automatically populate to the athletic student aid
section within the NCAA Financial Reporting System when the CA
import feature is selected.

Total
Equivalencies
Awarded

125.78  

Total Students
Receiving Aid

221

Male Athlete Scholarships

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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Sport Athletic Aid
Equivalency

(A)

Exhausted
Eligibility or

Medical
Equivalency (B)

Total Equivalencies
Awarded in

2018-2019 (A+B)

Number of
Students Receiving

Athletic Aid

Total Dollar
Amount

Baseball 12.76 0 12.76 27 264,222

Basketball 13 0 13 13 404,747

Golf 2.07 0 2.07 10 40,134

Soccer 10.96 0 10.96 19 402,380

Tennis 4.23 0 4.23 8 156,332

Track and Field,
X-Country

4.16 0.29 4.45 10 132,249

Expenses Not
Related to
Specific Teams

Totals 47.18 0.29 47.47 87 1,400,064

Female Athlete Scholarships

Sport Athletic Aid
Equivalency

(A)

Exhausted
Eligibility or

Medical
Equivalency (B)

Total Equivalencies
Awarded in

2018-2019 (A+B)

Number of
Students Receiving

Athletic Aid

Total Dollar
Amount

Basketball 14.5 0.5 15 15 553,070

Beach Volleyball 2.46 0 2.46 6 85,784

Golf 5.1 0 5.1 9 107,714

Soccer 13.43 0 13.43 28 436,305

Softball 10.87 0.13 11 20 215,155

Swimming and
Diving

12.93 0.54 13.47 30 410,798

Tennis 6.76 0 6.76 8 177,203

Track and Field,
X-Country

1.34 0 1.34 6 34,097

Volleyball 9.75 0 9.75 12 334,099

Expenses Not
Related to
Specific Teams

Totals 77.14 1.17 78.31 134 2,354,225

Not Allocated by Gender Scholarships
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Sport Athletic Aid
Equivalency (A)

Exhausted
Eligibility or

Medical
Equivalency (B)

Total Equivalencies
Awarded in

2018-2019 (A+B)

Number of
Students Receiving

Athletic Aid

Total
Dollar

Amount

Expenses Not
Related to
Specific Teams

16,484

Totals 0 0 0 0 16,484

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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21 Guarantees $51,000 Input amounts paid to visiting participating institutions, including per diems and/or
travel and meal expenses.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Expenses by Object of Expenditure Guarantees Guarantees Guarantees

Baseball 21,500

Basketball 15,000 4,000

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer 3,000 4,500

Softball

Swimming and Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-Country

Volleyball 3,000

Others

Subtotal All Teams 39,500 11,500 0

Expenses Not Related to Specific Teams

Total Expenses 39,500 11,500 0

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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22 Coaching Salaries, Benefits and
Bonuses paid by the University
and Related Entities

$3,250,446 Input compensation, bonuses and benefits paid to all coaches
reportable on the university or related entities W-2 and 1099
forms inclusive of:

Gross wages and bonuses.•
Benefits including allowances, speaking fees, retirement,
stipends, memberships, media income, tuition
reimbursement and earned deferred compensation, including
those funded by the state.

•

Place any severance payments in Category 26.

Note: Bonuses related to participation in a post-season bowl
game should be included in Category 41A.

23 Coaching Salaries, Benefits and
Bonuses paid by a Third Party

$0 Input compensation, bonuses and benefits paid to all coaches
by a third party and contractually guaranteed by the institution,
but not included on the institutions W-2 including:

Car stipend.•
Country club membership.•
Allowances for clothing, housing, entertainment.•
Speaking fees.•
Camps compensation.•
Media income.•
Shoe and apparel income.•

Expense Category 23 and 25 should equal Category 10.

Note: Bonuses related to participation in a post-season bowl
game should be included in Category 41A.

Men's Teams Coaching Expenses

Men's Teams Head Coaches Men's Teams Assistant Coaches
Sport Numbe

r of
Positio

ns

FTE Coaching
Salaries, Benefits
and Bonuses paid
by the University

and Related
Entities

Coaching
Salaries,

Benefits and
Bonuses paid

by a Third
Party

Numbe
r of

Positio
ns

FTE Coaching
Salaries, Benefits
and Bonuses paid
by the University

and Related
Entities

Coaching
Salaries,

Benefits and
Bonuses paid

by a Third
Party

Baseball 1 1 203,556 2 2 130,268

Basketball 1 1 255,858 3 3 389,046

Golf 1 1 70,754 1 1 15,802

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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Men's Teams Head Coaches Men's Teams Assistant Coaches
Sport Numbe

r of
Positio

ns

FTE Coaching
Salaries, Benefits
and Bonuses paid
by the University

and Related
Entities

Coaching
Salaries,

Benefits and
Bonuses paid

by a Third
Party

Numbe
r of

Positio
ns

FTE Coaching
Salaries, Benefits
and Bonuses paid
by the University

and Related
Entities

Coaching
Salaries,

Benefits and
Bonuses paid

by a Third
Party

Soccer 1 1 114,495 2 2 102,168

Tennis 1 1 79,367 1 1 7,608

Track and
Field, X-
Country

1 0.5 42,394 1 0.5 21,509

Subtotal All
Teams

6 5.5 766,424 0 10 9.5 666,401 0

Expenses
Not Related
to Specific
Teams

Total
Expenses

766,424 0 666,401 0

Women's Teams Coaching Expenses

Women's Teams Head Coaches Women's Teams Assistant Coaches
Sport Numbe

r of
Positio

ns

FTE Coaching
Salaries, Benefits
and Bonuses paid
by the University

and Related
Entities

Coaching
Salaries,

Benefits and
Bonuses paid

by a Third
Party

Numbe
r of

Positio
ns

FTE Coaching
Salaries, Benefits
and Bonuses paid
by the University

and Related
Entities

Coaching
Salaries,

Benefits and
Bonuses paid

by a Third
Party

Basketball 1 1 348,391 3 3 330,596

Beach
Volleyball

0 0 1 1 15,218

Golf 1 1 58,416 1 1 14,350

Soccer 1 1 128,102 2 2 97,845

Softball 1 1 119,512 2 2 98,201

Swimming
and Diving

1 1 107,216 2 2 96,078

Tennis 1 1 76,514 1 1 15,218
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Women's Teams Head Coaches Women's Teams Assistant Coaches
Sport Numbe

r of
Positio

ns

FTE Coaching
Salaries, Benefits
and Bonuses paid
by the University

and Related
Entities

Coaching
Salaries,

Benefits and
Bonuses paid

by a Third
Party

Numbe
r of

Positio
ns

FTE Coaching
Salaries, Benefits
and Bonuses paid
by the University

and Related
Entities

Coaching
Salaries,

Benefits and
Bonuses paid

by a Third
Party

Track and
Field, X-
Country

1 0.5 42,394 1 0.5 21,509

Volleyball 1 1 137,813 2 2 110,248

Subtotal All
Teams

8 7.5 1,018,358 0 15 14.5 799,263 0

Expenses
Not Related
to Specific
Teams

Total
Expenses

1,018,358 0 799,263 0

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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24 Support Staff/
Administrative
Compensation, Benefits
and Bonuses paid by the
University and Related
Entities

$3,344,666 Input compensation, bonuses and benefits paid to all administrative
and support staff reportable on the university or related entities (e.g.
foundations or booster clubs) W-2 and 1099 forms inclusive of:

Gross wages and bonuses.•
Benefits including allowances, speaking fees, retirement, stipends,
memberships, media income, tuition reimbursement and earned
deferred compensation, including those funded by the state.

•

Staff members responsible for the gender-specific athletics
department, but not a specific sport (i.e., director of men's athletics),
will have their compensation figures reported as Expenses Not
Related to Specific Teams fields. Athletics department staff members
who assist both men's and women's teams (sports information
director, academic advisor) will be reported as Not Allocated by
Gender column.

25 Support Staff/
Administrative
Compensation, Benefits
and Bonuses paid by
Third Party

$0 Input compensation, bonuses and benefits paid to administrative and
support staff by a third party and contractually guaranteed by the
institution, but not included on the institutions W-2 including:

Car stipend.•
Country club membership.•
Allowances for clothing, housing, entertainment.•
Speaking fees.•
Camps compensation.•
Media income.•
Shoe and apparel income.•

Expense Category 23 and 25 should equal Category 10.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Expenses
by Object

of
Expenditur

e

Support Staff/
Administrative
Compensation,

Benefits and
Bonuses paid

by the
University and

Related
Entities

Support Staff/
Administrative
Compensation,

Benefits and
Bonuses paid

by Third Party

Support Staff/
Administrative
Compensation,

Benefits and
Bonuses paid

by the
University and

Related
Entities

Support Staff/
Administrative
Compensation,

Benefits and
Bonuses paid

by Third Party

Support Staff/
Administrative
Compensation,

Benefits and
Bonuses paid

by the
University and

Related
Entities

Support Staff/
Administrative
Compensation,

Benefits and
Bonuses paid

by Third Party

Baseball 703

Basketball 84,125 69,817
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Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Expenses
by Object

of
Expenditur

e

Support Staff/
Administrative
Compensation,

Benefits and
Bonuses paid

by the
University and

Related
Entities

Support Staff/
Administrative
Compensation,

Benefits and
Bonuses paid

by Third Party

Support Staff/
Administrative
Compensation,

Benefits and
Bonuses paid

by the
University and

Related
Entities

Support Staff/
Administrative
Compensation,

Benefits and
Bonuses paid

by Third Party

Support Staff/
Administrative
Compensation,

Benefits and
Bonuses paid

by the
University and

Related
Entities

Support Staff/
Administrative
Compensation,

Benefits and
Bonuses paid

by Third Party

Beach
Volleyball

Golf

Soccer 11,020

Softball 770

Swimming
and Diving

Tennis 3,794 2,272

Track and
Field, X-
Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal
All Teams

88,622 0 83,879 0 0 0

Expenses
Not
Related to
Specific
Teams

3,172,165

Total
Expenses

88,622 0 83,879 0 3,172,165 0
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26 Severance
Payments

$0 Input severance payments and applicable benefits recognized for past coaching and
administrative personnel.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams OnlyNot Allocated by Gender
Expenses by Object of Expenditure Severance Payments Severance Payments Severance Payments

Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 0 0 0

Expenses Not Related to Specific
Teams

Total Expenses 0 0 0

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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27 Recruiting $328,003 Input transportation, lodging and meals for prospective student-athletes and
institutional personnel on official and unofficial visits, telephone call charges, postage
and such. Include value of use of institution's own vehicles or airplanes as well as in-
kind value of loaned or contributed transportation.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Expenses by Object of Expenditure Recruiting Recruiting Recruiting

Baseball 25,379

Basketball 119,642 73,758

Beach Volleyball 3,962

Golf 327 4,365

Soccer 14,438 21,436

Softball 17,467

Swimming and Diving 18,094

Tennis 353 4,516

Track and Field, X-Country 2,250 2,054

Volleyball 19,962

Others

Subtotal All Teams 162,389 165,614 0

Expenses Not Related to Specific Teams

Total Expenses 162,389 165,614 0

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA
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28 Team
Trave
l

$1,486,732 Input air and ground travel, lodging, meals and incidentals (including housing costs
incurred during school break period) for competition related to preseason, regular season
and non-bowl postseason. Amounts incurred for food and lodging for housing the team
before a home game also should be included. Use of the institution's own vehicles or
airplanes as well as in-kind value of donor-provided transportation.

Note: Expenses related to post-season bowls should be included in Category 41.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Expenses by Object of Expenditure Team Travel Team Travel Team Travel

Baseball 121,327

Basketball 270,840 214,649

Beach Volleyball 39,955

Golf 48,429 44,764

Soccer 103,901 152,740

Softball 99,981

Swimming and Diving 99,137

Tennis 44,917 40,410

Track and Field, X-Country 25,757 25,308

Volleyball 131,301

Others

Subtotal All Teams 615,171 848,245 0

Expenses Not Related to Specific Teams 23,316

Total Expenses 615,171 848,245 23,316
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29 Sports Equipment,
Uniforms and Supplies

$435,488 Input items that are provided to the teams only. Equipment amounts are
those expended from current or operating funds. Include value of in-kind
equipment provided.

Note: Expenses related to post-season bowls should be included in
Category 41.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Expenses by Object of

Expenditure
Sports Equipment,

Uniforms and Supplies
Sports Equipment,

Uniforms and Supplies
Sports Equipment,

Uniforms and Supplies
Baseball 77,813

Basketball 38,509 25,810

Beach Volleyball 7,777

Golf 15,923 21,631

Soccer 34,191 38,776

Softball 39,737

Swimming and Diving 20,439

Tennis 17,426 22,808

Track and Field, X-
Country

11,908 9,161

Volleyball 15,510

Others

Subtotal All Teams 195,770 201,649 0

Expenses Not Related to
Specific Teams

38,069

Total Expenses 195,770 201,649 38,069
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30 Game
Expense
s

$245,457 Input game-day expenses other than travel which are necessary for intercollegiate
athletics competition, including officials, security, event staff, ambulance, etc. Input any
payments back to the NCAA for hosting a tournament.

Note: Expenses related to post-season bowls should be included in Category 41.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Expenses by Object of Expenditure Game Expenses Game Expenses Game Expenses

Baseball 46,832

Basketball 45,000 36,300

Beach Volleyball 3,854

Golf 1,881

Soccer 10,900 11,250

Softball 23,902

Swimming and Diving 1,500

Tennis 5,720 5,070

Track and Field, X-Country

Volleyball 15,357

Others

Subtotal All Teams 110,333 97,233 0

Expenses Not Related to Specific Teams 37,891

Total Expenses 110,333 97,233 37,891
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31 Fund Raising, Marketing
and Promotion

$422,743 Input costs associated with fund raising, marketing and promotion for
media guides, brochures, recruiting publications and such.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Expenses by Object of

Expenditure
Fund Raising, Marketing

and Promotion
Fund Raising, Marketing

and Promotion
Fund Raising, Marketing

and Promotion
Baseball 818

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf 7,864

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and Diving

Tennis 207 4,254

Track and Field, X-
Country

1,179 1,179

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 10,068 5,433 0

Expenses Not Related to
Specific Teams

407,242

Total Expenses 10,068 5,433 407,242
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32 Sports
Camp
Expenses

$29,952 Input all expenses paid by the athletics department, including non-athletics personnel
salaries and benefits, from hosting sports camps and clinics. Athletics personnel
salaries and benefits should be reported in Categories 22-25.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by
Gender

Expenses by Object of Expenditure Sports Camp
Expenses

Sports Camp
Expenses

Sports Camp Expenses

Baseball

Basketball 6,484

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball 18,702

Swimming and Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-Country 4,766

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 4,766 25,186 0

Expenses Not Related to Specific
Teams

Total Expenses 4,766 25,186 0
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33 Spirit
Groups

$76,245 Include support for spirit groups including bands, cheerleaders, mascots, dancers,
etc.

Note: Expenses related to post-season bowls should be included in Category 41.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Expenses by Object of Expenditure Spirit Groups Spirit Groups Spirit Groups

Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 0 0 0

Expenses Not Related to Specific Teams 76,245

Total Expenses 0 0 76,245
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34 Athletic Facilities
Debt Service, Leases
and Rental Fee

$0 Input debt service payments (principal and interest, including internal loan
programs), leases and rental fees for athletics facilities for the reporting year
regardless of entity paying (athletics, institution or other).

Do not report depreciation.

Note: If the institution is paying for all debt service, leases, or rental fees for
athletic facilities but not charging to athletics, this category should equal
Category 6A. If athletics or other entities are paying these expenses or the
institution is charging directly to athletics, this category will not equal Category
6A.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Expenses by Object

of Expenditure
Athletic Facilities Debt

Service, Leases and Rental
Fee

Athletic Facilities Debt
Service, Leases and Rental

Fee

Athletic Facilities Debt
Service, Leases and Rental

Fee
Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and
Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-
Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 0 0 0

Expenses Not
Related to Specific
Teams

Total Expenses 0 0 0
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35 Direct Overhead and
Administrative Expenses

$1,202,772 Input overhead and administrative expenses paid by or
charged directly to athletics including:

Administrative/Overhead fees charged by the institution to
athletics.

•

Facilities maintenance.•
Security.•
Risk Management.•
Utilities.•
Equipment Repair.•
Telephone.•
Other Administrative Expenses.•

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Expenses by Object of

Expenditure
Direct Overhead and

Administrative Expenses
Direct Overhead and

Administrative Expenses
Direct Overhead and

Administrative Expenses
Baseball 23,712

Basketball 1,074 2,065

Beach Volleyball

Golf 625 532

Soccer 873 3,967

Softball 81,130

Swimming and Diving 557

Tennis 499 738

Track and Field, X-
Country

486

Volleyball 1,747

Others

Subtotal All Teams 27,269 90,736 0

Expenses Not Related
to Specific Teams

1,084,767

Total Expenses 27,269 90,736 1,084,767
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36 Indirect Institutional
Support

$829,120 Input overhead and administrative expenses NOT paid by or charged
directly to athletics including:

Administrative/Overhead fees not charged by the institution to
athletics.

•

Facilities maintenance.•
Security.•
Risk Management.•
Utilities.•
Equipment Repair.•
Telephone.•
Other Administrative Expenses.•

Do not report depreciation.

Note: This category should equal Category 6.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Expenses by Object of

Expenditure
Indirect Institutional

Support
Indirect Institutional

Support
Indirect Institutional

Support
Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 0 0 0

Expenses Not Related to
Specific Teams

829,120

Total Expenses 0 0 829,120
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37 Medical Expenses and
Insurance

$426,406 Input medical expenses and medical insurance premiums for
student-athletes.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Expenses by Object of

Expenditure
Medical Expenses and

Insurance
Medical Expenses and

Insurance
Medical Expenses and

Insurance
Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf 4,667

Soccer 300 1,389

Softball

Swimming and Diving 2,000

Tennis 4,450

Track and Field, X-Country 400 400

Volleyball 100

Others

Subtotal All Teams 5,367 8,339 0

Expenses Not Related to
Specific Teams

412,700

Total Expenses 5,367 8,339 412,700
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38 Memberships and Dues $93,958 Input memberships, conference and association dues.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by
Gender

Expenses by Object of Expenditure Memberships and
Dues

Memberships and
Dues

Memberships and Dues

Baseball 1,200

Basketball 5,080 388

Beach Volleyball

Golf 400 270

Soccer 390 757

Softball 975

Swimming and Diving 225

Tennis 940 1,385

Track and Field, X-Country 250 250

Volleyball 630

Others

Subtotal All Teams 8,260 4,880 0

Expenses Not Related to Specific
Teams

80,818

Total Expenses 8,260 4,880 80,818
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39 Student-Athlete Meals (non-
travel)

$102,214 Include meal allowance and food/snacks provided to student-
athletes.

Note: Meals provided during team travel should be reported in
Category 28.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Expenses by Object of

Expenditure
Student-Athlete Meals

(non-travel)
Student-Athlete Meals

(non-travel)
Student-Athlete Meals

(non-travel)
Baseball

Basketball 1,383

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-
Country

501 501

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 501 1,884 0

Expenses Not Related to
Specific Teams

99,829

Total Expenses 501 1,884 99,829
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40 Other Operating
Expenses

$489,890 Input any operating expenses paid by athletics in the report year which cannot
be classified into one of the stated categories, including:

Non-team travel (conferences, etc.).•
Team banquets and awards.•

If the figure is greater than 10% of total expenses, please report the top three
activities included in this category in the comments section.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by
Gender

Expenses by Object of
Expenditure

Other Operating
Expenses

Other Operating
Expenses

Other Operating
Expenses

Baseball 17,346

Basketball 18,695 19,885

Beach Volleyball 114

Golf 9,836 4,572

Soccer 1,828 3,449

Softball 8,586

Swimming and Diving 1,076

Tennis 1,295 3,564

Track and Field, X-Country 1,366 1,342

Volleyball 14,963

Others

Subtotal All Teams 50,366 57,551 0

Expenses Not Related to Specific
Teams

381,973

Total Expenses 50,366 57,551 381,973
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41 Bowl
Expenses

$0 Input all expenditures related to participation in a post-season bowl game, including:

Team travel, lodging and meal expenses.•
Bonuses related to bowl participation.•
Spirit groups.•
Uniforms.•

Note: All post-season bowl related coaching compensation/bonuses should be reported in
Category 41A, Bowl Expenses – Coaching Compensation/Bonuses.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Expenses by Object of Expenditure Bowl Expenses Bowl Expenses Bowl Expenses

Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 0 0 0

Expenses Not Related to Specific Teams

Total Expenses 0 0 0
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41A Bowl Expenses - Coaching
Compensation/Bonuses

$0 Input all coaching bonuses related to participation in a post-
season bowl game.

Note: All other post-season bowl related expenses should be
reported in Category 41, Bowl Expenses.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by Gender
Expenses by Object

of Expenditure
Bowl Expenses - Coaching

Compensation/Bonuses
Bowl Expenses - Coaching

Compensation/Bonuses
Bowl Expenses - Coaching

Compensation/Bonuses
Baseball

Basketball

Beach Volleyball

Golf

Soccer

Softball

Swimming and
Diving

Tennis

Track and Field, X-
Country

Volleyball

Others

Subtotal All Teams 0 0 0

Expenses Not Related
to Specific Teams

Total Expenses 0 0 0
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Total Operating Expenses $16,585,865 Total of Categories 20-41A.

 

Men's Teams Only Women's Teams Only Not Allocated by
Gender

Expenses by Object of
Expenditure

Total Operating
Expenses

Total Operating
Expenses

Total Operating
Expenses

Baseball 934,676

Basketball 1,647,616 1,686,596

Beach Volleyball 156,664

Golf 216,642 256,614

Soccer 788,864 911,536

Softball 724,118

Swimming and Diving 757,120

Tennis 318,458 358,402

Track and Field, X-Country 245,015 138,195

Volleyball 784,730

Others

Subtotal All Teams 4,151,271 5,773,975 0

Expenses Not Related to Specific
Teams

0 0 6,660,619

Total Expenses 4,151,271 5,773,975 6,660,619
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Athletics Participation
Table
1

256 Table 1 - - - Athletics Participation. A participant is a student-athlete who, as of the day of a varsity
team's first scheduled contest in the traditional season: (a) is listed as a team member; (b) practices
with the varsity team and receives coaching from one or more varsity coaches; or (c) receives
athletically-related student aid.

Any student who satisfies one or more of the criteria above is a participant, including a student on a
team the institution designates or defines as junior varsity, freshman, or novice, or a student who
does not play in a scheduled contest, whether for medical reasons or to preserve eligibility (i.e., a
redshirt).

Student-athletes who participate in more than one sport should be counted in each sport. The Coed
Teams column is marked based on the content of the sports sponsored table (Mixed Sports) in the
School Info page. Male practice players are NOT to be included as participants in this table.

 

Number of Participants Number of Participants
Participating on a

Second Team

Number of Participants
Participating on a

Third Team
Sport Coed

Teams
Men's
Teams

Women's
Teams

Men's
Teams

Women's
Teams

Men's
Teams

Women's
Teams

Baseball 34

Basketball 19 16

Beach Volleyball 12 7

Cross Country 8 5

Golf 12 8

Soccer 31 28

Softball 23

Swimming and Diving 30

Tennis 8 9

Volleyball 13 7

Others

Total Participants  112 144 0 14 0 0

Participant Proportion  43.8% 56.3%

Unduplicated Count of
Participants

 112 137
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Head Coaching Assignments - Men's Teams
Table 2A 6 Table 2A - - - Head Coaches Assignments Men's Teams

 

Head Coaches of Men's Teams
Male Coaches - Head Count Female Coaches - Head Count

Sport Full Time
Coaching

Duties

Part Time
Coaching

Duties

Full Time
University
Employee

Part Time
University

Employee or
Volunteer

Full Time
Coaching

Duties

Part Time
Coaching

Duties

Full Time
University
Employee

Part Time
University

Employee or
Volunteer

Baseball 1 1

Basketball 1 1

Golf 1 1

Soccer 1 1

Tennis 1 1

Track and
Field, X-
Country

1 1

Others

Coaching
Position
Totals

5 0 5 0 0 1 1 0
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Head Coaching Assignments - Women's Teams
Table 2B 9 Table 2B - - - Head Coaches Assignments Women's Teams

 

Head Coaches of Women's Teams
Male Coaches - Head Count Female Coaches - Head Count

Sport Full Time
Coaching

Duties

Part Time
Coaching

Duties

Full Time
University
Employee

Part Time
University

Employee or
Volunteer

Full Time
Coaching

Duties

Part Time
Coaching

Duties

Full Time
University
Employee

Part Time
University

Employee or
Volunteer

Basketball 1 1

Beach
Volleyball

1 1

Golf 1 1

Soccer 1 1

Softball 1 1

Swimming
and Diving

1 1

Tennis 1 1

Track and
Field, X-
Country

1 1

Volleyball 1 1

Others

Coaching
Position
Totals

4 2 6 0 2 1 3 0
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Assistant Coaching Assignments - Men's Teams
Table 3A 10 Table 3A - - - Assistant Coaches Assignments Men's Teams

 

Assistant Coaches of Men's Teams
Male Coaches - Head Count Female Coaches - Head Count

Sport Full Time
Coaching

Duties

Part Time
Coaching

Duties

Full Time
University
Employee

Part Time
University

Employee or
Volunteer

Full Time
Coaching

Duties

Part Time
Coaching

Duties

Full Time
University
Employee

Part Time
University

Employee or
Volunteer

Baseball 2 2

Basketball 3 3

Golf 1 1

Soccer 2 2

Tennis 1 1

Track and
Field, X-
Country

1 1

Others

Coaching
Position
Totals

7 3 8 2 0 0 0 0
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Assistant Coaching Assignments - Women's Teams
Table 3B 15 Table 3B - - - Assistant Coaches Assignments Women's Teams

 

Assistant Coaches of Women's Teams
Male Coaches - Head Count Female Coaches - Head Count

Sport Full Time
Coaching

Duties

Part Time
Coaching

Duties

Full Time
University
Employee

Part Time
University

Employee or
Volunteer

Full Time
Coaching

Duties

Part Time
Coaching

Duties

Full Time
University
Employee

Part Time
University

Employee or
Volunteer

Basketball 3 3

Beach
Volleyball

1 1

Golf 1 1

Soccer 1 1 1 1

Softball 2 2

Swimming
and Diving

1 1 1 1

Tennis 1 1

Track and
Field, X-
Country

1 1

Volleyball 1 1 1 1

Others

Coaching
Position
Totals

3 2 4 1 8 2 8 2
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Other Reporting Items

AUP Data Categories:

50 - Excess Transfers to Institution: $0

51 - Conference Realignment Expenses: $0

52 - Total Athletics Related Debt: $0

53 - Total Institutional Debt: $186,746,909

54 - Athletics Dedicated Endowments: $5,381,579

55 - Institutional Endowments: $94,547,577

56 - Athletics Related Capital Expenditures: $0

Other Data Categories:

Institutional Expenses: $250,989,230

Athletically-Related Facilities Annual Debt Service: $0

Institution's Annual Debt Service: $14,362,540

Institution's Education and General Expenses: $214,808,280

Average Cost of Full Grant-in-Aid - In-State: $16,542

Average Cost of Full Grant-in-Aid - Out-of-State: $35,680

Average Cost of Attendance - In-State: $20,342

Average Cost of Attendance - Out-of-State: $39,316

Expenses Dedicated to Compliance: $145,277

Name of Compliance Software Used: ARMS Software

Compliance FTEs: 2
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Revenue Distribution - Sports Sponsored

Distribution Year: 2020
Academic Year of Sport Sponsorship Information: 2018-19

Men's Sports Women's Sports Mixed Sports
x Baseball
x Men's Basketball
x Men's Cross Country
x Men's Golf
x Men's Soccer
x Men's Tennis

x Softball
x Women's Basketball
x Women's Beach Volleyball
x Women's Cross Country
x Women's Golf
x Women's Soccer
x Women's Swimming and Diving
x Women's Tennis
x Women's Volleyball

Total Men's Sports Sponsored: 6 Total Women's Sports Sponsored: 9 Total Mixed Sports
Sponsored:

Current Year's Submission of Sports
Sponsored: 15

Previous Year's Submission of Sports
Sponsored: 15

Variance: 0
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Revenue Distribution - Grants-in-Aid

Distribution Year: 2020
Academic Year of Grant-in-Aid Information: 2018-19

Men's Team Sports

Men's Team Sport Athletic Aid
Equivalency (A)

Exhausted Eligibility
or Medical

Equivalency (B)

Total Revenue
Distribution Equivalencies

Awarded (A+B)
Baseball 12.76 0 12.76

Basketball 13 0 13

Golf 2.07 0 2.07

Soccer 10.96 0 10.96

Tennis 4.23 0 4.23

Track and Field, X-
Country

4.16 0.29 4.45

Total Men's 47.18 0.29 47.47

Women's Team Sports

Women's Team Sport Athletic Aid
Equivalency (A)

Exhausted Eligibility
or Medical

Equivalency (B)

Total Revenue
Distribution Equivalencies

Awarded (A+B)
Basketball 14.5 0.5 15

Beach Volleyball 2.46 0 2.46

Golf 5.1 0 5.1

Soccer 13.43 0 13.43

Softball 10.87 0.13 11

Swimming and Diving 12.93 0.54 13.47

Tennis 6.76 0 6.76

Track and Field, X-
Country

1.34 0 1.34

Volleyball 9.75 0 9.75

Total Women's 77.14 1.17 78.31

Mixed Team Sports

FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee - TBA

223



Reporting Institution: Florida Gulf Coast University Reporting Year (FY): 2019

NCAA Membership Financial Reporting System Page 71 of 79

Mixed Team Sport Athletic Aid
Equivalency (A)

Exhausted Eligibility
or Medical

Equivalency (B)

Total Revenue
Distribution Equivalencies

Awarded (A+B)
Total Mixed 0 0 0

 

Prior Year Total Rev Dist
Equivalencies

Current Year Total Rev Dist
Equivalencies

Variance Between Prior and
Current Year

120.03 125.78 5.75 (4.79%)

Required explanation of 4.79% difference:

Increase Decrease

Number of sports

Tuition, fees, required course-related books, room and board (full grant amount)

Athletic grant amount (athletic aid amount)

x Student athletes receiving athletic aid

Change in division by sport

Move between FCS/FBS

Variance explanation: There was an increase of eight student athletes (213 to 221) receiving aid this FY.
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Revenue Distribution - Pell Grants

Distribution Year: 2020
Academic Year of Pell Grant Information: 2018-19

Men's Team Sports

Sport 2018-19 Pell
Grants

Prior Year Pell
Grants

Variance
Totals

Total Dollar Amount for SAs on
Pell Grants

Baseball 6 5 1 29,920

Basketball 5 8 -3 29,525

Golf 0 1 -1 0

Soccer 6 8 -2 22,427

Tennis 1 1 0 6,095

Track and Field, X-
Country

6 4 2 21,499

Men's Total 24 27 -3 109,466

Women's Team Sports

Sport 2018-19 Pell
Grants

Prior Year Pell
Grants

Variance
Totals

Total Dollar Amount for SAs on
Pell Grants

Basketball 5 5 0 27,575

Beach Volleyball 0 0 0 0

Golf 1 1 0 6,095

Soccer 4 1 3 23,180

Softball 7 2 5 33,115

Swimming and Diving 3 4 -1 15,238

Tennis 0 1 -1 0

Track and Field, X-
Country

1 1 0 6,095

Volleyball 0 0 0 0

Women's Total 21 15 6 111,298

Mixed Team Sports
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Sport 2018-19 Pell
Grants

Prior Year Pell
Grants

Variance
Totals

Total Dollar Amount for SAs on Pell
Grants

Mixed
Total

0 0 0

 

2018-19 Pell
Grants

Prior Year Pell
Grants

Variance
Totals

Total Dollar Amount for SAs on Pell
Grants

Total 45 42 3 $220,764
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Comments

Comments:
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Miscellaneous Information

Note: These values are calculated from data entered earlier in the system.

Athletically
Related
Student Aid

Summer school.•
Tuition discounts and waivers (unless it is a discount or waiver available to the general
student body).

•

Aid given to student-athletes who are inactive (medical reasons) or no longer eligible
(exhausted eligibility).

•

Other expenses related to attendance.•

Input the total amount of athletic student-aid for the reporting year including:

Note: Division I Grants-in-aid equivalencies are calculated by using the revenue distribution
equivalencies by sport and in aggregate. (Athletic grant amount divided by the full grant
amount). Other expenses related to attendance (also known as gap money or cost of
attendance) should not be included in the grants-in-aid revenue distribution equivalencies.
Only tuition, fees, room, board and course related books are countable for grants-in-aid
revenue distribution per Bylaw 20.02.7.

Athletics aid awarded to non-athletes (student-managers, graduate assistants, trainers) should
be reported as Expenses Not Related to Specific Teams. It is permissible to report only dollars
in the Expenses Not Related to Specific Teams row as long as you have reported non- zero
entries for Equivalencies, Number of Students, and Dollars (all 3 required for at least one
sport).

Note: Pell grants are provided by the government, not the institution or athletics
department, and therefore should be excluded from reporting in this category.

This information can be managed within the NCAA's Compliance Assistance (CA) software.
The information entered into compliance assistance will automatically populate to the athletic
student aid section within the NCAA Financial Reporting System when the CA import feature
is selected.

Men's Teams $1,400,064

Women's Teams $2,354,225

Total Amount $3,754,289

 

Recruiting
Expenditures

Input transportation, lodging and meals for prospective student-athletes and institutional
personnel on official and unofficial visits, telephone call charges, postage and such. Include
value of use of institution's own vehicles or airplanes as well as in-kind value of loaned or
contributed transportation.

Men's Teams $162,389

Women's Teams $165,614
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Total Amount $328,003

 

Head Coaches
Salaries

Input compensation, bonuses and benefits paid to all coaches reportable on the university or
related entities W-2 and 1099 forms inclusive of:

Gross wages and bonuses.•
Benefits including allowances, speaking fees, retirement, stipends, memberships, media
income, tuition reimbursement and earned deferred compensation, including those funded by
the state.

•

Place any severance payments in Category 26.

Note: Bonuses related to participation in a post-season bowl game should be included in
Category 41A.

Average Salaries of Head
Coaches

Dollars per
FTE

FTE's Dollars per
Position

Number of
Positions

Men's Teams $139,350 5.5 $127,737 6

Women's Teams $135,781 7.5 $127,295 8

 

Assistant
Coaches Salaries

Input compensation, bonuses and benefits paid to all coaches reportable on the university or
related entities W-2 and 1099 forms inclusive of:

Gross wages and bonuses.•
Benefits including allowances, speaking fees, retirement, stipends, memberships, media
income, tuition reimbursement and earned deferred compensation, including those funded
by the state.

•

Place any severance payments in Category 26.

Note: Bonuses related to participation in a post-season bowl game should be included in
Category 41A.

Average Salaries of Assistant
Coaches

Dollars per
FTE

FTE's Dollars per
Position

Number of
Positions

Men's Teams $70,147 9.5 $66,640 10

Women's Teams $55,122 14.5 $53,284 15
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Statement of Revenues and Expenses
For the fiscal year ended 2019 (UNAUDITED)

ID Item Football Men's
Basketball

Women's
Basketball

Other
Sports

Non-Program
Specific

Total

Revenues

1 Ticket Sales $0 $502,011 $349,165 $80,502 $9,266 $940,944

2 Direct State or Other
Government Support

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

3 Student Fees $0 $0 $0 $0 $6,811,463 $6,811,463

4 Direct Institutional Support $0 $207,393 $323,142 $1,406,113 $1,464,568 $3,401,216

5 Less - Transfers to Institution $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

6 Indirect Institutional Support $0 $0 $0 $0 $829,120 $829,120

6A Indirect Institutional Support -
Athletic Facilities Debt Service,
Lease and Rental Fees

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

7 Guarantees $0 $255,000 $0 $6,500 $0 $261,500

8 Contributions $0 $5,315 $11,385 $208,680 $1,901,366 $2,126,746

9 In-Kind $0 $0 $0 $0 $421,453 $421,453

10 Compensation and Benefits
provided by a third party

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

11 Media Rights $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

12 NCAA Distributions $0 $5,220 $48,495 $12,600 $463,819 $530,134

13 Conference Distributions (Non
Media and Non Bowl)

$0 $0 $0 $0 $213,017 $213,017

13A Conference Distributions of
Bowl Generated Revenue

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

14 Program, Novelty, Parking and
Concession Sales

$0 $0 $0 $0 $30,776 $30,776

15 Royalties, Licensing,
Advertisement and
Sponsorships

$0 $0 $0 $0 $529,098 $529,098

16 Sports Camp Revenues $0 $0 $0 $25,422 $0 $25,422

17 Athletics Restricted
Endowment and Investments
Income

$0 $34,200 $23,700 $302,600 $0 $360,500

18 Other Operating Revenue $0 $0 $0 $14,178 $22,128 $36,306

19 Bowl Revenues $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Total Operating Revenues $0 $1,009,139 $755,887 $2,056,595 $12,696,074 $16,517,695
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Reporting Institution: Florida Gulf Coast University Reporting Year (FY): 2019

NCAA Membership Financial Reporting System Page 78 of 79

ID Item Football Men's
Basketball

Women's
Basketball

Other
Sports

Non-Program
Specific

Total

Expenses

20 Athletic Student Aid $0 $404,747 $553,070 $2,796,472 $16,484 $3,770,773

21 Guarantees $0 $15,000 $4,000 $32,000 $0 $51,000

22 Coaching Salaries, Benefits and
Bonuses paid by the University
and Related Entities

$0 $644,904 $678,987 $1,926,555 $0 $3,250,446

23 Coaching Salaries, Benefits and
Bonuses paid by a Third Party

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

24 Support Staff/Administrative
Compensation, Benefits and
Bonuses paid by the University
and Related Entities

$0 $84,125 $69,817 $18,559 $3,172,165 $3,344,666

25 Support Staff/Administrative
Compensation, Benefits and
Bonuses paid by Third Party

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

26 Severance Payments $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

27 Recruiting $0 $119,642 $73,758 $134,603 $0 $328,003

28 Team Travel $0 $270,840 $214,649 $977,927 $23,316 $1,486,732

29 Sports Equipment, Uniforms
and Supplies

$0 $38,509 $25,810 $333,100 $38,069 $435,488

30 Game Expenses $0 $45,000 $36,300 $126,266 $37,891 $245,457

31 Fund Raising, Marketing and
Promotion

$0 $0 $0 $15,501 $407,242 $422,743

32 Sports Camp Expenses $0 $0 $6,484 $23,468 $0 $29,952

33 Spirit Groups $0 $0 $0 $0 $76,245 $76,245

34 Athletic Facilities Debt Service,
Leases and Rental Fee

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

35 Direct Overhead and
Administrative Expenses

$0 $1,074 $2,065 $114,866 $1,084,767 $1,202,772

36 Indirect Institutional Support $0 $0 $0 $0 $829,120 $829,120

37 Medical Expenses and
Insurance

$0 $0 $0 $13,706 $412,700 $426,406

38 Memberships and Dues $0 $5,080 $388 $7,672 $80,818 $93,958

39 Student-Athlete Meals (non-
travel)

$0 $0 $1,383 $1,002 $99,829 $102,214

40 Other Operating Expenses $0 $18,695 $19,885 $69,337 $381,973 $489,890
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Reporting Institution: Florida Gulf Coast University Reporting Year (FY): 2019

NCAA Membership Financial Reporting System Page 79 of 79

ID Item Football Men's
Basketball

Women's
Basketball

Other
Sports

Non-Program
Specific

Total

41 Bowl Expenses $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

41A Bowl Expenses - Coaching
Compensation/Bonuses

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Total Operating Expenses $0 $1,647,616 $1,686,596 $6,591,034 $6,660,619 $16,585,865

 Excess (Deficiencies) of
Revenues Over (Under)
Expenses

$0 -$638,477 -$930,709 -$4,534,439 $6,035,455 -$68,170
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      ITEM: __7__  

 
 

Florida Gulf Coast University Board of Trustees                        
Audit and Compliance Committee 

TBA 
 
 
 
SUBJECT:   WGCU Public Media Audit Report for Years ended June 30, 

2019 and June 30, 2018   
 

 
PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
Accept the WGCU Public Media Audit Report for Years ended June 30, 2019 and 
June 30, 2018, and recommend its acceptance by the FGCU Board of Trustees 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
This Report presents the results of the audit required by the Corporation for 
Public Broadcasting for the comparative years ended June 30 2019 and June 30, 
2018. The purpose of the audit, which is required for all public media radio and 
television stations, is to document and review the financial activity of the 
University's public media function. 
 
 Upon acceptance of the report by the Audit and Compliance Committee, the 
Audit will be provided to the FGCU Board of Trustees for its acceptance 
consideration. 
 
 

 
Supporting Documentation Included: (1) Memo from Director of Internal Audit 
William Foster and (2) WGCU Public Media Audit Report for Years ended June 
30, 2019 and June 30, 2018 
 
Prepared by: James Moore & Co., P.L    
 
Legal Review:  N/A   
 
Submitted by: Director of Internal Audit William Foster 
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TO:  FGCU Board of Trustees Audit and Compliance Committee 
FROM:  William Foster, Director of Internal Audit 
SUBJECT: WGCU Public Media Audit  
DATE:  March 16, 2020 
 
Below is a summary of the key points in the Financial Audit of WGCU Public Media, TV and FM, (the 
Station). 
 
Pages 1 and 2 – Opinion – The auditors have determined the financial statements fairly present the 
financial position of the Station.  This is known as a clean opinion. 
 
Pages 3 through 6 - Management’s Discussion and Analysis – This is the section where Management 
describes in reader friendly terms what occurred in the last fiscal year. This section points out major 
transactions, and presents comparative figures from the prior year. 
 
Page 7 – Statement of Net Position – Years ago, this statement was known as the Balance Sheet.  At year 
end June 30, 2019, the Station had $9.8 million of total assets, $3.0 million total liabilities, and net position 
(residual equity) $6.8 million. At year end June 30, 2018, the Station had $5.1 million of total assets, $1.1 
million total liabilities, and net position (residual equity) $4.0 million.  
 
Page 8 – Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position – This statement was formerly 
known as an Income Statement. For the year ended June 30, 2019 the Station had $8.8 million in operating 
revenue, $8.9 million operating expenses, and $2.9 million non-operating revenue ($2.8 million Public 
Education Capital Outlay, PECO allocation from the State), arriving at a net increase of $2.8 million. For 
the year ended June 30, 2018, the Station had $9.2 million in operating revenue, $9.1 million operating 
expenses, and $0.1 million non-operating revenue (investment income), arriving at a net increase in 
position of $0.2 million.  
 
Page 9 – Statement of Cash Flows – This statement shows the effects to cash from the financial 
transactions. The net effect for the year ended June 30, 2019 was an $85,572 increase in cash and cash 
equivalents for the year, and for 2018 a $2,992 decrease. 
 
Pages 10 through 24 - Notes to the Financial Statements – There is a significant amount of information 
to explain the various line items in the financial statements. Compared to Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis, these notes are not necessarily as reader friendly. 
 
Pages 25 through 27 – Supplemental Information – This section breaks out the Statement of Revenues, 
Expenses and Changes in Net Position for the TV and radio station segments, and in total by functional 
category.  
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- 2 - 

Other Matters  

Emphasis of Matter 

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Station are intended to present the financial 
position, and the changes in financial position and cash flows, of only the Station-related accounts of 
Florida Gulf Coast University that are attributable to the transactions of the Station. They do not purport 
to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of Florida Gulf Coast University as of June 30, 2019 
and 2018, and the changes in its financial position and its cash flows for the years then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, 
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic 
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management 
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to 
express an opinion or provide any assurance.  

Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise WGCU Public Media’s basic financial statements. The WGCU-TV Statements of 
Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position (Exhibit I), WGCU-FM Statements of Revenues, 
Expenses, and Changes in Net Position (Exhibit II), and the Statements of Functional Expenses (Exhibit 
III) are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial 
statements.  

These exhibits are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information 
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and 
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, these exhibits are fairly stated, in all 
material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

 

Gainesville, Florida 
January 13, 2020 
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WGCU PUBLIC MEDIA 
A PUBLIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ENTITY OPERATED BY 

FLORIDA GULF COAST UNIVERSITY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018 

- 3 - 

INTRODUCTION 

The following discussion and analysis is an overview of the financial position of activities of WGCU  
Public Media (the Station) for the years ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018. Management of WGCU 
Public Media has prepared the following discussion and it should be read with the financial statements 
and related footnotes, which follow this section. 

WGCU Public Media operates and manages WGCU-TV, WGCU-FM, and WMKO-FM for Florida Gulf 
Coast University (FGCU) in Fort Myers, Florida. WGCU-TV serves a population of over 1.3 million. 
WGCU-TV is consistently one of the most-watched public television stations in the country and is 
viewed, annually, in more than 450,000 households.  Our radio stations are among the top-rated radio 
stations in the market. Combined, WGCU-FM and WMKO-FM reach weekly cumulative audiences of 
more than 130,000 listeners and serve listeners in some or all of twelve counties in south and southwest 
Florida. 

WGCU Public Media offers a variety of local and national programming on five separate TV 
programming streams – WGCU HD, WGCU World, WGCU Create/Encore, The Florida Channel and 
WGCU Kids. On WGCU HD, we air the PBS national programming service during primetime, children’s 
programming during mornings and late afternoons, and “how-to” programming from 12:00 pm to 2:00 
pm weekdays. WGCU-TV carries BBC World News and The PBS NewsHour each weekday evening. 
WGCU World provides a 24-hour non-fiction programming service while WGCU Create/Encore 
provides how-to and lifestyle programming during the day and main channel repeats and local programs 
during the evening hours. The Florida Channel covers the workings of Florida State government. WGCU 
Kids, a 24/7 children’s educational channel, was launched in January 2017. The service provides around-
the-clock access to PBS Kids programming for households throughout our coverage area.  

WGCU-FM programming, which is simulcast on WMKO-FM, is predominantly a News and Information 
service which provides national and international programming from NPR, American Public Media, 
Public Radio International and the BBC. The station produced more than 200 hours of local newscasts 
annually in addition to over 200 hours of live, local, interactive radio programming represented by the 
station’s production of Gulf Coast Live!     

WGCU Public Media’s online presence provides a content-rich environment for viewers, listeners, 
parents, kids and educators. Many WGCU programs are available free on the website as are many PBS 
and NPR national programs. WGCU Public Media provides a portal to the Florida PBS Learning Media 
site available free of charge to classroom teachers and homeschoolers throughout our coverage area. The 
site consists of a library of over 125,000 digital learning objects ranging from audio and video clips to 
Florida Standards-based lesson plans. 

As a joint licensee, WGCU Public Media continues to promote a single “membership” in WGCU Public 
Media, as opposed to the historical trend of promoting two separate memberships, i.e., one for TV and 
one for FM. This approach continues to save costs on mailings while increasing our total membership 
level. The trend continues to be that approximately 2/3 of the new members and dollars come through TV 
on-air pledge and 1/3 through FM.  Therefore, individual member revenues are split 70/30.  Contributors 
are always able to designate their donations exclusively to WGCU-TV or WGCU-FM if they wish.
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WGCU PUBLIC MEDIA 
A PUBLIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ENTITY OPERATED BY 

FLORIDA GULF COAST UNIVERSITY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018 
(Continued) 

- 4 - 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The financial statements of WGCU Public Media consist of the Statements of Net Position, the 
Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position and the Statements of Cash Flows.  
These statements are prepared in conformity with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement 
No. 34, Basic Financial Statements – and Management’s Discussion and Analysis – for State and Local 
Governments.   

The Statements of Net Position includes Assets, Liabilities and Net Position of WGCU Public Media as 
of June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018. This statement is classified into Current and Non-Current Assets and 
Liabilities, with Net Position classified as Net Investment in Capital Assets; Restricted; and Unrestricted. 
The Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position depicts the operating revenues and 
expenses resulting in Net Operating Income (Loss), which is then combined with Non-Operating 
Revenues (Expenses) to provide the total Change in Net Position.  The Statements of Cash Flows shows 
the sources and uses of cash from operations, cash flows from non-capital financing activities, cash flows 
from capital and related financing activities and cash flows from investing activities.  The financial 
statements also include notes that explain some of the information in the financial statements and provide 
more detailed data.   

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

WGCU Public Media presents these combined statements of the TV and FM operations to more 
accurately represent our operations and for financial transparency to the community and the audiences we 
serve. WGCU Public Media completed FY 2019 with a net operating loss of ($90,461) (including non-
cash entries like depreciation) in FY 2019 and an increase in net position of $2,791,534 including the 
project-to-date accrual for a Public Education Capital Outlay (PECO) grant of $2,753,403 and investment 
income. This is after a net operating income of $55,495 in FY 2018 (after depreciation and other non-cash 
entries).  Net assets increased to $6,801,116 for the year ended June 30, 2019, from $4,009,582 for the 
year ended June 30, 2018 primarily due to the PECO project-to-date accrual for the 
renovation/replacement of our main transmission tower and related equipment.  WGCU Public Media’s 
operating revenues decreased to $8,807,509 in FY 2019, from $9,142,364 in FY 2018, due mainly to 
decreases in CPB grants, Membership and Other Revenue.  WGCU Public Media’s operating expenses 
also decreased from $9,086,869 in FY 2018 down to $8,897,970 in FY 2019 due to decreases in 
Fundraising expenses and Underwriting and grant solicitation expenses. 

THE REPORTING ENTITY 

WGCU Public Media is a department of Florida Gulf Coast University and these financial statements 
include assets, liabilities and activity related to its public broadcasting function.  This includes account 
activity within the University as well as the Florida Gulf Coast University Foundation, Inc., which are 
under the control of WGCU Public Media Management.  
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE STATEMENTS 

WGCU Public Media condensed financial statements are presented below for FY 2019, FY 2018 and FY 
2017. 

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION 

 June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017 

Current assets $ 6,160,495 $ 2,429,916 $ 2,351,009 
Noncurrent assets 3,592,640 2,678,675 2,966,791 

Total assets 9,753,135 5,108,591 5,317,800 

Current liabilities 2,551,701 646,130 1,004,919 
Non-current liabilities 400,318 452,879 513,551 

Total liabilities 2,952,019 1,099,009 1,518,470 

Net assets    
Unrestricted 280,244 67,138 (696,395) 
Restricted, Expendable 4,045,990 1,238,055 1,514,704 
Restricted, Nonexpendable 53,758 35,008 35,008 
Net investment in capital assets 2,421,124 2,669,381 2,946,013 

Total net position 6,801,116 4,009,582 3,799,330 

Total liabilities and net position $ 9,753,135 $ 5,108,591 $ 5,317,800 
 
 

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES  
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

 
 June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017 

State appropriations - operations $ 794,462 $ 801,292 $ 883,701 
Other operating revenues 8,013,047 8,341,072 8,236,534 
Operating expenses (8,897,970) (9,086,869) (9,518,053) 

Operating income (loss) (90,461) 55,495 (397,818) 

Other non-operating revenues 2,881,995 154,757 165,857 
Net non-operating revenues $ 2,881,995 $ 154,757 $ 165,857 

    
Increase/(Decrease) in net position $ 2,791,534 $ 210,252 $ (231,961) 
Net position, beginning of year 4,009,582 3,799,330 4,031,291 
Net position, end of year $ 6,801,116 $ 4,009,582 $ 3,799,330 
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CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

 June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017 

Net cash flows from operating activities $ 112,867 $ 81,699 $ 78,070 
Net cash flows from capital & related 

financing activities (9,193) -    (73,216) 
Net cash flows from non-capital & related 

financing activities (65,817) (162,752) 88,764 
Net cash flows from investing activities 47,715 78,061 (136,691) 
Net increase (decrease) in cash 85,572 (2,992) (43,073) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of 
year 528,114 531,106 574,179 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 613,686 $ 528,114 $ 531,106 

 

Current Assets consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts and grants receivable, 
investments, and prepaid program costs. Non-Current Assets consist primarily of capital assets (property 
and equipment).  Current Liabilities consist of accounts payable, accrued expenses, compensated 
absences and a due to Florida Gulf Coast University. 

Operating revenues consist primarily of membership contributions, State Appropriations, community 
service grants, contributed support (underwriting), and non-cash donated facilities and administrative 
support from the University. Operating expenses consist primarily of broadcasting, programming and 
production, management and general, depreciation, non-cash University donated facilities and 
administrative support. Non-operating revenues and expenses consist primarily of the project-to-date 
PECO grant accrual and interest and investment income/losses. WGCU Public Media had non-operating 
revenues of $2,881,995 in FY 2019, a substantial increase from $154,757 in FY 2018, due to the on-
going PECO project accrual for the renovation/replacement of WGCU’s main transmission tower and 
related equipment. 

CONTACTING MANAGEMENT 

This financial report provides donors, members, investment managers, foundations and taxpayers with a 
general overview of WGCU Public Media’s finances and the funding it receives.  

Additional details can be requested by mail at the following address: 

WGCU Public Media 
10501 FGCU Boulevard South 

Ft. Myers, FL  33965 
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2019 2018

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 308,045$       363,659$       
Restricted cash 37,282           28,740           
Funds held by Florida Gulf Coast University Foundation, Inc.

on behalf of the Station 268,359         135,715
Funds held and invested by Florida Gulf Coast University

Foundation, Inc. on behalf of the Station:
Unrestricted 539,555 477,428
Restricted 1,291,813 1,273,063

Accounts and grants receivable 3,710,495 130,201
Current portion of prepaid program costs 4,946 21,110

Total current assets 6,160,495      2,429,916      

Noncurrent assets
Capital assets, net 3,578,911 2,669,381
Prepaid program costs, less current portion 13,729 9,294

Total noncurrent assets 3,592,640      2,678,675      

Total Assets 9,753,135      5,108,591      

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 265,942 155,359
Due to Florida Gulf Coast University 1,160,379 144,498
Current portion of compensated absences 180,700         184,900         
Current portion of unearned revenue 944,680         161,373         

Total current liabilities 2,551,701      646,130         

Noncurrent liabilities
Compensated absences, less current portion 205,037         134,265         
Unearned revenue, less current portion 195,281 318,614         

Total noncurrent liabilities 400,318         452,879         

Total Liabilities 2,952,019      1,099,009      

Net position
Net investment in capital assets 2,421,124      2,669,381      
Restricted:

Nonexpendable 53,758           35,008           
Expendable 4,045,990      1,238,055      

Unrestricted 280,244         67,138           

Total Net Position 6,801,116$    4,009,582$    

NET POSITION

LIABILITIES

ASSETS

JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

WGCU PUBLIC MEDIA
A PUBLIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ENTITY OPERATED BY

FLORIDA GULF COAST UNIVERSITY
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

The accompanying notes to financial statements
are an integral part of these statements.
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2019 2018

Operating revenues
Community service grants donated by the Corporation for 

Public Broadcasting 1,214,905$    1,272,681$    
Other Corporation for Public Broadcasting grants 65,720           69,834           
Other grants -                 200                
Community service grants donated by the Department of  

Education, State of Florida 407,447         407,447         
Appropriations from Florida Gulf Coast University  794,462         801,292         
Underwriting support 890,509         867,951         
Membership income 2,726,848      2,900,058      
Donated facilities and administrative support from Florida Gulf   

Coast University 1,947,927      1,935,125      
In-kind contributions 311,270         247,065         
Other income 447,293         640,711         

Total operating revenues 8,806,381      9,142,364      

Operating expenses
Programming and production 3,655,944      3,706,091      
Broadcasting 1,189,134      1,170,980      
Program information and promotion  916,610         750,438         
Management and general 1,348,088      1,379,248      
Fundraising and membership development  1,343,322      1,480,764      
Underwriting and grant solicitation 444,872         599,348         

Total operating expenses 8,897,970      9,086,869      

Operating income (loss) (91,589)          55,495           

Non-operating revenues 
Investment income 129,720         137,507         
PECO allocation 2,753,403      17,250           

Total non-operating revenues 2,883,123 154,757

Increase in net position 2,791,534      210,252         

Net position, beginning of year 4,009,582      3,799,330      

Net position, end of year 6,801,116$    4,009,582$    

WGCU PUBLIC MEDIA
A PUBLIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ENTITY OPERATED BY

FLORIDA GULF COAST UNIVERSITY
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES,

AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

The accompanying notes to financial statements 
are an integral part of these statements.

- 8 -
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2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash received from grants, donors and fundraising activities  5,585,805$    5,926,281$    
Cash paid for payroll and related benefits  (2,466,665)     (2,538,899)     
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (3,007,401)     (3,305,683)     

Net cash provided by operating activities 111,739         81,699           

Cash flows from non-capital financing activities
Decrease in due to Florida Gulf Coast University  (65,817)          (162,752)        

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Purchase of capital assets  (9,193)            -                 

Cash flows from investing activities
Increase in funds held and invested by Florida Gulf Coast 

University  Foundation, Inc. on behalf of the Station  (80,877)          (59,446)          
Investment income  129,720         137,507         

Net cash provided by investing activities 48,843           78,061           

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 85,572           (2,992)            

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  528,114 531,106

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 613,686$       528,114$       

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to 
net cash provided by operating activities

Operating income (loss) (91,589)$        55,495$         

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to 
net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation 224,133 293,883
Loss on disposal 16,066           -                 
Decrease (increase) in certain assets:

Accounts and grants receivable - related to operating activity (7,544)            1,872             
Prepaid program costs  11,729           4,409             

Increase (decrease) in certain liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  51,745           (5,248)            
Compensated absences  66,572           (34,239)          
Unearned revenue - related to operating activity (159,373)        (234,473)        

Total adjustments  203,328         26,204           

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 111,739$       81,699$         

Cash and cash equivalents are presented on the  
Statements of Net Position as:

Cash and cash equivalents 308,045$       363,659$       
Restricted cash 37,282           28,740           
Funds held by Florida Gulf Coast University Foundation, Inc.

on behalf of the Station  268,359         135,715         
613,686$       528,114$       

Supplemental disclosure of noncash capital activities
Capital purchases included in accounts payable 58,838$         -$               
Capital purchases included in due to Florida Gulf Coast University 1,081,698 17,251

Total noncash capital activities 1,140,536$    17,251$         

WGCU PUBLIC MEDIA
A PUBLIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ENTITY OPERATED BY

FLORIDA GULF COAST UNIVERSITY
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

The accompanying notes to financial statements 
are an integral part of these statements.

- 9 -
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies: 

The following is a summary of the more significant accounting policies of WGCU Public Media, which 
includes WGCU-TV and WGCU-FM (collectively, the “Station”), a public telecommunications entity 
operated by Florida Gulf Coast University, which affect significant elements of the accompanying 
financial statements: 

(a) Reporting entity—The Station is a department of Florida Gulf Coast University (the 
“University”), located in Fort Myers, Florida, and conducts various public broadcasting functions. 
The University, as part of the State University System of Florida, is governed, regulated and 
coordinated by the State of Florida Department of Education and the University’s Board of Trustees, 
and is subject to the general supervision of the Florida Department of Education. The President of 
Florida Gulf Coast University is responsible for the management of the University. The Station 
operates as a department of the University under the control of the Station manager. The Station’s 
financial statements include the state accounts and the Station-related accounts of Florida Gulf 
Coast University Foundation, Inc. (the “Foundation”). These statements do not purport to present 
the financial position or results of operations of the University as a whole. 

(b) Basis of accounting—The Station’s accounting policies conform with accounting principles 
generally accepted by Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). For financial reporting 
purposes, the Station has elected to report as an entity engaged in only business-type activities.  
Accordingly, the Station prepares its financial statements on the accrual basis of accounting in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for 
proprietary funds.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when incurred.  

(c) Net position—In the statements of net position, net position includes the following: 

(i) Net investment in capital assetsThis is the component of net position that reports the 
difference between capital assets less both the accumulated depreciation and the outstanding 
balance of debt, excluding unexpended proceeds, that is directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or improvement of those assets. At June 30, 2019, there are amounts owed of 
$1,157,787 in relation to the investment in capital assets. At June 30, 2018, there is no related 
debt. 

(ii) Restricted—The component of net position that reports the constraints placed on the use 
of net position by either external parties and/or enabling legislation, reduced by any liabilities 
to be paid from these assets. 

Nonexpendable restricted net position—consists of endowment and similar type funds in 
which donors or other outside sources have stipulated that the principal is to be 
maintained inviolate and in perpetuity, and invested for the purpose of producing present 
and future income, which may either be expended or added to principal.  

Expendable restricted net position—includes resources in which the Station is legally or 
contractually obligated to spend resources in accordance with restrictions imposed by 
external third parties.  
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(iii) Unrestricted—The difference between the assets and liabilities that is not reported in Net 
investment in capital assets and Restricted net position. 

It is the Station’s policy to expend restricted resources first and to use unrestricted resources when 
the restricted resources have been depleted.  

(d) Cash and cash equivalents—For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
include cash on hand and cash in demand accounts that have original maturities of three months or 
less. University cash deposits are held in banks qualified as public depositories under Florida law. 
All such deposits are insured by federal depository insurance up to specified limits, or collateralized 
with securities held in Florida’s multiple financial institution collateral pool in accordance with 
Florida statutes. 

(e) Restricted cash—Restricted cash represents cash held with the University that is restricted as 
to withdrawal or use under the terms of certain contractual agreements. 

(f) Investments—Section 1011.42(5), Florida Statutes, authorizes universities to invest funds 
awaiting clearing with the State Treasury and State Board of Administration, and requests that 
universities comply with the statutory requirements governing investment of public funds by local 
governments. Accordingly, universities are subject to the requirements of Chapter 218, Part IV, 
Florida Statutes. As such, pursuant to Section 218.415(17) and 1011.42(5), Florida Statutes, the 
University is authorized to invest in the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund investment 
pool administered by the State Board of Administration; interest-bearing time deposits and savings 
accounts in qualified public depositories, as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes; direct 
obligations of the United States Treasury; obligations of Federal agencies and instrumentalities; 
securities of, or interest in, certain open-end or closed-end management type investment companies; 
Securities and Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the highest credit quality 
rating from a nationally recognized rating agency; and other investments approved by the 
University’s Board of Trustees as authorized by law. The University’s Board of Trustees has not 
adopted a written investment policy. Investments set aside to make debt service payments, maintain 
sinking or reserve funds, or to purchase or construct capital assets are classified as restricted. 

(g) Accounts and grants receivable—Accounts and grants receivable, including Public 
Educational Capital Outlay (PECO) allocation receivables, are stated at the amount management 
expects to collect from outstanding balances. PECO allocation funds are recorded as a receivable 
upon allocation from the Florida Department of Education. Receivables are carried at their estimated 
collectible amounts. Credit is generally extended on a short-term basis; thus accounts receivable do 
not bear interest. Based on the Station’s historical information, credit losses, when realized, have not 
been significant. 

(h) Costs incurred for programs not yet broadcast—Costs incurred for programs not yet 
broadcast (prepaid program costs) are recorded as a deferred asset. Such costs relate to programs 
purchased or produced by the Station that will be broadcast subsequent to year end. Programs to be 
completed and broadcast within one year are classified as current assets whereas programs to be  
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completed and broadcast in more than one year are classified as noncurrent. At June 30, 2019 and 
2018, total costs incurred for programs not yet broadcast were $18,675 and $30,404, respectively. 
As the programs are broadcast, the costs incurred will be included in operating expenses. Program 
status is evaluated annually. Costs associated with programs not considered to have future benefit 
are adjusted to net realizable value. 

(i) Capital assets—Capital assets purchased or acquired with an original cost of $5,000 or more 
are reported at historical cost or estimated historical cost. Contributed assets are reported at fair 
market value as of the date received. Additions, improvements and other capital outlays that 
significantly extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized. Other costs incurred for repairs and 
maintenance are expensed as incurred. Depreciation on all assets is provided on the straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from 5 – 40 years. 

(j) Unearned revenue—Unearned revenue relates primarily to grant funds received but not yet 
spent, the Station’s lease of channel space to a private entity, and PECO allocation funds that have 
been allocated but not yet approved for encumbrance. The lease of channel space expires January 
2022 and can be renewed for one additional 15 year term. Annual income received from the lease is 
$123,333 through June 30, 2021 and $71,944 for fiscal year ended June 30, 2022.  

(k) Revenue recognition—State appropriations are recorded as revenue in the statements of 
revenues, expenses, and changes in net position when an expenditure is recorded. 

PECO allocation funds are recorded as revenue when the Florida Department of Education 
approves the encumbrance.  

Membership contributions are recognized as operating revenues in the period they are received. 

Program production grants are reported as unearned revenues for programs not yet broadcast until 
the specific program is broadcast. At such time, amounts are included as revenues and the 
expenditures are recorded. 

Revenue related to program underwriting for subsequent fiscal years is reflected as unearned 
revenues in the accompanying statements of net position. Revenue is recognized when the related 
program is aired. 

Contributed support represents expenses paid on behalf of the Station by others outside the 
reporting entity, and includes contributed professional services, donated materials or facilities, and 
indirect administrative support. These amounts are recorded in revenue in the period in which the 
support is provided.  

(l) In-kind contributions—Contributed materials, supplies, facilities, and property are recorded 
at their estimated fair value at the date of donation. The Station reports gifts of equipment, materials, 
professional services and other nonmonetary contributions as operating revenue in the 
accompanying statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. 
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If the fair value of contributed materials, supplies, facilities, and property cannot be reasonably 
determined they are not recorded. Donated personal services of nonprofessional volunteers, as well 
as national and local programming services, are not recorded as revenue and expense as there is no 
objective basis available to measure the value of such services. 

Contributed advertising and promotion are recorded at the fair value of the contribution portion of 
the total value received. 

(m) Pledges and contributions—The Station engages in periodic fundraising campaigns 
manifested by offering some special programs and on-air and mail fundraising appeals. These 
appeals encourage supporters, both individuals and organizations, to provide financial contributions 
to the Station for enhancement of program offerings and other operating expenses. Financial 
contributions are frequently evidenced by pledges received from responding viewers and listeners. 
Contributions, including unconditional promises to give and membership receipts, are recognized as 
revenue in the period received or given. However, uncollected pledges are not enforceable against 
contributors and the Station is not able to determine that they are probable of collection, therefore 
they are not shown as assets in the statements of net position. Contributions and collected pledges 
are components of the unrestricted operating fund inasmuch as their usage is not limited to specific 
activities of the Station. This usage is consistent with appeals for contributions and pledges. 

(n) Corporation for Public Broadcasting Community Service Grants—The Corporation for 
Public Broadcasting (CPB) is a private, nonprofit grant-making organization responsible for funding 
more than 1,000 television and radio stations. CPB distributes annual Community Service Grants 
(CSGs) to qualifying public broadcasting entities. CSGs are used to augment the financial resources 
of public broadcasting entities and thereby to enhance the quality of programming and expand the 
scope of public broadcasting services. Each CSG may be expended over one or two Federal fiscal 
years as described in the Communications Act, 47 United States Code Annotated, Section 396(k)(7). 
In any event, each grant must be expended within two years of the initial grant authorization. 

According to the Communications Act, funds may be used at the discretion of recipients for 
purposes relating primarily to production and acquisition of programming. Also, the grants may be 
used to sustain activities begun with CSGs awarded in prior years. Certain General Provisions must 
be satisfied in connection with application for and use of the grants to maintain eligibility and meet 
compliance requirements. These General Provisions pertain to the use of grant funds, record 
keeping, audits, financial reporting, mailing lists, and licensee status with the Federal 
Communications Commission. 

Any remaining CSG funds at fiscal year-end are reported as restricted cash and restricted-
expendable net position on the statements of net position. 
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(o) Indirect support provided by Florida Gulf Coast University—Indirect support from the 
University consists of allocated institutional support and physical plant costs incurred by the 
University for which the Station receives benefits. The fair value of this support is recognized in the 
statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position as donated facilities and 
administrative support and is allocated as an expense to each of the functional expense categories. 

(p) Production revenue—The Station uses the percentage-of-completion method of accounting 
for production revenue, whereby the cumulative production revenue earned equals the ratio of costs 
incurred to the estimated total costs at completion applied to the total committed revenues from 
outside sponsors. Production costs include charges by subcontractors plus all direct labor and other 
direct costs. Indirect and general and administrative expenses are charged to expense as incurred. 
Cost estimates on programs are reviewed periodically as the work progresses and adjustments, if 
needed, are reflected in the period in which the estimates are revised. 

(q) Operating activities—The Station’s policy for defining operating activities as reported on the 
statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position are those that generally result from the 
provision of public broadcasting and instructional technology services, and from the production of 
program material for distribution in those services. Revenues associated with, or restricted by 
donors to use for, capital improvements, and revenues and expenses that result from financing and 
investing activities are recorded as non-operating revenues. 

(r) Program and production underwriting—Revenue for program underwriting is recorded on 
a pro-rata basis for the period covered and for production underwriting on an estimated percentage-
of-completion basis. 

(s) Income taxes—The Station is owned and operated by Florida Gulf Coast University, which is 
a part of the State of Florida’s educational system. Accordingly, the Station is exempt from Federal 
income taxes. Any taxable income is aggregated at the University level and taxes paid, if any, are 
paid by the University. 

(t) Functional allocation of expenses—The costs of providing the various programs and other 
activities have been summarized on a functional basis in the statements of revenues, expenses, and 
changes in net position. Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among program and 
supporting services benefited based on total personnel costs or other systematic bases. 

(u) Use of estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Accordingly, results could differ from those 
estimates. 
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(v) Compensated absences—The liability for compensated absences represents employees’ 
accrued annual and sick leave based on length of service subject to certain limitations as defined by 
state statute and University policies. 

(w) Advertising costs—Advertising costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
Advertising expense for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, was $285,474 and $216,210, 
respectively. 

(x) Recent accounting pronouncements—In June 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 87, 
Leases, to better meet the information needs of financial statement users by improving accounting 
and financial reporting for leases by governments.  This statement increases the usefulness of 
governments’ financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for 
leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or 
outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the contract.  The requirements of this 
statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019.  Earlier application 
is encouraged.  The Station is currently evaluating the effect that implementation of the new 
statement will have on its financial statements.  

In June 2018, GASB issued Statement No. 89, Interest Cost in Construction. GASB 89 was made to 
enhance the comparability of information about capital assets and the cost of borrowing for a 
reported period, and aims to simplify accounting for the interest cost incurred before the end of a 
construction period. The provisions in GASB 89 are effective for periods beginning after 
December 15, 2019. The Station is currently evaluating the impact the statement will have on its 
financial statements. 

(y) Reclassifications—Certain amounts in the prior year financial statements have been 
reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on net 
position. 

(2) Funds Held and Invested by Florida Gulf Coast University Foundation, Inc. on Behalf of the 
Station: 

The Station has an agreement with Florida Gulf Coast University Foundation, Inc. (the “Foundation”), 
whereby Station funds are held and invested by the Foundation on behalf of the Station. These amounts 
are included in the accompanying financial statements of the Station as “Funds held and invested by 
Florida Gulf Coast University Foundation, Inc. on behalf of the Station.” Total cash held by the 
Foundation is $268,359 and $135,715 as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Total investments held 
by the Foundation are $1,831,368 and $1,750,491 as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. These 
investment totals include $1,291,813 and $1,273,063 of restricted funds as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively. These restricted funds relate to contributions and endowments that have donor constraints 
placed on the use of the funds. See note 14 for additional information on restrictions on net position.  
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All funds held and invested by the Foundation on behalf of the Station are invested in uninsured and 
unregistered investments, which are held in the name of the Foundation. All funds held and invested by 
the Foundation on behalf of the Station are reflected at fair value. The Foundation categorizes the fair 
value measurement of these investments within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted 
accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the 
asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant 
other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.  

The Station has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2019 and 2018: 

Funds held and invested by the Foundation – recorded at the Station’s ownership of a share of an 
investment pool, not the underlying securities. These funds are valued at net asset value (NAV) of 
units held, as reported by the Foundation. The Station reviews and evaluates the values and assesses 
the valuation methods and assumptions used in determining the fair value of these investments. 
Because the investment pool is not readily marketable, NAV is used as a practical expedient, and the 
estimated value is subject to uncertainty and, therefore, may differ from the value that would have 
been used had a readily available market for such investment existed, and differences could be 
material. The Station relies on policies developed and administered by the University and the 
Foundation for managing interest rate risk or credit risk for these investment pools. 

In accordance with GASB 72, certain investments that were measured at NAV per share (or its 
equivalent) have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy. The following table discloses the nature 
and risk of investments for which fair value has been estimated using the NAV per share of the 
investments as a practical expedient as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.  

 Investments Measured at NAV as of June 30, 2019 

 
Total Fair 

Value 
Unfunded 

Commitments 
Redemption 
Frequency 

Redemption 
Notice Period 

Funds held and      
invested by the Foundation  $ 1,831,368 $ -     Daily N/A 

 

 Investments Measured at NAV as of June 30, 2018 

 
Total Fair 

Value 
Unfunded 

Commitments 
Redemption 
Frequency 

Redemption 
Notice Period 

Funds held and      
invested by the Foundation  $ 1,750,491 $ -     Daily N/A 
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(3) Capital Assets: 

Capital asset activity for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, was as follows: 

 
Balance 

July 1, 2018 Increases Decreases Transfers 
Balance 

June 30, 2019 

Capital assets, not being 
depreciated:      

Land and land improvements $ 293,732 $ -     $ -     $ -     $ 293,732 
Construction in progress-

tower 17,251 1,099,702 -     -     1,116,953 
Total capital assets, not 

being depreciated 310,983 1,099,702 -     -     1,410,685 
Capital assets, being depreciated:      

Buildings 4,389,671 -     207,107 -     4,182,564 
Furniture, fixtures and 

equipment 4,918,509 50,027 789,945 (47,800) 4,130,791 
Website 110,425 -     110,425 -     -     
Transmitter 246,272 -     -     -     246,272 

Total capital assets, being 
depreciated 9,664,877 50,027 1,107,477 (47,800) 8,559,627 

Less: Accumulated depreciation 7,306,479 224,133 1,091,411 (47,800) 6,391,401 
Total capital assets, being 

depreciated, net 2,358,398 (174,106) 16,066 -     2,168,226 
Total capital assets $ 2,669,381 $ 925,596 $ 16,066 $ -     $ 3,578,911 

 

 
Balance 

July 1, 2017 Increases Decreases Transfers 
Balance 

June 30, 2018 

Capital assets, not being 
depreciated:      

Land and land improvements $ 293,732 $ -     $ -     $ -     $ 293,732 
Construction in progress-

tower -     17,251 -     -     17,251 
Total capital assets, not 

being depreciated 293,732 17,251 -     -     310,983 
Capital assets, being depreciated:      

Buildings 4,389,671 -     -     -     4,389,671 
Furniture, fixtures and 

equipment 4,998,017 -     65,295 (14,213) 4,918,509 
Website 110,425 -     -     -     110,425 
Transmitter 246,272 -     -     -     246,272 

Total capital assets, being 
depreciated 9,744,385 -     65,295 (14,213) 9,664,877 

Less: Accumulated depreciation 7,092,104 293,883 65,295 (14,213) 7,306,479 
Total capital assets, being 

depreciated, net 2,652,281 (293,883) -     -     2,358,398 
Total capital assets $ 2,946,013 $ (276,632) $ -     $ -     $ 2,669,381 

Depreciation expense was $224,133 and $293,883 for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively.  
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(4) State Retirement Plans:  

As the Station is a department of the University, any pension liability is reported by the University. 

(a) Florida retirement systemEssentially all regular employees of the Station are eligible to 
enroll as members of the State-administered Florida Retirement System (FRS). The FRS Pension 
Plan (Plan) is a cost sharing multiple employer defined benefit pension plan, with a DROP for 
eligible employees. Provisions relating to the FRS are established by Chapters 121 and 122, Florida 
Statutes; Chapter 112, Part IV, Florida Statutes; Chapter 238, Florida Statutes; and FRS Rules, 
Chapter 60S, Florida Administrative Code, wherein eligibility, contributions, and benefits are 
defined and described in detail. Such provisions may be amended at any time by further action from 
the Florida Legislature.  

The FRS is a single retirement system administered by the Florida Department of Management 
Services, Division of Retirement, and consists of two cost-sharing multiple-employer defined 
benefit plans and other nonintegrated programs. These include a defined-benefit pension plan 
(Plan), with a Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP), and a defined-contribution plan, 
referred to as the FRS Investment Plan (Investment Plan).A comprehensive annual financial report 
of the FRS, which includes its financial statements, required supplementary information, actuarial 
report, and other relevant information, is available from the Florida Department of Management 
Services Web site (www.dms.myflorida.com).  

Employees enrolled in the Plan prior to July 1, 2011, vest at 6 years of creditable service and 
employees enrolled in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, vest at 8 years of creditable service. All 
vested members, enrolled prior to July 1, 2011, are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 62 
or at any age after 30 years of service, except for members classified as special risk who are eligible 
for normal retirement benefits at age 55 or at any age after 25 years of service. All members enrolled 
in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, once vested, are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 65 
or any time after 33 years of creditable service, except for members classified as special risk who 
are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 60 or at any age after 30 years of service. 
Employees enrolled in the Plan may include up to 4 years of credit for military service toward 
creditable service. The Plan also includes an early retirement provision; however, there is a benefit 
reduction for each year a member retires before his or her normal retirement date. The Plan provides 
retirement, disability, death benefits, and annual cost of living adjustments to eligible participants. 

The DROP, subject to provisions of Section 121.091, Florida Statutes, permits employees eligible 
for normal retirement under the Plan to defer receipt of monthly benefit payments while continuing 
employment with an FRS-participating employer. An employee may participate in DROP for a 
period not to exceed 60 months after electing to participate. During the period of DROP 
participation, deferred monthly benefits are held in the FRS Trust Fund and accrue interest. 
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The State of Florida establishes contribution rates for participating employers. Contribution rates 
during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2019, 2018, and 2017, were as follows: 

 Year ended June 30, 
 2019 2018 2017 

Regular 8.26% 7.92% 7.52% 
Senior Management Service Class 24.06% 22.71% 21.77% 
DROP 14.03% 13.26% 12.99% 

The Station’s liability for participation is limited to the payment of the required contribution at the 
rates and frequencies established by law on future payrolls of the Station. For the fiscal years ended 
June 30, 2019, 2018, and 2017, total contributions were approximately $113,000, $104,000 and 
$92,000, respectively. 

(b) Optional retirement programSection 121.35, Florida Statutes, provides for an Optional 
Retirement Program (Program) for eligible university instructors and administrators. The Program is 
designed to aid State universities in recruiting employees by offering more portability to employees 
not expected to remain in FRS for 8 or more years.  

The Program is a defined contribution plan, which provides full and immediate vesting of all 
contributions submitted to the participating companies on behalf of the participant. Employees in 
eligible positions can make an irrevocable election to participate in the Program, rather than the 
FRS, and purchase retirement and death benefits through contracts provided by certain insurance 
carriers. The employing university contributes 5.14 percent of the participant’s salary to the 
participant’s account, 3.50 percent to cover the unfunded actuarial liability of the FRS Pension Plan, 
and 0.01 percent to cover administrative costs, for a total of 8.65 percent, and employees contribute 
3.0 percent of the employee’s salary. Additionally, the employee may contribute, by payroll 
deduction, an amount not to exceed the percentage contributed by the University to the participant’s 
annuity account. The contributions are invested in the company or companies selected by the 
participant to create a fund for the purchase of annuities at retirement. 

Required contributions to the Program during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2019, 2018, and 2017, 
were approximately $52,000, $47,000 and $47,000, respectively. 

During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, and as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, the 
Program held no securities issued by the University. 

The University contributed 100% of the required contribution to FRS in fiscal years ended June 30, 
2019, 2018, and 2017. 
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(c) Florida Retirement System Investment Plan (Investment Plan)As provided in 
Section 121.4501, Florida Statutes, eligible FRS members elect to participate in the Investment Plan 
in lieu of the FRS defined benefit plan. University employees already participating in the State 
University System Optional Retirement Program or DROP are not eligible to participate in the 
Investment Plan. Employer and employee contributions are defined by law, but the ultimate benefit 
depends in part on the performance of investment funds. Service retirement benefits are based upon 
the value of the member’s account upon retirement. Benefit terms, including contribution 
requirements, are established and may be amended by the Florida Legislature. The Investment Plan 
is funded with the same employer and employee contributions, that are based on salary and 
membership class (Regular Class, Senior Management Service Class, etc.), as the FRS defined 
benefit plan. Contributions are directed to individual member accounts, and the individual members 
allocate contributions and account balances among various approved investment choices. Costs of 
administering the Investment Plan, including the FRS Financial Guidance Program, are funded 
through an employer contribution of 0.06 percent of payroll and by forfeited benefits of Investment 
Plan members. 

Required contributions to the Investment Plan during the years ended June 30, 2019, 2018, and 
2017, were approximately $30,000, $26,000 and $24,000, respectively. 

(5) Post-Employment Benefits: 

Employees who retire from the University are eligible to participate in a post-retirement healthcare 
program that is administered by the State Group Health Insurance Program. As the Station is a department 
of the University, any other post-employment benefit liability is reported by the University. A general 
description of the plan is as follows: 

(a) Plan descriptionThe Division of State Group Insurance’s Other Postemployment Benefits 
Plan (OPEB) is a multiple-employer defined benefit plan administered by the State of Florida. 
Pursuant to the provisions of Section 112.0801, Florida Statutes, all employees who retire from the 
University are eligible to participate in the State Group Health Insurance Program. Retirees and their 
eligible dependents shall be offered the same health and hospitalization insurance coverage as is 
offered to active employees at a premium cost of no more than the premium cost applicable to active 
employees. A retiree means any officer or employee who retires under a Statement retirement 
system or Station optional annuity or retirement program or is placed on disability retirement and 
who begins receiving retirement benefits immediately after retirement from employment. In 
addition, any officer or employee who retires under the Florida Retirement System Investment Plan 
is considered a “retiree” if he or she meets the age and service requirements to qualify for normal 
retirement or has attained the age of 59.5 years and has the years of service required for vesting. The 
University subsidizes the premium rates paid by retirees by allowing them to participate in the 
OPEB Plan at reduced or blended group (implicitly subsidized) premium rates for both active and 
retired employees. These rates provide an implicit subsidy for retirees because retiree healthcare 
costs are generally greater than active employee healthcare costs. No assets are accumulated in a 
trust that meet the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75. The OPEB Plan contribution 
requirements and benefit terms necessary for funding the OPEB Plan each year is on a pay-as-you-
go basis as established by the Governor’s recommended budget and the General Appropriations Act. 
Retirees are required to enroll in the Federal Medicare (Medicare) program for their primary 
coverage as soon as they are eligible.  
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(6) Risk Management Programs: 

The University is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. Pursuant to Section 1001.72(2), 
Florida Statutes, the University participates in State self-insurance programs providing insurance for 
property and casualty, workers’ compensation, general liability, fleet automotive liability, Federal Civil 
Rights, and employment discrimination liability. During the 2018-19 fiscal year, for property losses, the 
State retained the first $2 million per occurrence for all perils except named windstorm and flood. The 
State retained the first $2 million per occurrence with an annual aggregate retention of $40 million for 
named windstorm and flood losses. After the annual aggregate retention, losses in excess of $2 million 
per occurrence were commercially insured up to $78 million for named windstorm and flood losses 
through February 1, 2019, and decreased to $68.5 million starting February 15, 2019. For perils other 
than named windstorm and flood, losses in excess of $2 million per occurrence were commercially 
insured up to $225 million; and losses exceeding those amounts were retained by the State. Payments on 
tort claims are limited to $200,000 per person, and $300,000 per occurrence as set by Section 768.28(5), 
Florida Statutes. Calculation of premiums considers the cash needs of the program and the amount of risk 
exposure for each participant.  Settlements have not exceeded insurance coverage during the past 3 fiscal 
years. 

Pursuant to Section 110.123, Florida Statutes, University employees may obtain healthcare services 
through participation in the State group health insurance plan or through membership in a health 
maintenance organization plan under contract with the State. The State’s risk financing activities 
associated with State group health insurance, such as risk of loss related to medical and prescription drug 
claims, are administered through the State Employees Group Health Insurance Trust Fund. It is the 
practice of the State not to purchase commercial coverage for the risk of loss covered by this Fund. 
Additional information on the State’s group health insurance plan, including the actuarial report, is 
available from the Florida Department of Management Services, Division of State Group Insurance.  

(7) Lien on Property and Equipment: 

The Federal government has a ten-year priority lien on any facilities and equipment purchased with funds 
from the National Telecommunications and Information Administration (NTIA). The lien is to ensure that 
telecommunications facilities funded with Federal monies will continue to be used to provide public 
telecommunications services to the public during the period of Federal interest. The original cost of the 
property acquired with NTIA funds was approximately $868,000 and the liens expire in years through 
2020. 

(8) Significant Concentrations: 

Information related to significant concentrations of revenues and credit risk for financial instruments 
owned by the Station, except as otherwise disclosed, is as follows: 

(a) Cash and cash equivalents—The Station has demand deposits held at financial institutions 
for the University and the Foundation, which are secured up to FDIC limits. Amounts over FDIC 
limits are secured by collateral held by the financial institution which is pledged to the State of 
Florida Public Deposits Trust Fund. These deposits amounted to $613,686 and $528,114 as of 
June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
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(b) Accounts and grants receivable—The Station has accounts and grants receivables of 
$3,710,495 and $130,201 at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The Florida Department of 
Education is responsible for approximately 97% and 13% of these receivables at June 30, 2019 and 
2018, respectively. The Station has no policy requiring collateral or other security to support 
receivables. 

(c) Revenues—The Station received significant revenue from three sources. The Florida 
Department of Education and the CPB provided approximately 27% and 11% of revenues and the 
University provided approximately 23% in cash and donated facilities during the year ended 
June 30, 2019. For the year ended June 30, 2018, the Florida Department of Education and the CPB 
provided approximately 5% and 14% of revenues and the University provided approximately 29% 
in cash and donated facilities. 

(9) Compensated Absences: 

Compensated absences liability activity for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, were as follows: 

Balance 
July 1, 2018 Additions Deletions 

Balance 
June 30, 2019 

Amount Due 
Within 1 Year 

$ 319,165 $ 238,156 $ 171,584 $ 385,737 $ 180,700 

Balance 
July 1, 2017 Additions Deletions 

Balance 
June 30, 2018 

Amount Due 
Within 1 Year 

$ 353,404 $ 222,707 $ 256,946 $ 319,165 $ 184,900 

(10) Community Service Grants: 

The Station receives Community Service Grants (“CSGs”) from the Corporation for Public Broadcasting 
annually. The CSGs received and expended during the most recent fiscal years were as follows: 

Year of 
Grant 

Grants 
Received 

Expended Uncommitted 
Balance at  

June 30, 2019 2016 – 2017 2017 – 2018 2018 – 2019 

2016-18 $ 1,140,607 $ 992,658 $ 147,949 $ -     $ -     

2017-19 $ 1,272,681 $ -     $ 1,272,681 $ -     $ -     

2018-20 $ 1,214,905 $ -     $ -     $ 1,177,623 $ 37,282     
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(11) Risks and Uncertainties: 

The Station invests in uninsured and unregistered investments, held and managed by Florida Gulf Coast 
University Foundation, Inc. Investment securities are exposed to various risks such as interest rate, 
market, and credit risks. Due to the level of risk associated with certain investment securities, it is at least 
reasonably possible that changes in the values of investment securities will occur in the near term and 
those changes could materially affect the carrying values reported in the statements of net position. 

(12) Nonfederal Financial Support (NFFS): 

The Corporation for Public Broadcasting (CPB) allocates a portion of its funds annually to public 
broadcasting entities, primarily based on NFFS. NFFS is defined as the total value of cash and the fair 
market value of property and services received as either a contribution or a payment and meeting all of 
the respective criteria for each. 

A “contribution” is cash, property or services given to a public broadcasting entity for general operational 
purposes. Support received as a contribution by a public broadcasting entity must meet the following 
criteria to be includable as NFFS: (1) the source may be an entity except the Federal government or any 
other public broadcasting entity; (2) the contribution may take the form of a gift, grant, bequest, donation 
or appropriation; (3) the purpose must be for the construction or operation of a noncommercial, 
educational public broadcasting station or for the production, acquisition, distribution or dissemination of 
educational television or radio program and related activities; and (4) the recipient must be a public 
broadcasting entity on behalf of a public broadcast station. However, to eliminate distortions in the TV 
CSG grant program precipitated by extraordinary infusions of new capital investments in DTV, all capital 
contributions received for purposes of acquiring new equipment or upgrading existing or building new 
facilities regardless of source or form of the contribution are not included in calculating the NFFS. This 
change excludes all revenues received for any capital purchases. 

A “payment” is cash, property or services received by a public broadcasting entity from specific sources 
in exchange for specific services or materials. Support received as a payment by a public broadcasting 
entity must meet the following criteria to be includable as NFFS: (1) the source must be a state or local 
government or agency thereof, or an educational institution; (2) the form of the payment must be an 
appropriation or contract payment in exchange for specific materials or services related to public 
broadcasting; (3) the purpose must be for services or materials with respect to the provision of educational 
or instructional television or radio programs; and (4) the recipient must be a public broadcasting entity on 
behalf of a public broadcast station. 

Reported NFFS for the Station was $6,725,539 and $6,664,726 for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 
2018, respectively. 
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(13) Due to Florida Gulf Coast University: 

The Station was advanced funds from the University totaling $522,714 over a two-year period ended 
June 30, 2012. These funds were used to acquire certain items of equipment and the amounts advanced do 
not bear interest. A portion of the funds, $216,964, was borrowed under a written agreement with 
scheduled repayments of $43,393 per year starting in 2014. All other funds advanced have no set 
repayment terms. The amount due at June 30, 2019 and 2018, was $74,449 and $114,449, respectively. In 
addition, at June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Station owed $1,085,930 and $30,049, respectively, to the 
University, related mainly to grant and PECO allocation reimbursements. 

(14) Restrictions on Net Position: 

Investment income, including unrealized appreciation and depreciation, is allocated to the unrestricted 
account if there are no donor restrictions. If there are specific donor restrictions or criteria, investment 
income, including unrealized appreciation and depreciation, are allocated to the restricted expendable 
account on a pro rata basis based on the nonexpendable balance. In accordance with state law, and absent 
any donor restrictions, these funds are then available for expenditure when the specific donor criteria are 
met. Included in restricted expendable net position at June 30, 2018, are contributions totaling 
$1,238,055. Included in restricted expendable net position at June 30, 2019, are contributions totaling 
$1,238,055, restricted cash from grants of $37,282, and unspent PECO allocation receivables of 
$2,770,653. The restricted nonexpendable net position at June 30, 2019 and 2018, contains the 
endowment balances of $53,758 and $35,008, respectively. 
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2019 2018

Operating revenues
Community service grants donated by the Corporation for 

Public Broadcasting 1,023,401$    1,104,952$    
Other Corporation for Public Broadcasting grants 36,980           68,574
Other grants -                200                
Community service grants donated by the Department of

Education, State of Florida 307,447         307,447         
Appropriations from Florida Gulf Coast University 614,665         620,614
Underwriting support 334,730         296,253
Membership income 1,917,929      1,634,335
Donated facilities and administrative support from Florida Gulf 

Coast University 1,326,452      1,330,492
In-kind contributions 128,013         91,271
Other income 434,035         611,107

Total operating revenues 6,123,652      6,065,245      

Operating expenses
Programming and production 2,396,579      2,446,260
Broadcasting 794,471         813,522
Program information and promotion 574,220         467,324
Management and general 934,967         917,364
Fundraising and membership development 1,036,315      1,163,266
Underwriting and grant solicitation 255,880         361,006

Total operating expenses 5,992,432      6,168,742      

Operating income (loss) 131,220         (103,497)       

Non-operating revenues 
Investment income 125,018         134,869
PECO allocation 2,753,403 17,250

Total non-operating revenues 2,878,421 152,119

Increase in net position 3,009,641      48,622           

Net position, beginning of year 3,353,247      3,304,625

Net position, end of year 6,362,888$    3,353,247$    

EXHIBIT I
WGCU-TV

A PUBLIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ENTITY OPERATED BY
FLORIDA GULF COAST UNIVERSITY

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES,
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

The accompanying notes to financial statements 
are an integral part of these statements.
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2019 2018

Operating revenues
Community service grants donated by the Corporation for 

Public Broadcasting 191,504$       167,729$       
Other Corporation for Public Broadcasting grants 28,740           1,260             
Community service grants donated by the Department of

Education, State of Florida 100,000         100,000         
Appropriations from Florida Gulf Coast University 179,797         180,678         
Underwriting support 555,779         571,698         
Membership income 808,919         1,265,723      
Donated facilities and administrative support from Florida Gulf 

Coast University 621,475         604,633         
In-kind contributions 183,257 155,794
Other income 13,258 29,604

Total operating revenues 2,682,729      3,077,119      

Operating expenses
Programming and production 1,259,365 1,259,831
Broadcasting 394,663 357,458
Program information and promotion 342,390 283,114
Management and general 413,121 461,884
Fundraising and membership development  307,007 317,498
Underwriting and grant solicitation 188,992 238,342

Total operating expenses 2,905,538      2,918,127      

Operating income (loss) (222,809)        158,992         

Non-operating revenues
Investment income 4,702 2,638             

Increase (decrease) in net position (218,107)        161,630         

Net position, beginning of year 656,335         494,705         

Net position, end of year 438,228$       656,335$       

EXHIBIT II
WGCU-FM

A PUBLIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ENTITY OPERATED BY
FLORIDA GULF COAST UNIVERSITY

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES,
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

The accompanying notes to financial statements 
are an integral part of these statements.
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Program Fundraising Underwriting 2019 2018
Programming Information Management and Membership and Grant Total Total

and Production Broadcasting and Promotion Total and General Development Solicitation Total Expenses Expenses

Salaries, payroll taxes and employee benefits  1,127,977$       527,922$          343,216$          1,999,115$       560,656$          477,035$             164,311$          1,202,002$       3,201,117$       3,163,153$       
Commissions to advertising agencies -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                       155,098            155,098            155,098            164,318            
Professional services 65,127              41,255              4,500                110,882            64,232              87,305                 7,650                159,187            270,069            272,049            
Office supplies 9,666                2,321                1,226                13,213              3,599                1,990                   -                    5,589                18,802              13,666              
Operating and other supplies 290                    -                    -                    290                    -                    29,602                 -                    29,602              29,892              37,114              
Telephone 6,053                48,743              -                    54,796              27,386              1,746                   -                    29,132              83,928              90,897              
Postage 59                      -                    76                      135                    298                    61,272                 384                    61,954              62,089              119,035            
Advertising 4,716                -                    280,298            285,014            182                    278                      -                    460                    285,474            216,210            
Rental and maintenance of equipment 3,351                44,134              -                    47,485              360                    -                       -                    360                    47,845              42,634              
Program acquisitions 1,552,776         25                      -                    1,552,801         -                    -                       -                    -                    1,552,801         1,616,647         

3,843                -                    25                      3,868                -                    -                       -                    -                    3,868                4,345                
Printing and publications 2,614                -                    3,546                6,160                -                    893                      -                    893                    7,053                57,137              
Travel and training 10,763              2,613                3,066                16,442              11,333              3,455                   1,760                16,548              32,990              44,730              
Freight 176                    342                    2,091                2,609                15                      5,533                   -                    5,548                8,157                2,049                
Premiums -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    182,366               -                    182,366            182,366            199,456            
Direct mail -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    48,783                 -                    48,783              48,783              51,727              
Computer fees and supplies 5,161                2,904                3,476                11,541              1,298                27,217                 -                    28,515              40,056              29,144              
Subscriptions and dues 12,268              -                    -                    12,268              51,118              325                      892                    52,335              64,603              88,771              
Ratings and research 48,297              -                    -                    48,297              -                    -                       60                      60                      48,357              83,636              
Meetings and events 19,048              -                    38,850              57,898              6,247                62,051                 1,353                69,651              127,549            144,842            
Utilities -                    81,139              -                    81,139              56,246              -                       -                    56,246              137,385            139,671            
Station maintenance 2,982                6,442                -                    9,424                840                    -                       -                    840                    10,264              10,097              
Overhead charges 10,453              -                    785                    11,238              180,124            26,187                 -                    206,311            217,549            218,655            
Depreciation 76,979              37,526              24,430              138,935            39,631              33,970                 11,597              85,198              224,133            293,883            
Recruitment -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                       -                    -                    -                    1,280                
Facility rental 3,725                69,213              -                    72,938              -                    -                       -                    -                    72,938              37,337              
Donated facilities and administrative

support from Florida Gulf Coast University  682,979            322,181            209,499            1,214,659         341,893            291,199               100,176            733,268            1,947,927         1,935,125         
Other expenses -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                       -                    -                    -                    25                      
Loss on disposal 6,641                2,374                1,526                10,541              2,630                2,115                   780                    5,525                16,066              -                    
Bad debt expense -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                       811                    811                    811                    9,236                

3,655,944$       1,189,134$       916,610$          5,761,688$       1,348,088$       1,343,322$          444,872$          3,136,282$       8,897,970$       9,086,869$       

A PUBLIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ENTITY OPERATED BY

(With Summarized Comparative Totals for the Year Ended June 30, 2018)

EXHIBIT III
WGCU PUBLIC MEDIA

Program production costs

Supporting ServicesProgram Services

FLORIDA GULF COAST UNIVERSITY
STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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ITEM: __8__ 
         

 
 

Florida Gulf Coast University Board of Trustees                        
Audit and Compliance Committee 

TBA 
 
 
 
SUBJECT:   Florida Gulf Coast University Information Technology Security 

Audit Report   
 

 
PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
Accept the Florida Gulf Coast University Information Technology Security Audit 
Report and recommend its acceptance by the FGCU Board of Trustees. 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
This Report presents a limited scope audit of the Information Technology 
Systems (ITS) Department's compliance in relation to Board of Governors 
Regulation 3.0075 "Security of Data Related Information Technology 
Resources."  Since this Report contains confidential information related to the 
University's information security plan, it is exempt from disclosure pursuant to 
Chapter 1004.055, Florida Statutes. 
  
Upon acceptance by the Audit and Compliance Committee, the Audit will be 
provided to the FGCU Board of Trustees for its acceptance consideration. 
 
 

 
Supporting Documentation Included: Trustees will receive the Florida Gulf 
Coast University Information Technology Security Audit Report.  It is exempt from 
public disclosure pursuant to Chapter 1004.055, Florida Statutes. 
 
Prepared by: Director of Internal Audit William Foster    
 
Legal Review:  Vice President and General Counsel Vee Leonard  (March 10, 
2020) 
 
Submitted by: Director of Internal Audit William Foster 
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